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"In a sense, Marines may be said to have existed in ancient times when the Phoenicians, and subsequently the Greeks and Romans, placed men aboard their ships for the specific purpose of fighting, in contrast to the crews who navigated them and the rowers who propelled them. However, Marines in the modern sense date to Seventeenth Century England where, in 1664, a regiment of ground troops was raised specifically for duty with the fleet as well as ashore. This unit bore the some what ponderous title: “Duke of York and Albany’s Maritime Regiment of Foot.” Over a period of many decades of expansion and evolution, during much of which nobody knew for certain whether it belonged to the Army or the Navy, this basic unit developed into the corps known today as the Royal Marines.

By the time of the American Revolution, the status of the British Marines had jelled firmly. Thus, when the American Colonies revolted and began setting up their own armed services, they modeled these much along the lines of the similar components of them other country, these being the forms with which they were most familiar and which suited them best temperamentally. This was true of the Continental Marines and to an even greater degree of the Marine Corps, reactivated under the Constitution in 1798.

In the days of wooden, sail-propelled ships the functions of the Marines became well defined. At sea they kept order and were responsible for internal security. In combat they became the ship’s small-arms fighters: sniping from the fighting tops, and on decks pear heading boarding parties in close action or repelling enemy boarders. Ashore they guarded naval installations, both at home and abroad, and upon occasion fought on land beside Army components. Amphibious-wise, they were available as trained landing parties, either to seize positions on hostile shores, or to protect the lives and property of nationals in foreign countries. Both the British and U.S. Marines have seen much such service.

At the time of this writing the Marine Corps is 181 years old, according to its own reckoning, though its service has not been continuous. Marines celebrate their Corps’ birthday on 10 November, this being the date in the year 1775 when the Continental Congress authorized the raising of two battalions of Marines for the Continental service. The scanty record sextant show nothing to indicate that those battalions were actually raised, but many Marines were recruited for service on board the ships of the infant Navy where they performed creditably in all the major sea actions of the Revolutionary War, staged two important amphibious landings in the Bahamas, and ashore participated in the Trenton-Princeton campaign under General Washington.

The Continental Marines, like the Navy and all but a minuscule detachment of the Army, passed out of existence following the close of the Revolutionary War. However, foreign pressures brought the Navy back into existence in 1798 under the recently adopted Constitution, and on 11 July of that year the Marine Corps was reactivated as a separate service within the naval establishment.

Since that date Marines have fought in every official war the United States has had—and scores of obscure affairs that lacked official blessing but in which, to quote the eminent Marine writer, John W. Thomason, Jr., “. . . a man can be killed as dead as ever a chap was in the Argonne.”’ They have served as strictly naval troops, both ashore and afloat, and participated in extended land operations under Army command, notably in the Creek-Seminole Indian Wars of the 1830’s, the Mexican War, both World Wars, and in Korea.

All over the world, Britain's Royal Marines were seeing much the same type of service. For a century or more the courses of the two corps ran parallel, and they were as functionally alike as it is possible for any two military organizations to be. Individual members of these services had so many interests in common that, as one British writer put it, they had a tendency to “chumup” 2 when ships of the two nations put in to the same ports. Even the present U.S. Marine emblem (adopted in 1868) derives from that of the Royal Marines; though at a glance they appear entirely different, the basic motifs of both are the fouled anchor and globe: the Eastern Hemisphere for the British, the Western for the U.S. Much in common existed at top level, as well, and over the years the two organizations developed a very close and most cordial relation ship that exists to this day, despite the strange evolutionary divergence that set in between them:

The transition of navies from sail to steam began evolutionary developments which profoundly altered the nature of all ship board duties, and temporarily threatened both corps with extinction. From this the Royal Marines emerged burdened with a miscellany of often incongruous duties never envisioned in the old days, and considerably emasculated by lack of a single mission of over riding importance. That the effect on the U. S. Marines was precisely the reverse resulted from the fundamental difference in the problems facing the two nations which required U.S. Marines to carve out a special mission for themselves, though they traveled a long, uneven road in bringing this to full fruition.

The basic problem that confronted the early steam navies was that of obtaining fuel. Sail-propelled men-of-war, on which all naval experience and tradition up to that time was based, could operate at sea almost indefinitely, putting in only to replenish provisions and water, readily available at nearly any port of call anywhere in the world. But sufficient

coal to support large-scales team ship operations could be obtained only from well stocked bases and a fleet’soperatingradiusthusbecamelimitedbythelocationofsuchbases.Ifanenemylaybeyondthatradius, the fleet might as well be chained to a post so far as getting at him was concerned, unless the source of supply could be projected farther in his direction.

To the British Empire, on which “the sun never sets;" this posed no serious problem; it had, or could build, all the base sit needed without leaving its own territory. But the United States, with few out lying possessions, had genuine cause for concern. In order to give the fleet significant operating range in the Pacific, the Navy in 1878 set up a coaling station in Samoa, and in 1887 the government concluded a treaty with Hawaii permitting the establishment of another at Pearl Harbor. But the United States had no deep seated interest in the Far East during this era, and no serious apprehension of an attack from that direction. The Navy’s principal concern lay in the possibility of being obliged to enforce the Monroe Doctrine in the Caribbean or South Atlantic. As early as 1880, far-sighted naval officers began turning their thoughts toward this mission. The cost of maintaining permanent bases in those are as would have been prohibitive, so the problem boiled down to devising a plan for seizing advanced bases when and where strategy dictated their need and developing these as quickly as possible to with stand attack. The scattered, understrength U. S. Army of that era could not supply sufficient trained ground troops on the short notice necessary to make such operations effective, so the Navy faced the problem of developing ground troops of its own for service with the fleet.

It would seem, particularly with benefit of today’s hindsight, that the Marine Corps would be the logical choice for the development of this mission. However, this was not so apparent at tile time. Marines had never participated in this type of operation on anything resembling the scale envisioned, and they comprised a very small unit as compared to the bluejackets. One school of thought contended that the advanced base function should be performed entirely by Navy personnel under command of naval officers, in the interests of unity and other considerations. The controversy, strictly on the theoretical level, waxed warm and sometimes acrimonious, giving rise at length to one of those perennial efforts to eliminate the Marines altogether.

However, the advent of the Spanish-American War found the Navy wholly unprepared to cope with the advanced base problem. It was the Marine Corps that promptly organized an expeditionary battalion, including its own artillery component, for the seizure of Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, in order to enable the U. S. Fleet to operate indefinitely in the Caribbean waters. At Key West this unit underwent training in minor tactics, basic weapons, and musketry, and then landed in the target area on 10 June 1898, ten days before the first Army troops arrived off the coast of Cuba. There the Marines quickly secured a beach head and successfully defended it against a numerically superior enemy. So expeditiously and efficiently was this operation conducted that its contribution to the speedy and decisive culmination of the war would be difficult to evaluate. This also greatly strengthened the Marine Corps claim to the Navy amphibious mission, a claim that gained still further strength by Admiral Dewey’s subsequent statement that if a similar Marine component had served with his fleet at Manila Bay, the whole painful and protracted Philippine Insurrection might have been avoided. 

This increasing consciousness of the Navy’s wide spread commitments and responsibilities brought about the evolutionary developments which culminated in the early 1940’s in the amphibious assault doctrines and techniques “which finally made possible what, Major General J. F. C. Fuller has called ‘the most, far-reaching tactical innovation of [World War II].""
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"While war came to Europe in September 1939, the United States did not formally enter the struggle against the Axis Powers for another 27 months. The formal declarations of war did not, however, project the nation directly from a state of isolation and indifference into active belligerency. Although the United States declared its neutrality—our aim being to avoid conflict while guarding against totalitarian penetration of the Western Hemisphere—we were gradually drawn deeper and deeper into short-of war operations in support of Great Britain and her allies.

Initially, the Administration moved with caution. In the years following the “war to end all wars,” disappointment in the League of Nation’s failure and the world-wide depression of the 1930’s had served to increase our isolationist tendencies. Aware of the national sentiment, President Roosevelt initiated a program for gradually increasing the armed services, strengthening our bases, and developing a foundation for the expansion of our national resources and industry. On 8 September 1939, seven days after Hitler’s armies crossed into Poland, the President officially declared a limited national emergency. As the rising tide of Nazi aggression swept over Europe in 1940 and 1941, Americans awakened more and more to the peril and supported increasingly the national policy of strengthening our armed forces.


As of 30 June 1939, two months before Hitler’s armies launched their Blitzkrieg, Marine Corps strength stood at 19,432 officers and enlisted, of whom 4,840 (including aviation components) were assigned to the Fleet Marine Force. FMF ground forces were organized in two units optimistically designated “brigades," each in actuality an understrength infantry regiment reinforced by skeletonized supporting elements: 1st Brigade based on the east coast (Quantico), 2d Brigade on the west coast (San Diego). Each brigade had the support of a Marine aircraft group of corresponding numerical designation, and FMF aviation further boasted a scouting squadron (VMS-3) based in the Virgin Islands.


However, conversion of international tension into armed conflict in Europe resulted in a marked quickening of United States defense efforts. And from that point on the Commandant’s Annul Reports reflect a steady succession of upward revisions in personnel planning until by 30 November 1941 total strength stood at 65,881, the number, give or take a few, with which the Marine Corps would enter the war against the Axis Powers a week later at Pearl Harbor.


But of greater significance than the increase in over-all strength was the growing proportion of that strength represented by the Fleet Marine Force. Fiscal 1940 saw the numbers of the Corps’ striking arm more than doubled: from 4,525 to 9,749; and this figure in turn had more than tripled by 30 November 1941, reaching 29,532. One factor largely responsible for this impressive increase was mobilization in November 1940 of the entire Organized Marine Corps Reserve, both ground and air, thus making available a large number of officers and men, at least partially trained, for incorporation into the FMF with a minimum of delay. This increased strength made possible organization of a unit larger than the Marine Corps had ever operated before: the triangular division, consisting of three infantry regiments, an artillery regiment: supported by engineer, reconnaissance, and signal units plus medical and other service troops. Thus, on 1 February 1941 the brigades stationed on the east coast and west coast were officially activated as the 1st Marine division and 2d Marine Division respectively. To affect the necessary expansion, cadres were drawn from existing units around which to build and train new units of the same type. This proved a slow and laborious process, and months passed before either division could be built, up to authorized strength. 


Growth of Marine Aviation kept pace with that of the ground forces, and again that, pace looked faster on paper than it was in actuality. Simultaneously with the conversion of the two brigades into divisions, the east coast and west coast FMF aircraft groups, based at Quantico and San Diego respectively, were activated as the 1st and 2d Marine Aircraft Wings (MAW). But, as with the divisions, bringing them up to authorized strength proved no overnight process.


Initially, each could boast, only a single aircraft group of mixed composition, designated MAG-11 and MAG-21 respectively. On the eve of Pearl Harbor, FMF air personnel numbered 2,716 officers and enlisted out of a total aviation strength of 5,911. These were divided among the two wings and the detached squadron in the Virgin Islands. The 1st MAW had remained based at Quantico. But the coming of war found the 2d MAW scattered far and wide, with a squadron at Wake Island: a detachment at Midway Island, and the balance of the wing at Ewa, on Oahu, T. H.

Though the two divisions and two wings comprised the Marine Corps: principal striking arm, considerations of immediate urgency diverted many FMF personnel into other activities. The United States had no intention of defending America on its own soil as long as the situation permitted any other choice. The Navy already possessed several outlying buses and hopped to obtain more, for security of which it relied on the Marines. Hence there evolved a type of organization specially adapted to this duty: the Marine defense battalion, which was primarily an artillery outfit whose main armament consisted of antiaircraft and coast defense guns. The first four of these, with consecutive numerical designations, were activated during fiscal 1940. By the time of Perl Harbor the number had reached seven with two more in process of formation.


Concurrent with increased numbers came increased responsibilities. The Navy, too, was expanding at an unprecedented rate, diverting more Marines from the FMF to perform the Corps’ traditional functions: security of naval installations ashore and service afloat. By 30 November 1941, ships’ detachments had grown to 68, manned by a total of 3,793 Marines.’”


Ashore the Navy’s stepped-up training programs, particularly in naval aviation, created more and more bases, security of which imposed a serious additional drain on Marine man power. In fiscal 1940 the Corps was called upon to provide guard detachments at four new naval air stations in the Continental United States and three in U. S. overseas territories.” The following fiscal year added another four air stations, a naval ammunition depot, a naval supply depot,12 and 18 other new installations ranging in character and location from David Taylor Basin, Carderock, Maryland, to Naval Magazine, Indian Island, Washington. Furthermore, garrison detachments were detailed to twelve stations overseas, as will be discussed subsequently.


Simultaneously with filling the Navy’s demands, the Marine Corps assumed additional security problems of its own as existing bases expanded and new ones were established. Thus, the period under discussion saw the activation of seven new guard companies of a non-FMF character: at Quantico, San Diego, Dunedin (Florida), and Bremerton (Washington).


 Inevitably the problems of housing, training, and equipping rapidly expanding manpower imposed increasing pressure on the Corps’ existing facilities, pegged as these were to peacetime needs and the economy of depression years. Following World War I, activities strictly Marine Corps in nature had been concentrated generally at the recruit training depots at Parris Island and San Diego and at the operational bases at Quantico and San Diego, where the East Coast and West Coast components of the Fleet Marine Force were stationed. FMF aviation was based nearby at MCAS, Quantico, and NAS, San Diego.

Marines first laid eyes on Parris Island early in the Civil War when they participated in the naval expedition which seized adjoining Port Royal. This served as an important naval base throughout the war, but the Navy did not begin construction of installations on the island proper until 1883. The first record of a separate Marine detachment setting up there permanently occurs in June 1893. The post did not begin functioning, however, in its present capacity until November 1915 when the East Coast Marine recruit depots were transferred there from Norfolk and Philadelphia.


Retained as a permanent base after World War I, Parris Island continued its role as the point of initial contact with military life for all newly enlisted Marines from the East. Partly for this reason, its facilities were maintained at a fairly high level during the lean years of the 1920’s and 1930’s. Nevertheless, the flood of recruits soon overflowed existing facilities and forced a rapid expansion.


Thus in 1940-41, even as the full training program continued and was intensified, new barracks, a new post exchange, and a new rifle range were added to those already operating at full capacity. The Recruit Depot, San Diego, which had operated as such since August 1923, experienced similar problems and arrived at similar solutions. As events proved, both of these bases managed to keep abreast of the expansion program throughout the war and thus accomplish their basic missions.


Much of San Diego’s success in its primary mission was owed to the activation of nearby Camp Elliott in mid-1940 to furnish advanced training and serve as a base for West Coast elements of the FMF. Until then San Diego had housed both of those activities, and with the speeding-up expansion program they were beginning to get in each other’s way. The first FMF units began the transfer early in 1941 and greatly eased the pressure; though, as will be seen, Camp Elliott itself was eventually pressured out of existence. Quantico, acquired by the Marine Corps immediately following U. S. entry into World War I, found its difficulties less readily resolved. During the interim between wars, this post assumed a position of paramount importance in the development of Marine amphibious doctrine and techniques, and in the training of Marine officers and technicians. The passage of years saw additional educational units move in until the Virginia base became the center of higher learning for the Marine Corps.


Advent of the national emergency soon made it apparent that, no practicable physical expansion would enable Quantico to continue these activities, all rapidly growing and intensifying in scope, and at the same time serve as home base for east coast FMF units, especially when operational forces were to reach division size. Parris Island, hard pressed to keep abreast of its own problems, could do little to relieve the pressure. Clearly the situation called for construction of an entirely new and extensive base for FMF operations on the eastern seaboard. This required Congressional approval, which was obtained on 15 February 1941.


The site selected lay in the New River-Neuse River area of the North Carolina coast. The surveying and purchasing of land began immediately. By the end of April this preliminary work had been completed, and construction of Tent Camp #1, Marine Barracks, New River commenced. The isolated location of the area made development an enormous task. Transportation to the site was almost nonexistent, electric power lines were either lacking or greatly overloaded and able to provide but a fraction of the current needed. And the necessary labor could be obtained only by offering special inducements to workers. Both the Marine Corps and civilian contractors approached these problems to such good effect that by the summer’ of 1941 the far-from-completed camp had reached a stage of development that made it available for use.


The fledgling 1st Marine Division, still understrength, moved in shortly after its return from maneuvers in the Caribbean. There it participated in a series of amphibious exercises, one with the Army's 1st Infantry division, the first of four army divisions to receive such training jointly with Marine units or under the direction of Marine officers.


Men of the Marine division pitched in to improve camp conditions while continuing their intensive training for combat.


Civilian contractors pushed construction of permanent buildings so effectively that soon various specialized training and schooling facilities and other units began transferring to the new base from both Quantico and Parris Island. The 1st Marine Division, however, had long since departed beyond the seas by the time Marine Barracks, New River, reached the stage of development where the powers that be saw fit to dignify it, late in 1942, with the name Camp Lejeune.


Like tile division, the 1st Marine Aircraft, Wing began outgrowing its Quantico facilities long before it achieved full strength. Even while development progressed at Sew River, the Marine Corps obtained authorization for a new air base nearby. Cunningham Field, Cherry Point, North Carolina, was designated a Marine Corps Air Station for development purposes on 1 December 1941, and work began on what, would become by commissioning day, 20 May 1942, a vast new base capable of handling the greater part of a completely built-up Marine air-craft wing."


On the west coast, Camp Elliott, less hampered than Quantico by a multiplicity of activities, proved capable initially of handling the vastly increased load of advanced training though the camp was expanded and developed to many times its original size in the process. Its 29,000 acres housed the, 2d Marine Division from its activation until its departure for the Pacific. It also became the home of the Marine Corps’ first tank training center and tile infantry training center for numerous replacement drafts.


 How thin the Marine Corps had to spread its manpower in order to fulfill its many commitments is indicated by the table that follows showing the distribution effective 30 November 1941, on the eve of Pearl Harbor. The fact that the figures quoted do not add up to total Corps strength is accounted for by omission of minor categories involving individuals or small groups of men.

Continental U. S. (non - FMF)





Major Marine Corps Bases ------------ 14,707


Posts & Stations (43) ------------------ 10, 089


Headquarters & Staff ------------------ 780


Recruiting (4 districts) ________________ 847


Total --------------------------- 26, 423





Overseas (non - FMF)





Posts & Stations (24) ------------------ 3,367


Tactical Units     ----------------------- 5, 498


Shipboard Detachments (68) ----------- 3, 793


Total ---------------------------- 12, 658





Fleet Marine Force, continental U.S.





1st MarDir -------------------------- 8,918


2d MarDiv (less dets) ----------------- 7, 540


2d DefBn _____________________________ 865


1st MAW ----------------------------- 1, 301


2d MAW (less dets) ------------------ 682


Miscellaneous _________________________ 633


Total --------------------------- 19,939





Fleet Marine Force, Overseas





5 DefBns (Pacific) -------------------- 4, 399


2d MAW (elements) (Pacific) __________ 733


2d MarDiv (elements) (Pacific) -------- 489


Total --------------------------- 5,621


Total above categories ___________ 64, 641


Total strength Marine Corps _____ 65, 881"
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On the afternoon of 6 December 1941, Tai Sing Loo, the colorful Pearl

Harbor Navy Yard photographer, arranged with Platoon Sergeant Charles R.

Christenot, the noncommissioned-officer-in-charge of the Main Gate at

the Navy Yard, to have his Marines pose for a photograph between 0830

and 0930 Sunday morning, in front of the new concrete main gate. The

photo was to be for a Christmas card.




As war clouds gathered over the Pacific basin in late 1941, the

United States Pacific Fleet operated, as it had since May 1940, from

Pearl Harbor. While the security of that fleet and for the island of

Oahu lay in the Army's hands, that of the Navy Yard and the Naval Air

Stations at Pearl Harbor and Kaneohe Bay lay in the hands of Marines. In

addition, on board the fleet's battleships, aircraft carriers, and some

of its cruisers, Marines provided security, served as orderlies for

embarked flag officers and ships' captains, and manned secondary

antiaircraft and machine gun batteries — seagoing duties familiar

to the Corps since its inception.






[image: Ford Island]



Ford

Island, seen on 10 October 1941 from much the same angle as Japanese

bomber pilots viewed it on 7 December.
National Archives Photo

80-G-279375







The Marine Barracks at Pearl Harbor comprised a Barracks Detachment

and two companies, A and B, the men living in a comfortable three-story

concrete barracks. Company A manned the main gates at the Submarine Base

and Navy yard, and other "distant outposts," providing yard security,

while Company B enforced traffic regulations and maintained proper

police and order under the auspices of the Yard Police Officer. In

addition, Marines ran the Navy Yard Fire Department. Elements of Marine

defense battalions made Pearl Harbor their home, too, residing in the

several 100-man temporary wooden barracks buildings that had been

completed during 1940 and 1941. Less commodious but no less important

was the burgeoning airbase that Marines of Marine Aircraft Group (MAG) 2

(later 21) had hewn and hammered out near Barbers Point — Ewa

Mooring Mast Field, home for a Marine aircraft group consisting of

fighting, scout-bombing, and utility squadrons.




On 27 November, having been privy to intelligence information gleaned

from intercepted and translated Japanese diplomatic message traffic,

Admiral Harold R. Stark, the Chief of Naval Operations, and General

George C. Marshall, the Army's Chief of Staff, sent a war warning to

their principal commanders on Oahu, Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, the

Commander in Chief, Pacific Fleet, and Lieutenant General Walter C.

Short, the Commander of the Hawaiian Department. Thus adjured to take

appropriate defensive measures, and feeling that his more exposed

advance bases needed strengthening, Kimmel set in motion a plan that had

been completed as early as 10 November, to provide planes for Midway and

Wake. The latter was to receive fighters — 12 Grumman F4F-3

Wildcats of Marine Fighter Squadron (VMF) 211 — while Midway was to

get scout bombers from Marine Scout-Bomber Squadron (VMSB) 231. The

following day, 28 November 1941, the carrier Enterprise (CV-6)

departed Pearl in Task Force 8 under Vice Admiral William F. Halsey,

Jfr., Commander, Aircraft, Battle Force, embarking VMF-211 at sea.

VMSB-231 was to embark in another carrier Lexington (CV-2), in

Task Force 12 under Rear Admiral John H. Newton, on 5 December.






[image: Pearl Harbor Navy Yard]



Pearl Harbor Navy Yard, looking south, on 13 October

1941. Marine Barracks complex is located to the left of the tank farm

visible just to left of center. Several temporary wooden barracks,

completed in early 1941, ring the parade ground. 
National Archives Photo

80-G-451123







At the outset, apparently no one except the squadron commanders knew

their respective destinations, but the men of VMF-211 and VMSB-231,

meanwhile, apparently ordered their affairs and made ready for what was

to appear as "advanced base exercises." Among those men seeing to his

financial affairs at Ewa Mooring Mast Field on 3 December 1941 was First

Lieutenant Richard EW. Fleming, USMCR, who wrote to his widowed mother:

"This is the last time I'll be able to write for probably sometime. I'm

sorry I can't give you any details; it's that secret."




On the 5th, Task Force 12 sailed from Pearl. Eighteen light gray

Vought SB2U-3 Vindicators from CMSB-231, under 41-year old Major

Clarence J. "Buddy" Chappell, then made the 1.7-hour flight from Ewa and

landed on board Lexington, along with the "Lady Lex" air group.

Planes recovered, the force set course for Midway. The Lexington

departed Pearl Harbor on the morning of 5 December. That afternoon saw

the arrival of Battleship Division One from gunnery exercises in the

Hawaiian Operating Area, and the three dreadnoughts, Arizona

(BB-39), Nevada (BB-36), and Oklahoma (BB-37), moored in

their assigned berths at the quays along Ford Island. The movements of

the ships in and out of Pearl Harbor had been the object of much

interest on the part of th espionage system operating out of the

Japanese consulate in Honolulu throughout the year 1941, for the

information its operatives were providing went to support an ambitious

and bold oeration that had taken shape over several months.




Unbeknownst to Admiral Kimmel, a Japanese task force under the

command of Vice Admiral Chuichi Nagumo, formed around six carriers and

the most powerful force of its kind ever assembled by any naval power,

had set out from the remote Kurile Islands on 27 November. It observed

radio sxilence and steamed via the comparatively less traveled northern

Pacific.




Nagumo's mission was to destroy the United States Pacific Fleet and

thus ensure its being unable to threaten the Japanese Southern Operation

posed to attack American, British, and Dutch possessions in the Far

East. All of the warning signs made available to Admiral Kimmel and

General Short pointed toward hostilities occurring within the forseeable

future, but not on Oahu. War, however, was about to burst upon the

Marines at Pearl Harbor "like a thunderclap from a clear sky."
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Some 200 miles north of Oahu, Vice Admiral Nagumo's First Air

Fleet — formed around the aircraft carriers Akagi,

Kaga, Soryu, Hiryu, Shokaku and

Zuikaku pressed southward in the pre-dawn hours of 7 December

1941. At 0550, the dark gray ships swung to port, into the brisk

easterly wind, and commenced launching an initial strike of 184 planes

10 minutes later. A second strike would take off after an hour's

interval. Once airborne, the 51 Aichi D3A1 Type 99 dive bombers (Vals),

89 Nakajima B5N21 attack planes (Kates) used in high-level bombing or

torpedo bombing roles, and 43 Mitsubishi A6M2 Type 00 fighters (Zeroes),

let by Commander Mitsuo Fuchida, Akagi's air group commander,

wheeled around, climbed to 3,000 meters, and droned toward the south at

0616. The only other military planes aloft that morning were Douglas SBD

Dauntlesses from Enterprise, flying searches ahead of the carrier

as she returned from Wake Island, Army Boeing B-17 Flying Fortresses

heading in from the mainland, and Navy Consolidated PBY Catalinas on

routine patrols out of the naval air stations at Ford Island and

Kaneohe.




That morning, 15 of the ships at Pearl Harbor numbered Marine

detachments among their complements; eight battleships, two heavy

cruisers, four light cruisers, and one auxiliary. A 16th detachment,

assigned to the auxiliary (target/gunnery training ship) Utah

(AG-16), was ashore on temporary duty at the 14th Naval District Rifle

Range at Luuloa Point.
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The

centrally located airship mooring mast at Ewa from which the field

derived its distinctive name, 13 February 1941. Jordan Collection,

MCHC







At 0753, Lieutenant Frank Erickson, USCG, the Naval Air Station (NAS)

Ford Island duty officer, watched Privates First Class Frank Dudovick

and James D. Young, and Private Paul O. Zeller, USMCR — the Marine

color guard — march up and take post for Colors. Satisfied that all

looked in order outside, Erickson stepped back into the office to check

if the assistant officer-of-the-day was ready to play the recording for

sounding Colors on the loudspeaker. The sound of two heavy explosions,

however, sent the Coast Guard pilot running to the door. He reached it

just in time to see a Kate fly past 1010 Dock and release a torpedo. The

markings on the plane — "Which looked like balls of fire" —

left no question as to its identity; the explosion of the torpedo as it

struck the battleship California (BB-44) moored near the

administration building, left no doubt as to its intent.




"The Marines didn't wait for colors," Erickson recalled later, "The

flag went right up but the tune was general quarters." As "all Hell"

broke loose around them, Dudovick, Young, and Zeller unflinchingly

hoisted the Stars and Stripes "with the same smartness and precision"

that had characterized their participation in peacetime ceremonies. At

the crew barracks on Ford Island, Corporal Clifton Webster and Private

First Class Albert E. Yale headed for the roof immediately after general

quarters sounded. In the direct line of fire from strafing planes, they

set up a machine gun. Across Oahu, as Japanese planes swept in over NAS

Kaneohe Bay, the Marine detachment there — initially the only men

who had weapons — hurried to their posts and began firing at the

attackers.
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While a Marine, foreground, looks skyward, the torpedoed

battleship California (BB-44) lists to port. In the left

background flies "Old Glory," raised by PFCs Frank Dudovick and James D.

Young, and Pvt Paul O. Zeller, USMCR. National Archives Photo

80-G-32463







Since the American aircraft carriers were at sea, the Japanese

targeted the battleships which lay moored off Ford Island. At one end of

Battleship Row lay Nevada. At 0802, the battleship's .50-caliber

machine guns opened fire on the torpedo planes bearing down on them from

the direction of the Navy Yard; her gunners believed that they had shot

one down almost immediately. An instant later, however, a torpedo

penetrated her port side and exploded.




Ahead of Nevada lay Arizona, with the repair ship

Vestal (AR-4) alongside, preparing for a tender

availability. Major Alan Shapley had been relieved the previous day as

detachment commanding officer by Captain John H. Earle, Jr., who had

come over to Arizona from Tennessee (BB-43). Awaiting

transportation to the Naval Operating Base, San Diego, and assignment to

the 2d Marine Division, Shapley was lingering on board to play first

base on the battleship's baseball team in a game scheduled with the

squad from the carrier Enterprise (CV-6). After the morning meal,

he started down to his cabin to change.




Seated at breakfast, Sergeant John M. Baker heard the air raid alarm,

followed closely by an explosion in the distance and machine gun fire.

Corporal Earl C. Nightingale, leaving the table, had paid no heed to the

alarm at the outset, since he had no antiaircraft battle station, but

ran to the door on the port side that opened out onto the quarterdeck at

the sound of the distant explosion. Looking out, he saw what looked like

a bomb splash alongside Nevada. Marines from the ship's color

guard then burst breathlessly into the messing compartment, saying that

they were being attacked.
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As general quarters sounded, Baker and Nightingale, among the others,

headed for their battle stations. Aft, congestion at the starboard

ladder, that led through casemate no. 9, prompted Second Lieutenant

Carleton E. Simensen, USMCR, the ship's junior Marine officer, to force

his way through. Both Baker and Nightingale noted, in passing, that the

5-inch/51 there was already manned, and Baker heard Corporal Burnis L.

Bond, the gun captain, tell the crew to train it out. Nightingale noted

that the men seemed "extremely calm and collected."




As Lieutenant Simensen led the Marines up the ladder on the starboard

side of the mainmast tripod, an 800-kilogram converted armor-piercing

shell dropped by a Kate from Kaga ricocheted off the side of

Turret IV. Penetrating the deck, it exploded in the vicinity of the

captain's pantry. Sergeant Baker was following Simensen up the mainmast

when the bomb exploded, shrapnel cutting down the officer as he reached

the first platform. He crumpled to the deck. Nightingale, seeing him

flat on his back, bent over him to see what he could do but Simensen,

dying, motioned for his men to continue on up the ladder. Nightingale

continued up to Secondary Aft and reported to Major Shapley that nothing

could be done for Simensen.




An instant later, a rising babble of voices in the secondary station

prompted Nightingale to call for silence. No sooner had the tense quiet

settled in when, suddenly, a terrible explosion shook the ship, as a

second 800-kilogram bomb — dropped by a Kate from Hiryu

— penetrated the deck near Turret II and set off Arizona's

forward magazines. An instant after the terrible fireball mushroomed

upward, Nightingale looked out and saw a mass of flames forward of the

mainmast, and much in the tradition of Private William Anthony of the

Maine reported that the ship was afire*. "We'd might as well go

below," Major Shapley said, looking around, "we're no good here."

Sergeant Baker started down the ladder. Nightingale, the last man out,

followed Shapley down the port side of the mast, the railings hot to the

touch as they made their way below.









*Private Anthony, an instant after the explosion

mortally damaged the battleship Maine in Havana harbor on 15

February 1898, made his way to the captain's cabin, where he encountered

that officer in a passageway outside. Drawing himself to attention,

Anthony reported that the ship was sinking.










Baker had just reached the searchlight platform when he heard someone

shout: "You can't use the ladder." Private First Class Kenneth D.

Goodman, hearing that and apparently assuming (incorrectly, as it turned

out) that the ladder down was indeed unusable, instinctively leapt in

desperation to the crown of Turret III. Miraculously, he made the jump

with only a slight ankle injury. Shapley, Nightingale, and Baker,

however, among others, stayed on the ladder and reached the boat deck,

only to find it a mass of wreckage and fire, with the bodies of the

slain lying thick upon it. Badly charred men staggered to the

quarterdeck. Some reached it only to collapse and never rise. Among them

was Corporal Bond, burned nearly black, who had been ordering his crew

to train out no. 9 5-inch/51 at the outset of the battle; sadly, he

would not survive his wounds.








Shapley and Corporal Nightingale made their way across the ship

between Turret III and Turret IV, where Shapley stopped to talk with

Lieutenant Commander Samuel G. Fuqua, Arizona's  first

lieutenant and, by that point, the ship's senior officer on board.

Fuqua, who appeared "exceptionally clam," as he helped men over the

side, listened as Shapley told him that it appeared that a bomb had gone

down the stack and triggered the explosion that doomed the ship. Since

fighting the massive fires consuming the ship was a hopeless task, Fuqua

told the Marine that he had ordered Arizona abandoned. Fuqua, the

first man Sergeant Baker encountered on the quarterdeck, proved an

inspiration. "His calmness gave me courage," Baker later declared, "and

I looked around to see if I could help." Fuqua, however, ordered him

over the side, too. Baker complied.
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View

from a Japanese plane taken around 0800 on 7 December 1941. At lower

left is  Nevada (BB-36), with  Arizona (BB-39) ahead of

her, with the repair ship  Vestal (AR-4) moored outboard; West

Virginia (BB-48) (already beginning to list to port) alongside

Tennessee (BB-43);  Oklahoma (BB-37) (which has already

taken at least one torpedo) with  Maryland (BB-46) moored

inboard; the fleet oiler  Neosho and, far right,  California

(BB-44), which, too, already has been torpedoed. Naval Historical Center

Photo NH 50931













Shapley and Nightingale, meanwhile, reached the mooring quay

alongside which Arizona lay when an explosion blew them into the

water. Nightingale started swimming for a pipeline 150 feet away but

soon found that his ebbing strength would not permit him to reach it.

Shapley, seeing the enlisted man's distress, swam over and grasped his

shirt front, and told him to hang onto his shoulders. The strain of

swimming with Nightingale, however, proved too much for even the

athletic Shapley, who began to experience difficulties himself. Seeing

his former detachment commander foundering, Nightingale loosened his

grip on his shoulders and told him to go the rest of the way alone.

Shapley stopped, however, and firmly grabbed him by the shirt; he

refused to let go. "I would have drowned," Nightingale later recounted,

"but for the Major." Sergeant Baker had seen their travail, but, too far

away to help, made it to Ford Island alone.




Several bombs, meanwhile, fell close aboard Nevada, moored

astern of Arizona, which had begun to hemorrhage fuel from

ruptured tanks. Fire spread to the oil that lay thick upon the water,

threatening Nevada. As the latter counterflooded to correct the

list, her acting commanding officer, Lieutenant Commander Francis, J.

Thomas, USNR, decided that his ship had to get underway "to avoid

further danger due to proximity of Arizona." After receiving a

signal from the yard tower to stand out of the harbor, Nevada

singled up her lines at 0820. She began moving from her berth 20 minutes

later.




Oklahoma, Nevada's sister ship moored inboard of

Maryland in berth F-5, meanwhile manned air-defense stations at

about 0757, to the sound of gunfire. After a junior officer passed the

word over the general announcing system that it was not a drill —

providing a suffix of profanity to underscore the fact — all men

not having an antiaircraft defense station were ordered to lay below the

armored deck. Crews at the 5-inch and 3-inch batteries, meanwhile,

opened ready-use lockers. A heavy shock, followed by a loud explosion,

came soon thereafter as a torpedo slammed home in the battleship's port

side. The "Okie" soon began listing to port.




Oil and water cascaded over the decks, making them extremely slippery

and silencing the ready-duty machine gun on the forward superstructure.

Two more torpedoes struck home. The massive rent in the ship's side

rendered the desperate attempts at damage control futile. As Ensign Paul

H. Backus hurried from his room to his battle station on the signal

bridge, he passed his friend Second Lieutenant Harry H. Gaver, Jr., one

of Oklahoma's Marine detachment junior officers, "on his knees,

attempting to close a hatch on the port side, alongside the barbette [of

Turret I] ... part of the trunk which led from the main deck to the

magazines ... There were men trying to come up from below at the time

Harry was trying to close the hatch ..." Backus never saw Gaver

again.
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As the list increased and the oily, wet decks made even standing up a

chore, Oklahoma's acting commanding officer ordered her abandoned

to save as many lives as possible. Directed to leave over the starboard

side, away from the direction of the roll, most of Oklahoma's men

managed to get off, to be picked up by boats arriving to rescue

survivors. Sergeant Thomas E. Hailey, and Privates First Class Marlin

"S" Seale and James H. Curran, Jr., swam to he nearby Maryland.

Hailey and Seale turned to the task of rescuing shipmates, Seale

remaining on Maryland's blister ledge throughout the attack,

puling men from the water. Later, although inexperienced with that type

of weapon, Hailey and Curran manned Maryland's antiaircraft guns.

West Virginia rescued Privates George B. Bierman and Carl R.

McPherson, who not only helped rescue others from the water but also

helped to fight that battleships' fires.
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Along Battleship Row, beneath a pall of smoke from the

burning Arizona (BB-39) lies Maryland (BB-46), her

5-inch/25 antiaircraft battery bristling. Oklahoma (BB-37) lies

"turned turtle," capsized, at right. This view shows the distance "Okie"

survivors swam to the inboard battleship, where they manned antiaircraft

batteries and rescued their shipmates. National Archives Photo

80-G-32549
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Sgt

Thomas E. Hailey, 18 May 1942, one month after he had been awarded the

Navy Cross for heroism he exhibited on 7 December 1941 that followed the

sinking of the battleship Oklahoma (BB-37). Naval Historical Center

Photo NH 102556









Sergeant Woodrow A. Polk, a bomb fragment in his left hip, sprained

his right ankle in abandoning ship, while someone clambered into a

launch over Sergeant Leo G. Wears and nearly drowned him in the process.

Gunnery Sergeant Norman L. Currier stepped from Oklahoma's red

hull to a boat, dry-shod. Wears — as Hailey and Curran — soon

found a short-handed antiaircraft gun on Maryland's boat deck and

helped pass ammunition. Private First Class Arthur J. Bruktenis, whose

column in the December 1941 issue of The Leatherneck would be the

last to chronicle the peacetime activities of Oklahoma's Marines,

dislocated his left shoulder in the abandonment, but survived.
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Cpl

Willard A. Darling, circa 1941, was awarded the navy Cross for heroism

in the aftermath of the Japanese air attack on the battleship

Oklahoma (BB-37). Naval Historical Center Photo NH

102557







A little over two weeks shy of his 23d birthday, Corporal Willard D.

Darling, an Oklahoma Marine who was a native Oklahoman, had

meanwhile clambered on board a motor launch. As it headed shoreward,

Darling saw 51-year-old Commander Fred M. Rohow (Medical Corps), the

capsized battleship's senior medical officer, in a state of shock,

struggling in the oily water. Since Rohow seemed to be drowning, Darling

unhesitatingly dove in and, along with Shipfitter First Class William S.

Thomas, kept him afloat until a second launch picked them up. Strafing

Japanese planes and shrapnel from American guns falling around them

prompted the abandonment of the launch at a dredge pipeline, so Darling

jumped in and directed the doctor to follow him. Again, the Marine

rescued Rohow — who proved too exhausted to make it on his own

— and towed him to shore.




Maryland, meanwhile inboard of Oklahoma, promptly

manned her antiaircraft guns at the outset of the attack, her machine

guns opening fire immediately. She took two bomb hits, but suffered only

minor damage. Her Marine detachment suffered no casualties.




On board Tennessee (BB-43), Marine Captain Chevey S. White,

who had just turned 28 the day before, was standing officer-of-the-deck

watch as that battleship lay moored inboard of West Virginia

(BB-48) in berth F-6. Since the commanding officer and the executive

officer were both ashore, command devolved upon Lieutenant Commander

James W. Adams, Jr., the ship's gunnery officer. Summoned topside at the

sound of the general alarm and hearing "all hand to general quarters"

over the ship's general announcing system, Adams sprinted to the bridge

and spotted White en route. Over the din of battle, Adams shouted for

the Marine to "get the ship in condition Zed [i.e.: establish

water-tight integrity] as quickly as possible." Whit did so. By the time

Adams reached his battle station on the bridge, White was already at his

own battle station, directing the ship's antiaircraft guns. During the

action (in which the ship took one bomb that exploded on the center gun

of Turret II and another that penetrated the crown of Turret III, the

latter breaking apart without exploding), White remained at his

unprotected station, coolly and courageously directing the battleship's

antiaircraft battery. Tennessee claimed four enemy planes shot

down.
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Capt

Chevey S. White was a veteran of service in China with the 4th Marines,

where he had edited the Walla Walla, the regiment's news

magazine. White had become CO of Tennessee's (BB-43) Marine

Detachment on 3 August 1941. Ultimately, he was killed by enemy mortar

fire on Guam on 22 July 1944. Marine Corps Historical Collection







West Virginia , outboard of Tennessee, had been

scheduled to sail for Puget Sound, due for overhaul, on 17 November, but

had been retained in Hawaiian waters owing to the tense international

situation. In her exposed moorings, she thus absorbed six torpedoes,

while a seventh blew her rudder free. Prompt counter-flooding, however,

prevented her from turning turtle as Oklahoma had done, and she

sank, upright, alongside Tennessee.




On board California, moored singly off the administration

building at the naval air station, junior officer of the deck on board

had been Second Lieutenant Clifford B. Drake. Relieved by Ensign Herbert

C. Jones, USNR, Drake went down to the wardroom for breakfast (Kadota

figs, followed by steak and eggs) where, around 0755, he heard airplane

engines and explosions as Japanese dive bombers attacked the air

station. The general quarters alarm then summoned the crew to battle

stations. Drake, forsaking his meal, hurried to the foretop.




By 0803, the two ready machine guns forward of the bridge had opened

fire, followed shortly thereafter by guns no. 2 and 4 of the

antiaircraft battery. As the gunners depleted the ready-use ammunition,

however, two torpedoes struck home in quick succession.

California began to settle as massive flooding occurred.

Meanwhile, fumes from the ruptured fuel tanks — she had been fueled

to 95 percent capacity the previous day — drove out the men

assigned to the party attempting to bring up ammunition for the guns by

hand. A call for men to bring up additional gas masks proved fruitless,

as the volunteers, who included Private Arthur E. Senior, could not

reach the compartment in which they were stored.




California's losing power because of the torpedo damage soon

relegated Lieutenant Drake, in her foretop, to the role of "... a

reporter of what was going on ... a somewhat confused young lieutenant

suddenly hurled into war." As California began listing after the

torpedo hits, Drake began pondering his own ship's fate. Comparing his

ship's list with that of Oklahoma's, he dismissed

California's rolling over, thinking, "who ever heard of a

battleship capsizing?" Oklahoma, however, did a few moments

later.
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GySgt Charles E. Douglas, 24 February 1941, later

awarded the Navy Cross for heroism on board Nevada at Pearl

Harbor. He had seen service in Nicaragua and in the Legation Guard at

Peking, as well as a sea in battleships Pennsylvania (BB-38) and

New York (BB-34). Naval Historical Center Photo NH

102552







Meanwhile, at about 0810, in response to a call for a chain of

volunteers to pass 5-inch/25 ammunition, Private Senior again stepped

forward and soon clambered down to the C-L Division Compartment. There

he saw Ensign Jones, Lieutenant Drake's relief earlier that morning,

standing at the foot of the ladder on the third deck, directing the

ammunition supply. For almost 20 minutes, Senior and his shipmates

toiled under Jones' direction until a bomb penetrated the main deck at

about 0830, and exploded on the second deck, plunging the compartment

into darkness. As acrid smoke filled the compartment, Senior reached for

his gas mask, which he had lain on a shell box behind him, and put it

on. Hearing someone say: "Mr. Jones has been hit," Senior flashed his

flashlight over on the ensign's face and saw that "it was all bloody.

His white coat also had blood all over it." Senior and another man then

carried Jones as far as the M Division compartment, but the ensign would

not let them carry him any further. "Leave me alone," he gasped

insistently, "I'm done for. Get out of here before the magazines go

off!" Soon thereafter, however, before he could get clear, Senior felt

the shock of an explosion from down below and collapsed,

unconscious.




Jones' gallantry — which earned him a posthumous Medal of Honor

— impressed Private Howard M. Haynes, who had been confined before

the attack, awaiting a bad conduct discharge. After the battle, a

contrite Haynes — "a mean character who had shown little or no

respect for anything or anyone" before 7 December — approached

Lieutenant Drake and said that he [Haynes] was alive because of the

actions that Ensign Jones had taken. "God," he said, "give me a chance

to prove I'm worth it." His actions that morning in the crucible of war

earned Haynes a recommendation for retention in the service. Most of

California's Marines, like Haynes, survived the battle. Private

First Class Earl. D. Wallen and Privates Roy E. Lee, Jr. and Shelby C.

Shook, however, did not. Nor did the badly burned Private First Class

John A. Blount, Jr., who succumbed to his wounds on 9 December.
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Cpl

Joe R. Driskell, circa 1941, later awarded the Navy Cross for heroism on

board Nevada at Pearl Harbor. Driskell had been in the Civilian

Conservation Corps in Wyoming before he had enlisted in the Corps. When

general quarters sounded on board Nevada (BB-36) on 7 December,

he took up his battle station as gun captain of no. 9 5-inch/51 gun, in

casemate no. 9, on the starboard side. Naval Historical Center Photo NH

102554







Nevada's attempt to clear the harbor, meanwhile, inspired

those who witnessed it. Her magnificent effort prompted a stepped-up

effort by Japanese dive bomber pilots to sink here. One 250-kilogram

bomb hit her boat deck just aft of a ventilator trunk and 12 feet to the

starboard side of the centerline, about halfway between the stack and

the end of the boat deck, setting off laid-out 5-inch ready-use

ammunition. Spraying fragments decimated the gun crews. The explosion

wrecked the galley and blew open the starboard door of the compartment,

venting into casemate no. 9 and starting a fire that swept through the

casemate, wrecking the gun. Although he had been seriously wounded by

the blast that had hurt both of his legs and stripped much of his

uniform from his body, Corporal Joe R. Driskell disregarded his own

condition and insisted that he man another gun. He refused medical

treatment, assisting other wounded men instead, and then helped battle

the flames. He did not quit until those fires were out.




Another 250-kilogram bomb hit Nevada's bridge, penetrating

down into casemate no. 6 and starting a fire. The blast had also severed

the water pipes providing circulating water to the water-cooled machine

guns on the foremast — guns in the charge of Gunnery Sergeant

Charles E. Douglas. Intense flames enveloped the forward superstructure,

endangering Douglas and his men, and prompting orders for them to

abandon their station. They steadfastly remained at their posts,

however, keeping the .50-caliber Brownings firing amidst the swirling

black smoke until the end of the action.




Unlike the battleships the enemy had caught moored on Battleship Row,

Pennsylvania (BB-38), the fleet flagship, lay on keel blocks,

sharing Dry Dock No. 1 at the Navy Yard with Cassin (DD-372) and

Downes (DD-375) — two destroyers side-by-side ahead of her.

Three of Pennsylvania's four propeller shafts had been removed

and she was receiving all steam, power, and water from the yard.

Although her being in drydock had excused her from taking part in

antiaircraft drills, her crew swiftly manned her machine guns after the

first bombs exploded among the PBY flying boats parked on the south end

of Ford Island. "Air defense stations" then sounded, followed by

"general quarters." Men knocked the locks off ready-use ammunition

stowage and Pennsylvania opened fire about 0802.
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Close-up of the forward superstructure of Nevada

(BB-36) taken a few days after the Japanese attack as the battleship lay

beached off Waipio Point. In the upper portion of this view can be seen

the forward machine gun position with its four .50-caliber water-cooled

Brownings — the ones manned by Gunnery Sergeant Douglas and his men

during the battle on 7 December. Note the extensive fire damage to the

superstructure below. In the lower portion of the picture can be seen

one of the ship's 5-inch/51s, of the type manned by Corporal Driskell at

the start of the action.







The fleet flagship and the two destroyers nestled in the drydock

ahead of her led a charmed life until dive bombers from Soryu and

Hiryu targeted the drydock area between 0830 and 0915.* One bomb

penetrated Pennsylvania's boat deck, just to the rear of

5-inch/25 gun no. 7, and detonated in casemate no. 9. Of

Pennsylvania's Marine detachment, two men (Privates Patrick P.

Tobin and George H. Wade, Jr.) died outright, 13 fell wounded, and six

were listed as missing. Three of the wounded — Corporal Morris E.

Nations and Jesse C. Vincent, Jr., and Private First Class Floyd D.

Stewart — died later the same day.









For what became of the two destroyers, and the

Marines decorated for bravery in the battle to try to save them, see

page.
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Lieutenant Colonel Daniel Russel Fox, USMC




Lieutenant Colonel Daniel Russel Fox, USMC, as the Division Marine

Officer on the staff of Rear Admiral Isaac C. Kidd, Commander,

Battleship Division One, was the most senior Marine officer to die on

board Arizona on the morning of 7 December 1941. Fox had enlisted

in the Marine Corps in 1916. For heroism in France on 4 October 1918,

when he was a member of the 17th Company, Fifth Marines, he was awarded

the Navy Cross. He also was decorated with the Army's Distinguished

Service Cross and the French Croix de Guerre. Fox was commissioned in

1921 and later served in Nicaragua as well as China.












As the onslaught descended upon the battleships and the air station,

Marine detachments hurried to their battle stations on board other ships

elsewhere at Pearl. In the Navy Yard lay Argonne (AG-31), the

flagship of the Base Force, the heavy cruisers New Orleans

(CA-32) and San Francisco (CA-38), and the light cruisers

Honolulu (CL-48), St. Louis (CL-49) and Helena

(CL-50). To the northeast of For Island lay the light cruiser

Phoenix (CL-43).




Although Utah was torpedoed and sunk at her berth early in the

attack, her 14 Marines, on temporary duty at the 14th Naval District

Rifle Range, found useful employment combating the enemy. The Fleet

Machine Gun School lay on Oahu's south coast, west of the Pearl Harbor

entrance channel, at Fort Weaver. The men stationed there, including

several Marines on temporary duty from the carrier Enterprise and

the battleships California and Pennsylvania, sprang to

action at the first sounds of war. Working with the men from the Rifle

Range, all hands set up and mounted guns, and broke out and belted

ammunition between 0755 and 0810. All those present at the range were

issued pistols or rifles from the facility's armory.




Soon after the raid began, Platoon Sergeant Harold G. Edwards set

about securing the camp against any incursion the Japanese might attempt

from the landward side, and also supervised the emplacement of machine

guns along the beach. lieutenant (j.g.) Roy R. Nelson, the officer in

charge of the Rifle Range, remembered the many occasions when Captain

Frank M. Reinecke, commanding officer of Utah's Marine detachment

and the senior instructor at the Fleet Machine Gun School (and, as his

Naval Academy classmates remembered, quite a conversationalist), had

maintained that the school's weapons would be a great asset if anybody

ever attacked Hawaii. By 0810, Reinecke's gunners stood ready to prove

the point and soon engaged the enemy — most likely torpedo planes

clearing Pearl Harbor or high-level bombers approaching from the south.

Nearby Army units, perhaps alerted by the Marines' fire, opened up soon

thereafter. Unfortunately, the eager gunners succeeded in downing one of

two SBDs from Enterprise that were attempting to reach Hickam

Field. An Army crash boat, fortunately, rescued the pilot and his

wounded passenger soon thereafter.




On board Argonne, meanwhile, alongside 1010 Dock, her Marines

manned her starboard 3-inch/23 battery and her machine guns. Commander

Fred W. Connor, the ship's commanding officer, later credited Corporal

Alfred Schlag with shooting down one Japanese plane as it headed for

Battleship Row.




When the attack began, Helena lay moored alongside 1010 Dock,

the venerable minelayer Oglala (CM-3) outboard. A signalman,

standing watch on the light cruiser's signal bridge at 0757 identified

the planes over Ford Island as Japanese, and the ship went to general

quarters. Before she could fire a shot in her own defense, however, one

800-kilogram torpedo barreled into her starboard side about a minute

after the general alarm had begun summoning her men to their battle

stations. The explosion vented up from the forward engine room through

the hatch and passageways, catching many of the crew running to their

stations, and started fires on the third deck. Platoon Sergeant Robert

W. Teague, Privates First Class Paul F. Huebner, Jr.
 and George E.

Johnson, and Private Lester A. Morris were all severely burned. Johnson

later died.
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Beneath a leaden sky on 8 December 1941, Marines at NAS

Kaneohe Bay fire a volley over the common grave of 15 officers and men

killed during the Japanese raid the previous day. Note sandbagged

position atop the sandy rise at right. National Archives Photo

80-G-32854









To the southeast, New Orleans lay across the pier from her

sister ship San Francisco. The former went to general quarters

soon after enemy planes had been sighted dive-bombing Ford Island around

0757. At 08805, as several low-flying torpedo planes roared by, bound

for Battleship Row, Marine sentries on the fantail opened fire with

rifles and .45s. New Orleans' men, meanwhile, so swiftly manned

the 1.1-inch/75 quads, and .50-caliber machine guns, under the direction

of Captain William R. Collins, the commanding officer of the ship's

Marine detachment, that the ship actually managed to shoot at torpedo

planes passing her stern. San Francisco, however, under

major overhaul with neither operative armament nor major caliber

ammunition on board, was thus restricted to having her men fire small

arms at whatever Japanese planes came within range. Some of her crew,

though, hurried over to New Orleans, which was near-missed by one

bomb, and helped man her 5-inchers.




St. Louis, outboard of Honolulu, went to general

quarters at 0757 and opened fire with her 1.1 quadruple mounted

antiaircraft and .50-caliber machine gun batteries, and after getting

her 5-inch mounts in commission by 0830 — although without power in

train — she hauled in her lines at 0847 and got underway at 0831.

With all 5-inchers in full commission by 0947, she proceeded to sea,

passing the channel entrance buoys abeam around 1000. Honolulu,

damaged by a near miss from a bomb, remained moored at her berth

throughout the action.




Phoenix, moored by herself in berth C-6 in Pearl Harbor, to

the northeast of Ford Island, noted the attacking planes at 0755 and

went to general quarters. Her machine gun battery opened fire at 0810 on

the attacking planes as they came within range; her antiaircraft battery

five minutes later. Ultimately, after two false starts (where she had

gotten underway and left her berth only to see sortie signals cancelled

each time) Phoenix cleared the harbor later that day and put to

sea.




For at least one Marine, though, the day's adventure was not over

when the Japanese planes departed. Search flights took off from Ford

Island, pilots taking up utility aircraft with scratch crews, to look

for the enemy carriers which had launched the raid. Mustered at the

naval air station on Ford Island, Oklahoma's Sergeant Hailey,

still clad in his oil-soaked underwear, volunteered to go up in a plane

that was leaving on a search mission at around 1130. He remained aloft

in the plane, armed with a rifle, for some five hours.




After the attacking planes had retired, the grim business of cleaning

up and getting on with the war had to be undertaken. Muster had to be

taken to determine who was missing, who was wounded, who lay dead. Men

sought out their friends and shipmates. First Lieutenant Cornelius C.

Smith, Jr., from the Marine Barracks at the Navy Yard, searched in vain

among the maimed and dying at the Naval Hospital later that day, for his

friend Harry Gaver from Oklahoma. Death respected no rank. The

most senior Marine to die that day was Lieutenant Colonel Daniel R. Fox,

the decorated World War I hero and the division Marine officer on the

staff of the Commander, Battleship Division One, Rear Admiral Isaac C.

Kidd, who, along with Lieutenant Colonel Fox, had been killed in

Arizona. The tragedy of Pearl Harbor struck some families with

more force than others: numbered among Arizona's lost were

Private Gordon E. Shive, of the battleship's Marine detachment, and his

brother, Radioman Third Class Malcolm H. Shive, a member of the ship's

company.




Over the next few days, Marines from the sunken ships received

reassignment to other vessels — Nevada's Marines deployed

ashore to set up defensive positions in the fields adjacent to the

grounded and listing battleship — and the dead, those who could be

found, were interred with appropriate ceremony. Eventually, the deeds of

Marines in the battleship detachments were recognized by appropriate

commendations and advancements in ratings. Chief among them, Gunnery

Sergeant Douglas, Sergeant Hailey, and Corporals Driskell and Darling

were each awarded the Navy Cross. For his "meritorious conduct at the

peril of his own life," Major Shapley was commended and awarded the

Silver Star. Lieutenant Simensen was awarded a posthumous Bronze Star,

while Tennessee's commanding officer commended Captain White for

the way in which he had directed that battleship's antiaircraft guns

that morning.




Titanic salvage efforts raised some of the sunken battleships —

California, West Virginia, and Nevada — and they,

like the surviving Marines, went on to play a part in the ultimate

defeat of the enemy who had begun the war with such swift and terrible

suddenness.




They Caught Us Flat-Footed
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At 0740, when Fuchida's fliers had closed to within a few miles of

Kahuku Point, the 43 Zeroes split away from the rest of the formation,

swinging out north and west of Wheeler Field, the headquarters of the

Hawaiian Air Force's 18th Pursuit Wing. Passing further to the south, at

about 0745 the Soryu and Hiryu divisions executed a hard

diving turn to port and headed north, toward Wheeler. Eleven Zeroes from

Shokaku and Zuikaku simultaneously left the formation and

flew east, crossing over Oahu north of Pearl Harbor to attack NAS

Kaneohe Bay. Eighteen from Akagi and Kaga headed toward

what the Japanese called Babasu Pointo Hikojo (Barbers Point

Airdrome) — Ewa Mooring Mast Field.




Sweeping over the Waianae Range, Lieutenant Commander Shigeru Itaya

led Akagi's nine Zeroes, while Lieutenant Yoshio Shiga headed

another division of nine from Kaga. After the initial attack,

Itaya and Shiga were to be followed by divisions from Soryu,

under Masaji Suganami, and Hiryu, under Lieutenant Kiyokuma

Okajima, which were, at that moment, involved in attacking Wheeler to

the north.








In the officers' mess at Ewa, the officer-of-the-day, Captain Leonard

W. Ashwell of VMJ-252, noticed two formations of aircraft at 0755. The

first looked like 18 "torpedo planes" flying at 1,000 feet toward Pearl

Harbor from Barbers Point, but the second, to the northwest, comprised

about 21 planes just coming over the hills, from the direction of

Nanakuli, also at an altitude of about 1,000 feet. Ashwell, intrigued by

the sight, stepped outside for a better look. The second formation, of

single-seat fighters (the two division from Akagi and

Kaga), flew just to the north of Ewa and wheeled to the right.

Then, flying in a "string" formation, they commenced firing. Recognizing

the planes as Japanese, Ashwell burst back into the mess, shouting: "Air

Raid ... Air Raid! Pass the word!" He then sprinted for the guard house,

to have "call to arms" sounded.
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Browning Machine Gun Drill on Board Ship




Marines man a water-cooled, .50-caliber Browning M2 machine gun

during a drill on board the gunnery training ship Wyoming (AG-17)

in late 1941. The M2 Browning weighed (without water) 100 pounds, 87

ounces, and measured five feet, six inches in length. It fired between

550 and 700 rounds per minute to a maximum horizontal range of 7,400

yards. The two hoses carry coolant water to the gun barrel. The gun

could be fired without the prescribed two and a half gallons of cooling

water — as Gunnery Sergeant Douglas's men did on board

Nevada (BB-36) on 7 December 1941 — but accuracy diminished

as the barrel heated and the pattern of shots became more widely

dispersed. Experience would reveal that a large number of .50-caliber

hits were necessary to disable a plane, and that only a small number of

hits could be attained by any single ship-mounted gun against a dive

bomber.









That Sunday morning, Technical Sergeant Henry H. Anglin, the

noncommissioned-officer-in-charge of the photographic section at Ewa,

had driven from his Pearl City home with his three-year-old son, Hank,

to take the boy's picture at the station. The senior Anglin had just

positioned the lad in front of the camera and was about to take the

photo — the picture was to be a gift to the boy's grandparents

— when they heard the "mingled noise of airplanes and machine

guns." Roaring down to within 25 feet of the ground, Itaya's group most

likely carried out only one pass at their targets before moving on to

Hickam, the headquarters of the Hawaiian Air Force's 18th Bombardment

Wing.








Thinking that Army pilots were showing off, Sergeant Anglin stepped

outside the photographic section tent and, along with some other

enlisted men, watched planes bearing Japanese markings strafing the edge

of the field. Then, the planes began roaring down toward the field

itself and the bullets from their cowl and wing-mounted guns began

kicking up puffs of dirt. "Look, live ammunition," somebody said or

thought, "Somebody'll go to prison for this."




Shiga's pilots, like Itaya's, concentrated on the tactical aircraft

lined up neatly on Ewa's northwest apron with short bursts of 7.7- and

20-millimeter machine gun fire. Shiga's pilots, unlike Itaya's, however,

reversed course over the treetops and repeated their blistering attacks

from the opposite direction. Within minutes, most of MAG-21's planes sat

ablaze and exploding, black smoke corkscrewing into the sky. The enemy

spared none of the planes: the gray BD-1s and -2s of VMSB-232 and the

seven spare SB2U-3s left behind by VMSB-231 when they embarked in

Lexington just two days before. VMF-211's remaining F4F-3s, left

behind when the squadron deployed to Wake well over a week before,

likewise began exploding in flame and smoke.




At his home on Ewa Beach, three miles southeast of the air station,

Captain Richard C. Mangrum, VMSB-232's flight officer, sat reading the

Sunday comics. Often residents of that area had heard gunnery exercises

but on a Sunday morning? The chatter of gunfire and the dull thump of

explosions, however, drew Mangrum's attention away from the cartoons. As

he looked out his front door, planes with red ball markings on the wings

and fuselage roared by at very low altitude, bound for Pearl Harbor. up

the valley in the direction of Wheeler Field, smoke was boiling skyward,

as it was from Ewa. As he set out for Ewa on an old country road, wives

and children of Marines who lived in the Ewa Beach neighborhood began

gathering at the Mangrums' house.














Elsewhere in the Ewa Beach community, Mrs. Charles S. Barker, Jr.,

wife of Master Technical Sergeant Barker, the chief clerk in MAG-21's

operations office, hear the noise and asked: "What's all the shooting?"

Barker, clad only in beach shorts, looked out his front door, saw and

heard a plane fly by at low altitude, and then saw splashes along the

shoreline from strafing planes marked with red hinomaru. Running

out to turn off the water hose in his front yard, and seeing a small

explosion nearby (probably an antiaircraft shell from the direction of

Pearl), Barker had seen enough. He left his wife and baby with his

neighbors, and set out for Ewa.








	

The strafers who singled out cars moving along the roads that led to

Ewa proved no respecter of persons. MAG-21's commanding officer,

Lieutenant Colonel Claude A. "Sheriff" Larkin, en route from Honolulu,

was about a mile from Ewa in his 1930 Plymouth when a Zero shot at him.

He momentarily abandoned the car for the relative sanctuary of a nearby

ditch, not even bothering to turn off the engine, and then, as the

strafer roared out of sight, sprinted back to the vehicle, jumped back

in, and sped on. He reached his destination at 0805 — just in time

to be machine gunned again by one of Admiral Nagumo's fighters. Soon

thereafter, Larkin's good fortune at remaining unwounded amidst the

attack ran out, as he suffered several penetrating wounds, the most

painful of which included one on the top of the middle finger of his

left hand and another on the front of his lower left leg just above the

top of his shoe. Refusing immediate medical attention, though, Larkin

continued to direct the defense of Ewa Field.




Pilots and ground crewmen alike rushed out onto the mat to try to

save their planes from certain destruction. At least a few pilots

intended to get airborne, but could not because most of their aircraft

were either afire or riddled beyond any hope of immediate use.




Captain Milo G. Haines of VMF-211 sought safety behind a tractor, he

and the machine's driver taking shelter on the side opposite to the

strafers. Another Zero came in from another angle, however, and strafed

them from that direction. Spraying bullets clipped off Haines' necktie

just beneath his chin. Then, as a momentarily relieved Haines put his

right hand at the back of his head a bullet lacerated his right little

finger and a part of his scalp.
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TSgt

Henry H. Anglin, the non-commissioned officer in charge of Ewa's

Photography Section, stands before the mooring mast field's dispensary

on 8 December 1941, solemnly displaying the slug that wounded him on the

7th. Jordan Collection, MCHC







In the midst of the confusion, an excited three-year old Hank Anglin

innocently took advantage of his father's distraction with the battle

and wandered toward the mat. All of the noise seemed like a lot of fun.

Sergeant Anglin ran after his son, got him to the ground, and, shielding

him with his own body, crawled some 35 yards, little puffs of dirt

coming near them at times. As they clambered inside the radio trailer to

get out of harm's way, a bullet made a hole above the door. Moving back

to the photo tent, the elder Anglin put his son under a wooden bench. As

he set about gathering his camera gear to take pictures of the action, a

bullet went through his left arm. Deprived of the use of that arm for a

time, Anglin returned to the bench under which his son still crouched

obediently, to see little Hank point to a spent bullet on the floor and

hear him warn: "Don't touch that, daddy, it's hot."
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One

of the seven Vought SB2U-3s destroyed on the field at Ewa. All of

VMSB-231's spares (the squadron was embarked in Lexington, en

route to Midway, at the time) were thus destroyed. In the background is

one of VMSB-232's SBDs. Larkin Collection, MCHC







Private First Class James W. Mann, the driver assigned to Ewa's 1938

Ford ambulance, had been refueling the vehicle when the attack began.

When Lieutenant Thomas L. Allman, Medical Corps, USN, the group medical

officer, saw the first planes break into flames, he ordered Mann to take

the ambulance to the flight line. Accompanied by Pharmacist's Mate 2d

Class Orin D. Smith, a corpsman from sick bay, they sped off. The

Japanese planes seemed to be attracted to the bright red crosses on the

ambulance, however, and halted its progress near the mooring mast.

Realizing that they were under attack, Mann floored the brake pedal and

the Ford screeched to a halt. Rather than leave the vehicle for a safer

area, Mann and Smith crawled underneath it so that they could  continue

their mission as quickly as possible. The strafing, however, continued

unabated. Ironically, the first casualty Mann had to collect was the man

lying prone beside him. Orin Smith felt a searing pain as one of the

Japanese 7.7-millimeter rounds found its mark in the fleshy part of his

left calf. Seeing that the corpsman had been hurt, Mann assisted him out

from under the vehicle and up into the cab. Despite continued strafing

that shot out four tires, Mann pressed doggedly ahead and delivered the

wounded Smith to sick bay.
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Col

Claude A. "Sheriff" Larkin, Commanding Officer, Marine Aircraft Group

21, photographed circa early 1942. Larkin Collection, MCHC







After seeing that the corpsman's bleeding was stopped and the painful

wound was cleaned and dressed, Private First Class Mann sprinted to his

own tent. Grabbing his rifle, he then returned to the battered ambulance

and, shot-out tires flopping, drove toward Ewa's garage. There, Master

Technical Sergeant Lawrence R. Darner directed his men to replace the

damaged tires with those from a mobile water purifier. Meanwhile, Smith

resumed his duties as a member of the dressing station crew.




Also watching the smoke beginning to billow skyward was Sergeant

Duane W. Shaw, USMCR, the driver of the station fire truck. Normally,

during off-duty hours, the truck sat parked a quarter-mile from the

landing area. Shaw, figuring that it was his job to put out the fires,

climbed into the fire engine and set off. Unfortunately, like Private

First Class Mann's ambulance, Sergeant Shaw's bright red engine moving

across the embattled camp soon attracted strafing Zeroes. Unfazed by the

enemy fire that perforated his vehicle in several places, he drove

doggedly toward the flight line until another Zero shot out his tires.

Only then pausing to make a hasty estimate of the situation, he reasoned

that with the fire truck at least temporarily out of service he would

have to do something else. Jumping down from the cab, he soon got

himself a rifle and some ammunition. Then, he set out for the flight

line. If he could not put out fires, he could at least do some firing of

his own at the men who caused them.




With the parking area cloaked in black smoke, Japanese fighter pilots

shifted their efforts to the planes either out for repairs in the rear

areas or to the utility planes parked north of the intersection of the

main runways. Inside ten minutes' time, machine gun fire likewise

transformed many of those planes into flaming wreckage.




Firing only small arms and rifles in the opening stages, the Marines

fought back against Kaga's fighters as best they could, with

almost reckless heroism. Lieutenant Shiga remembered one particular

Leatherneck who, oblivious to the machine gun fire striking the ground

around him and kicking up dirt, stood transfixed, emptying his sidearm

at Shiga's Zero as it roared past. years later, Shiga would describe

that lone, defiant, and unknown Marine as the bravest American he had

ever met.




A tragic drama, however, soon unfolded amidst the Japanese attack.

One Marine, Sergeant William E. Lutschan, Jr., USMCR, a truck driver,

had been "under suspicion" of espionage and he was ordered placed under

arrest. In the exchange of gunfire that followed his resisting being

taken into custody, though, he was shot dead. With that one exception,

the Marines at Ewa Field had fought back to a man.
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Ewa's 1938 Ford ambulance, seen after the Japanese raid,

its Red Cross status violated, took over 50 hits from strafing

planes. Larkin Collection, MCHC







As if Akagi's and Kaga's fighters had not sown enough

destruction on Ewa, one division of Zeroes from Soryu and one

from Hiryu arrived on the scene, fresh from laying waste to many

of the planes at Wheeler Field. This second group of fighter pilots went

about their work with the same deadly precision exhibited at Wheeler

only minutes before. The raid caught master Technical Sergeant Darner's

crew in the middle of changing the tires on the station's ambulance.

Private First Class Mann, who by that point had managed to obtain some

ammunition for his rifle, dropped down with the rest of the Marines at

the garage and fired at the attacking fighters as they streaked by.




Lieutenant Kiyokuma Okajima led his six fighters down through the

rolling smoke, executing strafing attacks until ground fire holed the

forward fuel tank of his wingman, Petty Officer 1st Class Kazuo

Muranaka. When Okajima discovered the damage to Muranaka's plane, he

decided that his men had pressed their luck far enough, and began to

assemble his unit and shepherd them toward the rendezvous area some 10

miles west of Kaena Point. The retiring Japanese in all likelihood then

spotted incoming planes from Enterprise (CV-6), that had been

launched at 0618 to scout 150 miles ahead of the ship in nine two-plane

sections. Their planned flight path to Pearl was to take many of them

over Ewa Mooring Mast Field, where some would encounter Japanese

aircraft.




Meanwhile, back at Ewa, after what must have seemed an eternity, the

Zeroes of the first wave at last wheeled away toward their rendezvous

point. Having made a shambles of the Marine air base, Japanese pilots

claimed the destruction of 60 aircraft on the ground: Akagi's

airmen accounted for 11, Kaga's 15, Soryu's 12, and

Hiryu's 22. Their figures were not too far off the mark, for 47

aircraft of all types had been parked at the field at the beginning of

the onslaught, 33 of which had been fully operational.




Although the Japanese had wreaked havoc upon MAG-21's complement of

planes, the group's casualties seemed miraculously light. Apparently,

the enemy fighter pilots in the first wave maintained a fairly high

degree of discipline, eschewing attacks on people and concentrating

their attacks on machines. Many of Ewa's Marines, however, had parked

their cars near the center of the station. By the time the Japanese

departed, the parking lot resembled a junk yard of mangled automobiles

of various makes and models.




Overcoming the initial shock of the first strafing attack, Ewa's

Marines took stock of their situation. As soon as the last of Itaya's

and Shiga's Zeroes had departed, Marines went out and manned stations

with rifles and .30-caliber machine guns taken from damaged aircraft and

from the squadron ordnance rooms. Technical Sergeant William G. Turnage,

an armorer, supervised the setting up of the free machine guns.

Technical Sergeant Anglin, meanwhile, took his little boy to the guard

house, where a woman motorist agreed to drive Hank home to his mother.

As it would turn out, that reunion was not to be accomplished until much

later that day, "inasmuch as the distraught mother had already left home

to look for her son."




Master Technical Sergeant Emil S. Peters, a veteran of action in

Nicaragua, had, during the first attack, reported to the central

ordnance tent to lend a hand in manning a gun. By the time he arrived

there, however, there were none left to man. Then he saw a Douglas

SBD-2, one of two spares assigned to VMSB-232, parked behind the

squadron's tents. Enlisting the aid of Private William G. Turner,

VMSB-231's squadron clerk, Peters ran over to the ex-Lexington

machine that still bore her USN markings, 2-B-6, pulled the after canopy

forward, and clambered in the after cockpit, stepping hard on the foot

pedal to unship the free .30-caliber Browning from its housing in the

after fuselage, and then locking it in place. Turner, having obtained a

supply of belted ammunition, took his place on the wing as Peter's

assistant.








Elsewhere, nursing his painfully wounded finger and leg, Lieutenant

Colonel Larkin ordered extra guards posted on the perimeter of the filed

and on the various roads leading into the base. Men not engaged in

active defense went to work fighting the many fires. Drivers parked what

trucks and automobiles had remained intact on the runways to prevent any

possible landings by airborne troops. Although hardly transforming Ewa

into a fortress, the Marines ensured that they would be ready for any

future attack.
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At

their barracks, near the foundation of a swimming pool under

construction, three Marines gingerly seek out good vantage points from

which to fire, while two peer skyward, keeping their eyes peeled for

attacking Japanese planes. Headgear varies from Hawley helmet to

garrison cap to none, but the weapon is the same for all — the

Springfield 1903 rifle. Lord Collection, USMC







Undoubtedly, most of the men at Ewa expected — correctly —

that the Japanese would return. At about 0835, enemy planes again made

their appearance in the sky over Ewa, but this time, Marines stood or

crouched ready and waiting for what proved to be Lieutenant Commander

Takahashi's dive bombing unit from Shokaku, returning from its

attacks on the naval air station at Pearl Harbor and the Army's Hickam

Field, roaring in from just above the treetops. Initially, their targets

appeared to be the planes, but, seeing that most had already been

destroyed, the enemy pilots turned to strafing buildings and people in a

"heavy and prolonged" assault.
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Sgt

William G. Turnage enlisted in the Corps in 1931. Recommended for a

letter of commendation for his "efficient action" at Ewa Field on 7

December, he ultimately was awarded a Bronze Star. Marine Corps Historical

Collection







Better prepared than they had been when Lieutenant Commander Itaya's

Zeroes had opened the battle, Ewa's Marines met Takahashi's Vals with

heavy fire from rifles, Thompson submachine guns, .30-caliber machine

guns, and even pistols. In retaliation, after completing their strafing

runs, the Japanese pilots pulled up in steep wing-overs, allowing their

rear seat gunners to take advantage of the favorable deflection angle to

spray the defenders with 7.7-millimeter bullets. Marine observers later

recounted that Shokaku's planes also dropped light bombs, perhaps

of the 60-kilogram variety, as they counted five small craters on the

filed after the attack.




In response to the second onslaught, as they had in the first, all

available Marines threw themselves into the desperate defense of their

base. The additional strafing attacks started numerous fires within the

camp area, adding new columns of dense smoke to those still rising from

the planes on the parking apron. Unfortunately, the ground fire seemed

far more brave than accurate, because all of Shokaku's dive

bombers repeatedly zoomed skyward, seemingly unhurt. Even taking into

account possible damage sustained during attacks over Ford Island and

Hickam, only four of Takahashi's planes sustained any damage over Oahu

before they retired. The departure of Shokaku's Vals afforded

Lieutenant Colonel Larkin the opportunity to reorganize the camp

defenses. There was ammunition to be distributed, wounded men to be

succored, and seemingly innumerable fires burning amongst the tents,

buildings, and planes, to be extinguished.
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TSgt

Emil S. Peters, seen here on 11 October 1938, was a veteran of service

in Nicaragua and a little more than three weeks shy of his 48th birthday

when Japanese bombers attacked Ewa Field. Naval Historical Center Photo NH

102278







However, around 0930, yet another flight of enemy planes appeared

— about 15 Vals from Kaga and Hiryu. Although the

pilots of those planes had expended their 250-kilogram bombs on ships at

Pearl Harbor, they still apparently retained plenty of 7.7-millimeter

ammunition, and seemed determined to expend much of what remained upon

Ewa. As in the previous attacks by Shokaku's Vals, the last group

came in at very low altitude from just over the tops of the trees

surrounding the station. Quite taken by the high maneuverability of the

nimble dive bombers, which they were seeing at close hand for the second

time that day, the Marines mistook them for fighter aircraft with fixed

landing gear.




Around that time, Lieutenant Colonel Larkin saw an American plane and

a Japanese one collide in mid-air a short distance away from the field.

In all probability, Larkin saw Enterprise's Ensign John H.L.

Vogt's Dauntless collide with a Val. Vogt had become separated from his

section leader during the Pearl-bound flight in from the carrier, may

have circled offshore, and then arrived over Ewa in time to encounter

dive bombers from Kaga or Hiryu. Vogt and his passenger,

Radioman Third Class Sidney Pierce, bailed out of the SBD, but at too

low an altitude, for both died in the trees when their 'chutes failed to

deploy fully. Neither of the Japanese crewmen escaped from their Val

when it crashed.




Fortunately for the Marines, however, the last raid proved

comparatively "light and ineffectual," something Lieutenant Colonel

Larkin attributed to the heavy gunfire thrown skyward. The short respite

between the second and third strafing attacks had allowed Ewa's

defenders t bring all possible weapons to bear against the Japanese.

Technical Sergeant Turnage, after having gotten the base's machine guns

set up and ready for action, took over one of the mounts himself and

fired several bursts into the belly of one Val that began trailing smoke

and began to falter soon thereafter.




Turnage, however, was by no means the only Marine using his weapon to

good effect. Master Technical Sergeant Peters and Private Turner, from

their improvised position in the lamed SBD, had let fly at whatever Vals

came within range of their gun. The two Marines shot down what witnesses

thought were at least two of the attacking planes and discouraged

strafing in that area of the station. However, the Japanese soon tired

of the tenacious bravery of the grizzled veteran and the young clerk,

neither of whom flinched in the face of repeated strafing. Two

particular enemy pilots repeatedly peppered the grounded Dauntless with

7.7-millimeter fire, ultimately scoring hits near the cockpit area and

wounding both men. Turner toppled from the wing, mortally wounded.
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Sgt

Carlo A. Micheletto had turned 26 years old less than two months before

Japanese planes strafed Ewa. He was recommended for a letter of

commendation, but was awarded a Bronze Star. Marine Corps Historical

Collection







Another Marine who distinguished himself during the third strafing

attack was Sergeant Carlo A. Micheletto of Marine Utility Squadron (VMJ)

252. During the first Japanese attack that morning, Micheletto proceeded

at once to VMJ-252's parking area and went to work, helping in the

attempts to extinguish the fires that had broken out amongst the

squadron's parked utility planes. He continued in those labors until the

last strafing attack began. Putting aside his fire-fighting equipment

and grabbing a rifle, he took cover behind a small pile of lumber, and

heedless of the heavy machine-gunning, continued to fire at the

attacking planes until a burst of enemy fire struck him in the head and

killed him instantly.




Eventually, in an almost predictable way, the Japanese planes formed

up and flew off to the west, leaving the once neatly manicured Mooring

Mast Field smouldering. The Marines had barely had time to catch their

collective breath when, at 1000, almost as a capstone to the complete

chaos wreaked by the initial Japanese attack, seven more planes

arrived.




Their markings, however, were of a more familiar variety —

red-centered blue and white stars. The newcomers proved to be a group of

Dauntlesses from Enterprise, For the better part of an hour,

Lieutenant Wilmer E. Gallaher, executive officer of Scouting Squadron 6,

had circled fitfully over the Pacific swells south of Oahu, waiting for

the situation there to settle down. At about 0945, when he had seen that

the skies seemed relatively clear of Japanese planes, Gallaher decided

rather than face friendly fire over Pearl he would go to Ewa instead.

They had barely stopped on the strip, however, when a Marine ran out to

Gallaher's plane and yelled, "For God's sake, get into the air or

they'll strafe you, too!" Other Enterprise pilots likewise saw

ground crews frantically motioning for them to take off immediately.

Instructed to "take off and stay in the air until [the] air raid was

over," the Enterprise pilots took off and headed for Pearl

Harbor. Although all seven SBDs left Ewa, only three (Gallaher's, his

wingman, Ensign William P. West's, and Ensign Cleo J. Dobson's) would

make it as far as Ford Island. A tremendous volume of antiaircraft fire

over the harbor rose to meet what was thought to be yet another attack;

seeing the reception accorded Gallaher, West, and Dobson, the other four

pilots — Lieutenant (jg) Hart D. Hilton and Ensigns Carlton T.

Fogg, Edwin J. Kroeger, and Frederick T. Weber — wheeled around and

headed back to Ewa, landing around 1015 to find a far better reception

that time around. Within a matter of minutes, the Marines began rearming

and refueling Hilton's, Kroeger's and Weber's SBDs. The Marines

discovered that Fogg's Dauntless, though, had taken a hit that had holed

a fuel tank, and would require repairs.




Although it is unlikely that even one of the Ewa Marines thought so

at the time, even as they serviced the Enterprise SBDs which sat

on the landing mat, the Japanese raid on Oahu was over. Vice Admiral

Nagumo, already feeling that he had pushed his luck far enough, was

eager to get as far away from the waters north of Oahu as soon as

possible. At least for the time being, the Marines at Ewa had nothing to

fear.




Not privy to the musings of Nagumo and his staff, however, Lieutenant

Colonel Larkin could only wonder what the Marines would do should the

Japanese return. At 1025, he completed a glum assessment of the

situation and forwarded it to Admiral Kimmel. While casualties among the

Marines had been light — two men had been killed and several

wounded — the Japanese had destroyed "all bombing, fighting, and

transport planes" on the ground. Ewa had no radio communications, no

power, and only one small gas generator in commission. He also informed

the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, that he would retain the four

Enterprise planes at Ewa until further orders. Larkin also

notified Wheeler Field Control of the SBDs being held at his field.




At 1100, Wheeler called and directed all available planes to

rendezvous with a flight of B-17s over Hickam. Lieutenant (jg) Hilton

and the two ensigns from Bombing Squadron 6, Kroeger and Weber, took off

at 1115 and the Marines never heard from them again. Finding no Army

planes over Hickam (two flights of B-17s and Douglas A-20s had only just

departed) the three Navy pilots landed at Ford Island. Ensign Fogg's SBD

represented the sole naval strike capability at Ewa as the day

ended.




"They caught us flat-footed," Larkin unabashedly wrote Major General

Ross E. Rowell of the events of 7 December. Over the next few months,

Ewa would serve as the focal point for Marine aviation activities on

Oahu as the service acquired replacement aircraft and began rebuilding

to carry out the mission of standing ready to deploy with the fleet

wherever it was required.




They're Kicking the Hell Out of Pearl Harbor


Table of Contents


Although the Japanese accorded the battleships and air facilities

priority as targets for destruction on the morning of 7 December 1941,

it was natural that the onslaught touched the Marine Barracks at Pearl

Harbor Navy Yard as well.




Colonel William E. Farthing, Army Air Forces, commanding officer of

Hickam Field, thought that he was witnessing some very realistic

maneuvers shortly before 0800 that morning. From his vantage point,

virtually next door to the Navy Yard, Farthing watched what proved to be

six Japanese dive bombers swooping down toward Ford Island. he thought

that MAG-21's SB2Us or SBDs were out for an early morning practice hop.

"I wonder what the Marines are doing to the Navy so early Sunday?"
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Major Harold C. Roberts




Major Harold C. Roberts had earned a Navy Cross as a corpsman

assigned to Marines during World War I, and a second award in 1928 as a

Marine officer in Nicaragua. As acting commanding officer of the 3d

Defense Battalion at Pearl Harbor on 7 December, he was a veritable

dynamo, organizing it to battle the attacking Japanese. He was killed at

Okinawa in June 1945 while commanding the 22d Marines, but not before

his performance of duty had merited him the award of his third Navy

Cross.












Over at the Marine Barracks, the officer of the guard, Second

Lieutenant Arnold D. Swartz, after having inspected his sentries, had

retired to me officer-of-the-day's room to await breakfast. Stepping out

onto the lanai (patio) at about 0755 to talk to the field music about

morning colors, he noticed several planes diving in the direction of the

naval air station. He thought initially that it seemed a bit early for

practice bombing, but then saw a flash and heard the resulting explosion

that immediately dispelled any illusions he might have held that what he

was seeing was merely an exercise. Seeing a plane with "red balls" on

the wings roar by at low level convinced Swartz that Japanese planes

were attacking.




Over in the squadroom of Barracks B. First Lieutenant Harry F. Noyes,

Jr., the range officer for Battery E, 3-inch Antiaircraft Group, 3d

Defense Battalion, heard the sound of a loud explosion coming from the

direction of the harbor at about 0750. First assuming that blasting

crews were busy — there had been a lot of construction recently

— Noyes cocked his ears. The new sounds seemed a bit different,

"more higher-pitched, and louder." At that, he sprang from his bed, ran

across the room, and peered northward just in time to see a dirty column

of water rising from the harbor from another explosion and a Japanese

plane pulling out of its dive. The plane, bearing red hinomaru

(rising sun insignia) under its wings, left no doubt as to its

identity.
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Col

William J. Whaling, seen here circa 1945, was an observer to the Pearl

Harbor attack, being awakened from slumber while staying in Col Gilder

Jackson's quarters on the morning of 7 December. Department of Defense

Photo (USMC) 65746







The explosions likewise awakened Lieutenant Colonel William J.

Whaling and Major James "Jerry" Monaghan who, while Colonel Gilder D.

Jackson, commanding officer of the Marine Barracks, was at sea in

Indianapolis (CA-35) en route to Johnston Island for tests of

Higgins landing boats, shared his quarters at Pearl Harbor. Shortly

before 0800, Whaling rolled over and asked: "Jerry, don't you think the

Admiral is a little bit inconsiderate of guests?" Monaghan, then also

awake, replied: "I'll go down and see about it." Whaling, meanwhile,

lingered in bed until more blasts rattled the quarters' windows.

Thinking that he had not seen any 5-inch guns emplaced close to the

building, and that something was wrong, he got up and walked over to the

window that faced the harbor. Looking out, he saw smoke, and, turning,

remarked: "This thing is so real that I believe that's an oil tank

burning right in front there." Both men then dressed and hurried across

the parade ground, where they encountered Lieutenant Colonel Elmer E.

Hall, commanding officer of the 2d Engineer Battalion. "Elmer," Whaling

said amiably, "this is a might fine show you are putting on. I have

never seen anything quite like it."




Meanwhile, Swartz ordered the field music to sound "Call to Arms."

Then, running into the officers' section of the mess hall, Swartz

informed the officer-of-the-day, First Lieutenant Cornelius C. Smith,

Jr., who had been enjoying a cup of coffee with Marine Gunner Floyd

McCorkle when sharp blasts had rocked the building, that the Japanese

were attacking. Like Swartz, they ran out onto the lanai. Standing

there, speechless, they watched the first enemy planes diving on Ford

Island.




Marines began to stumble, eyes wide in disbelief, from the barracks.

Some were lurching, on the run, into pants and shirts; a few wore only

towels. Swartz then ordered one of the platoon sergeants to roust out

the men and get them under cover of the trees outside. Smith, too, then

ran outside to he parade ground. As he looked at the rising smoke and

the Japanese planes, he doubted those who had derided the "Japs" as

"cross-eyed, second-rate pilots who couldn't hit the broad side of a

barn door." It was enough to turn his stomach. "They're kicking the hell

out of Pearl Harbor," he thought.




Meanwhile, unable to reach Colonel Harry B. Pickett, the 14th Naval

District Marine Officer, as well as Colonel Jackson, and Captain Samuel

R. Shaw, commanding officer of Company A, by telephone, Swartz sent

runners to the officers' respective quarters. He then ordered a

noncommissioned officer from the quartermaster department to dispense

arms and ammunition.




While Swartz organized the men beneath the trees outside the

barracks, Lieutenant Noyes dressed and then drove across the parade

ground to Building 277, arriving about 0805. At the same time, like

Swartz, First Lieutenant James S. O'Halloran, the 3d Defense Battalion's

duty officer and commanding officer of Battery F, 3-inch Antiaircraft

Group, wanted to get in touch with his senior officers. After having had

"assembly" sounded and signalling his men to take cover, O'Halloran

ordered Marine Gunner Frederick M. Steinhauser, the assistant battalion

communications officers, to telephone all of the officers who resided

outside the reservation and inform them of the attack.




In Honolulu, mustachioed Major Harold C. Roberts, acting commanding

officer of the 3d Defense Battalion since Lieutenant Colonel Robert H.

Pepper had accompanied Colonel Jackson to sea in Indianapolis,

after taking Steinhauser's call with word of the bombing of Pearl,

jumped into his car along with his neighbor, Major Kenneth W. Benner,

commanding officer of the 3-inch Antiaircraft Group and the Headquarters

and Service Battery of the 3d Defense Battalion. As Roberts' car crept

through the heavy traffic toward Pearl, the two officers could see

Japanese aircraft flying along the coast. When they reached the Water

Street Fish Market, a large crowd of what seemed to be "Japanese

residents ... cheering the Japanese planes, waving to them, and trying

to obstruct traffic to Pearl Harbor by pushing parked cars into the

street" blocked their way.




Meanwhile, as his acting battalion commander was battling his way

through Honolulu's congested streets, O'Halloran was organizing his

Marines as they poured out of the barracks into groups to break out

small arms and machine guns from the various battalion storerooms. After

Harry Noyes drove up, O'Halloran told him to do what he could to get the

3-inch guns, and fire control equipment, if available, broken out and

set up, and then instructed other Marines to "get tractors and start

hauling guns to the parade ground." Another detail of men hurried off to

recover an antiaircraft director that lay crated and ready for shipment

to Midway.




Marines continued to stream out onto the grounds, having been ordered

out of the barracks with their rifles and cartridge belts; they doubled

the sentry posts and received instructions to stand ready and armed, to

deploy in an emergency. Noyes saw some Marines who had not been assigned

any tasks commencing fire on enemy planes "which were considerably out

of range." At the main gate of the Navy Yard, the Marines fired at

whatever planes came close enough — sailors from the high-speed

minelayer Sicard (DM-21), en route to their ship, later attested

to seeing one Japanese plane shot down by the guards' rifle fire.




Tai Sing Loo, who was to have photographed those guards at the new

gate, had left Honolulu in a hurry when he heard the sound of explosions

and gunfire, and saw the rising columns of smoke. He arrived at the

naval reservation without his Graflex and soon marveled at the cool

bravery of the "young, fighting Marines" who stood their ground, under

fire, blazing away at enemy planes with rifles while keeping traffic

moving.




Finally, the more senior officers quartered outside the reservation

began showing up. When Colonel Pickett arrived, Lieutenant Swartz

returned to he officer-of-the-day's room and found that Captain Shaw had

reached there also. Securing from his position as officer of the guard,

Swartz returned to his 3-inch gun battery being set up near Building

277. Ordering Marines out of the building, he managed to obtain a steel

helmet and a pistol each for himself and Lieutenant O'Halloran. Captain

Samuel G. Taxis, commanding officer of the 3d Defense Battalion's 5-inch

Artillery Group, meanwhile, witnessed "terrific confusion" ensuing from

his men's efforts to obtain "ammunition, steel helmets, and other items

of equipment."
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Smoke darkens the sky over the Marine Barracks complex

at the Pearl Harbor Navy Yard; Marine in foreground appears to be

holding his head in disbelief. Marines at far left in background appear

to be unlimbering a 3-inch antiaircraft gun. Naval Historical Center Photo NH

50926







Meanwhile, the comparatively few Marines of Lieutenant Colonel Bert

A. Bone's 1st Defense Battalion — most of which garrisoned Wake,

Johnston, and Palmyra — made their presence felt. Urged on by

Lieutenant Noyes, one detail of men immediately reported to the

battalion gun shed and storerooms, and issued rifles and ammunition to

all comers, while another detachment worked feverishly assembling

machine guns. Navy Yard workmen — enginemen Lokana Kipihe and

Oliver Bright, fireman Gerard Williams, and rigger Ernest W. Birch

— appeared, looking for some way to help the Marines, who soon put

them to work distributing ammunition to the machine gun crews. Soon, the

Marines at the barracks added the staccato hammering of automatic

weapons fire to the general din around them. Meanwhile, other Marines

from the 1st Defense Battalion broke out firefighting equipment, as

shrapnel from exploding antiaircraft shells began to strike the roof of

the barracks and adjacent buildings.




At about 0820, Majors Roberts and Benner reached the Marine Barracks

just in time to observe the beginning of the Japanese second wave

attacks against Pearl. Robert found that Lieutenant O'Halloran had

gotten the 3d Battalion ready for battle, with seven .50-caliber and six

.30-caliber machine guns set up and with ammunition belted. Under

Captain Harry O. Smith, Jr., commanding officer of Battery H. Machine

Gun Group, 3d Defense Battalion, the 3d's Marine gunners had already

claimed one Japanese plane shot down. Lieutenant Noyes was, meanwhile,

in the process of deploying seven 3-inch guns — three on the west

end of the parade ground and four on the east.




Sergeant Major Leland H. Alexander, of the Headquarters and Service

Battery of the 3d Defense Battalion, suggested to Lieutenant O'Halloran

that an armed convoy be organized to secure ammunition for the guns, as

none was available in the Navy Yard proper. Roberts gave Alexander

permission to put together the requisite trucks, weapons, and men,

Lieutenant Colonel Bone had the same idea, and, accordingly dispatched a

truck at 0830 to the nearest ammunition dump near Fort Kamehameha. Bone

ordered another group of men from the 5-inch battery to me Naval

Ammunition Depot at Lualualei just in case. he hoped that at least one

truck would get through the maelstrom of traffic. Marines from the 2d

Engineer Battalion made ammunition runs as well as provided men and

motorcycles for messengers.






Meanwhile, Roberts directed Major Benner to have the 3d Battalion's

guns operational before the ammunition trucks returned, and to set the

fuzes for 1,000 yards, since the guns lacked the necessary

height-finding equipment. The makeshift emplacements, however, presented

less than ideal firing positions since the barracks and nearby yard

buildings restricted the field of fire, and many of the low-flying

planes appeared on the horizon only for an instant.




Necessity often being the mother of invention, Roberts devised an

impromptu fire control system, stationing a warning section of eight

men, equipped with field glasses and led by Lieutenant Swartz, in the

center of the parade ground. The spotters were to pass the word to a

group of field musics who, using their instruments, were to sound

appropriate warnings: one blast meant planes approaching from the north;

two blasts, from the east, and so on.




Taking precautions against fires in the temporary wooden barracks,

Roberts ordered hoses run out and extinguishers placed in front of them,

along with shovels, axes, and buckets of sand (the latter to deal with

incendiary bombs); hose reel and chemical carts placed near the center

hydrant near the mess hall; and all possible containers filled with

water for both fighting fires and drinking. In addition, he ordered

cooks and messmen to prepare coffee and fill every other container on

hand with water, and organized riflemen in groups of about 16 to sit on

the ground with an officer or noncommissioned officer in charge to

direct their fire. He also called for runners from all groups in the

battalion and established his command post at the parade ground's south

corner, and ordered the almost 150 civilians who had showed up looking

for ways to help out to report to the machine gun storeroom and fill

ammunition belts and clean weapons. Among other actions, he also

instructed the battalion sergeant major to be ready to safeguard

important papers from the headquarters barracks.




Prior to Roberts' arrival, Lieutenant (j.g.) William R. Franklin

(Dental Corps), USN, the dental officer for the 3d Defense Battalion's

Headquarters and Service Battery, and the only medical officer present,

had organized first aid and stretcher parties in the barracks. As the

other doctors arrived, Roberts directed them to set up dressing stations

at each battalion headquarters and one at sick bay. Elsewhere, Marines

vacated one 100-man temporary barracks, the noncommissioned officer's

club and the post exchange, to ready them for casualties. Parties of

Marines also reported to the waterfront area to assist in collecting and

transporting casualties from the ships in the harbor to the Naval

Hospital.




By the time the Marines had gotten their new fire precautions in

place, the Japanese second wave attack was in full swing. Although their

pilots selected targets exclusively from among the Pacific Fleet

warships, the Marines at the barracks in the Navy Yard still were able

to take the Japanese planes, most of which seemed to be coming in from

the west and southwest, under fire. While Marines were busily setting up

the 3-inch guns, several civilian yard workmen grabbed up rifles and

"brought their fire to bear upon the enemy," allowing Swartz's men to

continue their work.




The Japanese eventually put Major Roberts' ingenious fire control

methods — the field musics — to the test. After hearing four

hearty blasts from the bandsmen, the .50-calibers began hammering out

cones of tracer that caught two low-flying dive bombers as they pulled

out of their runs over Pearl, prompting Roberts' fear that the ships

would fire at them, too, and hit the barracks. One Val slanted earthward

near what appeared to be either the west end of the lower tank farm or

the south end of the Naval Hospital reservation, while the other,

emitting great quantities of smoke, crashed west-southwest of the parade

ground.




Although the Marines' success against their tormentors must have

seemed sweet indeed, a skeptical Captain Taxis thought it more likely

that the crews of the two Vals bagged by the machine gunners had just

run out of luck. Most of the firing, in his opinion, had been quite

ineffectual, mostly "directed at enemy planes far beyond range of the

weapons and merely fired into the air at no target at all." Gunners on

board the fleet's warships were faring little better!
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Oily

smoke from the burning Arizona (BB-39) boils up in the background

beyond the Navy Yard water towers, one of them, in center, signal-flag

bedecked. Note several Marines attempting to deploy a 3-inch

antiaircraft gun in the foreground. Naval Historical Center Photo NH

50928







Almost simultaneously with the dive-bombing attacks, horizontal

bombing attacks began. Major Roberts noted that the 18 bombers "flew in

two Vees of nine planes each in column of Vees and [that] they kept a

good formation." At least some of those planes appeared to have bombed

the battleship Pennsylvania and the destroyers Cassin and

Downes in Dry Dock No. 1. In the confusion, however, Roberts

probably saw two divisions of Kates from Zuikaku preparing for

their attack runs on Hickam Field. A single division of such planes from

Shokaku, meanwhile, attacked the Navy Yard and the Naval Air

Station.




Well removed from the barracks, Marines assigned to the Navy Yard's

Fire Department rendered invaluable assistance in leading critical

fire-fighting efforts. Heading the department, Sergeant Harold F. Abbott

supervised the distribution of the various units, and coordinated the

flood of volunteers who stepped forward to help.




One of Abbott's men, Private First Class Marion M. Milbrandt, with

his 1,000-gallon pumper, summoned to the Naval Hospital grounds, found

that one of Kaga's Kates — struck by machine gun fire from

the ships moored in the Repair Basin — had crashed near there. The

resulting fire, fed by the crashed plane's gasoline, threatened the

facility, but Milbrandt and his crew controlled the blaze.








Antiaircraft Gun Fired to a Range of 14,500 Yards




A 5-inch/25-caliber open pedestal mount antiaircraft gun —

manned here by sailors on board the heavy cruiser Astoria (CA-34)

in early 1942 — was the standard battleship and heavy cruiser

antiaircraft weapon at Pearl Harbor. The mount itself weighed more than

20m000 pounds, while the gun fired a 53.8-pound projectile to a maximum

range (at 45 degrees elevation) of 14,500 yards. It was a weapon such as

this that Sergeants Hailey and Wears, and Private First Class Curran,

after the sinking of their ship, Oklahoma (BB-37), helped man on

board Maryland (BB-46) on 7 December 1941.
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Other Marine firefighters were hard at work alongside Dry Dock No. 1.

Pennsylvania had not been the only ship not fully ready for war,

since she lay immobile at one end of the drydock. Downes lay in

the dock, undergoing various items of work, while Cassin had been

having ordnance alterations at the Yard and thus had none of her

5-inch/38s ready for firing. Both destroyers soon came in for some

unwanted attention.








As bombs turned the two destroyers into cauldrons of flames and their

crews abandoned ship, two sailors from Downes, meanwhile,

sprinted over to me Marine Barracks: Gunner's Mate First Class Michael

G. Odietus and Gunner's Mate Second Class Curtis P. Schulze. After the

order to abandon ship had been given, both had, on their own initiative,

gone to the Marine Barracks to assist in the distribution of arms and

ammunition. They soon returned, however, each gunner's mate with a

Browning Automatic Rifle in hand, to do his part in fighting back.




Utilizing three of the department's pumpers, meanwhile, the first

firefighters from the yard, who included Corporal John Gimson, Privates

First Class William M. Brashear, William A. Hopper, Peter Kerdikes,

Frank W. Feret, Marvin D. Dallman, and Corporal Milbrandt, among them

soon arrived and began to play water on the burning ships. At about

0915, four torpedo warheads on board Downes cooked off and

exploded, the concussion tearing the hoses from the hands of the men

fighting the blaze and sending fragments everywhere, temporarily forcing

all hands to retreat to the nearby road and sprawl there. Knocked flat

several times by the explosions, the Marines and other firefighters,

which included men from Cassin and Downes, and civilian

yard workmen, remained on the job.




Explosions continued to wrack the two destroyers, while subsequent

partial flooding of the dock caused Cassin to pivot on her

forefoot and heel over onto her sister ship. Working under the direction

of Lieutenant William R. Spear, a 57-year-old retired naval officer

called to he colors, the firemen were understandably concerned that the

oil fires burning in proximity to the two destroyers might drift aft in

the partially flooded dry dock and breach the caisson, unleashing a wall

of water that would carry Pennsylvania (three of whose four

propeller shafts had been pulled for overhaul) down upon the burning

destroyers. Preparing for that eventuality, Private First Class Don O.

Femmer, in charge of the 750-gallon pumper, stood ready should the

conflagration spread to the northeast through the dock.




Fortunately, circumstances never required Femmer and his men to

defend the caisson from fire, but the young private had more than his

share of troubles, when his pumper broke down at what could have been a

critical moment. Undaunted, Femmer made temporary repairs and stood his

ground at the caisson throughout the raid.




At the opposite end of the dry dock, meanwhile, Private First Class

Omar E. Hill fared little better with his 500-gallon pumper. As if the

fire fighting labors were not arduous enough, a ruptured circulating

water line threatened to shut down his fire engine. Holding a rag on the

broken line while his comrades raced away to obtain spare parts, Hill

kept his pumper in the battle.




Meanwhile, firefighters on the west side of the dock succeeded in

passing three hoses to men on Pennsylvania's forecastle, where

they directed blasts of water ahead of the ship and down the starboard

side to prevent the burning oil, which resembled a "seething cauldron,"

from drifting aft. A second 500-gallon engine crew, led by Private First

Class Dallman, battled the fires at the southwest end of the drydock,

despite the suffocating oily black smoke billowing forth from

Cassin and Downes. Eventually, by 1035, the Marines and

other volunteers — who included the indomitable Tai Sing Loo —

had succeeded in quelling the fires on board Cassin; those on

board Downes were put out early that afternoon.
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While firefighters train massive jets of water from

dockside at left, Shaw (DD-373) burns in the Floating Drydock YFD

2, after being hit by three bombs. Tug Sotoyomo (YT-9), with

which Shaw has been sharing the drydock, is barely visible ahead

of the crippled destroyer. Marines led these firefighting efforts on 7

December 1941. National Archives Photo 80-G-32739







More work, however, lay in store for Corporal Milbrandt and his crew.

Between 0755 and 0900, three Vals had attacked the destroyer Shaw

(DD-373), which shared YFD-2 with the little yard tug

Sotoyomo. All three scored hits. Fires ultimately reached

Shaw's forward magazines and triggered an explosion that sent

tendrils of smoke into the sky and severed the ship's bow. Several other

volunteer units were already battling the blaze with hose carts and two

350-gallon pumpers sent in from Honolulu. Milbrandt, aided as well by

the Pan American Airways fire boat normally stationed at Pearl City,

ultimately succeeded in extinguishing the stricken destroyer's

fires.




In the meantime, after having pounded the military installations on

Oahu for nearly two hours, between 0940 and 1000 the Japanese planes

made their way westward to return to the carrier decks from whence they

had arisen. With the respite offered by the enemy's departure (no one

knew for sure whether or not they would be back), the Marines at last

found time to take stock of their situation. Fortunately, the Marine

Barracks lay some distance away from what had interested the Japanese

the most: the ships in the harbor proper. Although some "shell fragments

literally rained at times" the material loss sustained by the barracks

was slight. Moreover, it had been American gunfire from the ships in the

harbor, rather than bombs from Japanese planes overhead, that had

inflicted the damage; at one point that morning a 3-inch antiaircraft

shell crashed through the roof of a storehouse — the only damage

sustained by the barracks during the entire attack.




Considering the carnage at the airfields on Oahu, and especially,

among the units of the Pacific Fleet, only four men of the 3d Defense

Battalion had been wounded: Sergeant Samuel H. Cobb, Jr., of the 3d

Defense Battalion's 3-inch Antiaircraft Group, suffered head injuries

serious enough to warrant his being transferred to the Naval Hospital

for treatment, while Private First Class Jules B. Maioran and Private

William J. Whitcomb of the Machine Gun Group and Sergeant Leo Hendricks

II, of the Headquarters and Service Battery, suffered less serious

injuries. In addition, two men sent with the trucks to find ammunition

for the 3-inch batteries suffered injuries when they fell off the

vehicles.
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In

the aftermath of the attack, Pennsylvania (BB-38) lies astern of

the wrecked destroyers Cassin (DD-372) and Downes (DD-375)

in Dry Dock No. 1. Light cruiser Helena (CL-50) lies alongside

1010 Dock in right background; pall of smoke is from the still-burning

Arizona (BB-39). Marine firefighters distinguished themselves in

battling blazes in this area. National Archives Photo 80-G-19943







In their subsequent reports, the defense battalion and barracks

officers declined to single out individuals, noting no outstanding

individual behavior during the raid — only the steady discharge of

duty expected of Marines. To be sure, great confusion existed,

especially at first, but the command quickly settled down to work and

"showed no more than the normal excitement and no trace of panic or even

uneasiness." If anything, the Marines tended to place themselves at risk

unnecessarily, as they went about their business coolly and, in many

cases, "in utter disregard of their own safety." Major Roberts

recommended that the entire 3d Defense Battalion be commended for "their

initiative, coolness under fire, and [the] alacrity with which they

emplaced their guns."




Commendations, however, were not the order of the day on 7 December.

Although the Japanese had left, the Marines expected them to return and

finish the job they had begun (many Japanese pilots, including Fuchida,

wanted to do just that). If another attack was to come, there was much

to do to prepare for it. As the skies cleared of enemy planes, the

marines at the barracks secured their establishment and took steps to

complete the work already begun on the defenses. At 1030, the 3d Defense

Battalion's corporal of the guard moved to the barracks and set the

battalion's radio to he Army Information Service frequency, thus

enabling them to pass "flash" messages to all groups. The Marines also

distributed gas masks to all hands.




The morning and afternoon passed quickly, the men losing track of

time. The initial confusion experienced during the opening moments of

the raid had by that point given way to at least some semblance of

order, as officers and noncoms arrived from leave and began to sort out

their commands. At 1105, the 3d Defense Battalion's Battery G deployed

to makeshift defense positions as an infantry reserve in some ditches

dug for building foundations. All of the messmen, many of whom had taken

an active hand in the defense of the barracks against the Japanese

attack, returned to the three general mess halls and opened up an

around-the-clock service to all comers, including "about 6,000 meals ...

to the civilian workmen of the navy yard," a service discontinued only

"after the food supply at the regular established eating places could be

replenished."




By 1100, at least some of the 3-inch batteries were emplaced and

ready to answer any future Japanese raids. At the north end of the

parade ground, the 3d Defense Battalion's Battery D stood ready for

action at 1135 while another battery, consisting of three guns and an

antiaircraft director (the one originally earmarked for Midway) lay at

the south end. At 1220, Major Roberts organized his battalion's strength

into six task groups. Task group no. 1 was to double the Navy Yard guard

force, no. 2 was to provide antiaircraft defense, and no. 3 was to

provide machine gun defense. no. 4 was to provide infantry reserve and

firefighting crews, no. 5 was to coordinate transportation, and no. 6

was to provide ammunition and equipment, as well as messing and

billeting support.




By 1300, meanwhile, all of the fires in Dry Dock No. 1 had been

extinguished, permitting the Marine and civilian firefighters to secure

their hard-worked equipment. Although the two battered destroyers,

Cassin and Downes, appeared to be total losses, those who

had battled the blaze could take great satisfaction in knowing that they

had not only spared Pennsylvania from serious fire damage but had

also played a major role in saving the drydock. As Tai Sing Loo

recounted later in his own brand of English: "The Marines of the Fire

Dep[artmen]t of the Navy Yard are the Heroes of the Day of Dec. 7, 1941

that save the Cassin and Downes and USS

Pennsylvania in Dry Dock No. 1."




Later that afternoon, Battery D's four officers and 68 enlisted men,

with four .30-caliber machine guns sent along with them for good

measure, moved from the barracks over to Hickam Field to provide the

Army installation some measure of antiaircraft protection. Hickam also

benefitted from the provision of the 2d Engineer Battalion's service and

equipment. After the attack, the battalion's dump truck and two

bulldozers lumbered over to he stricken air base to assist in clearing

what remained of the bombers that had been parked wingtip to wingtip,

and filling bomb craters.




Around 1530, a Marine patrol approached Tai Sing Loo, a familiar

figure about the Navy Yard, and asked him to do them a favor. They had

had no lunch; some had had no breakfast because of the events of the

day. Going to the garage, Loo rode his bright red "putput" over to the

3d Defense Battalion mess hall and related to his old friend Technical

Sergeant Joseph A. Newland the tale of the hungry Marines. Newland and

his messmen prepared ham and chicken sandwiches and Loo made the rounds

of all the posts he could reach.




In the afternoon and early evening hours of 7 December, the men

received reports that their drinking water was poisoned, and that

various points on Oahu were being bombed and/or invaded. In the absence

of any real news, such alarming reports — especially when added to

the already nervous state of the defenders — only fueled the fear

and paranoia prevalent among all ranks and rates. In addition, most of

the men were exhausted after their exertions of the morning and

afternoon. Dog-tired, many would remain on duty for 36 hours without

relief. Drawn, unshaven faces and puffy eyes were common. Tense,

expectant and anxious Marines and sailors at Pearl spent a fitful night

on the 7th.
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Tai Sing Loo and His Bright Red 'Putput'





Tai Sing Loo, Navy Yard photographer, had scheduled an appointment to

take a picture of the Main Gate guards at the Navy Yard on the morning

of 7 December 1941. While he ended up not taking pictures of the

Marines, he gallantly helped the Marines of the Navy Yard Fire

Department put out fires in Dry Dock No. 1 and later delivered food to

famished Leathernecks. He is seen here on his famous bright red "putput"

that he drove around the yard that day delivering sandwiches and fruit

juice.









It is little wonder that mistakes would be made that would have

tragic consequences, especially in the stygian darkness of that first

blacked-out Hawaiian night following the raid. Still some hours away

from Oahu, the carrier Enterprise and her air group had been

flying searches and patrols throughout the day, in a so-far fruitless

effort to locate the Japanese carrier force. South of Oahu, one of her

pilots spotted what he thought was a Japanese ship and Enterprise

launched a 31-plane strike at 1652. Nagumo's fleet, however, was

homeward bound. While Enterprise recovered the torpedo planes and

dive bombers after their fruitless search, she directed the fighters to

land at NAS Pearl Harbor.




Machine guns on board the battleship Pennsylvania opened fire

on the flight as it came for a landing, through, and soon the entire

harbor exploded into a fury of gunfire as cones of tracers converged on

the incoming "Wildcats." Three of the F4Fs slanted earthward almost

immediately; a fourth crashed a short time later. Two managed to land at

Ford Island. The 3d Defense Battalion's journalist later recorded that

"six planes with running lights under 4500 feet altitude tried Ford

Island landing and were machine gunned." It was a tragic footnote to

what had been a terrible day indeed.




The Marines at Pearl Harbor had been surprised by the attack that

descended upon them, but they rose to the occasion and fought back in

the "best traditions of the naval service." While the enemy had attacked

with tenacity and daring, no less so was the response from the Marines

on board the battleships and cruisers, at Ewa Mooring Mast Field, and at

the Marine Barracks. One can only think that Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto's

worst fears of America's "terrible resolve" and that he had awakened a

sleeping giant would have been confirmed if he could have peered into

the faces, so deeply etched with grim determination, of the Marines who

had survived the events of that December day in 1941.






Pearl Harbor Remembered


Several of the many memoirs in the Marine Corps Oral History

Collection are by Marines who were serving at Pearl Harbor on 7 December

1941, and personally witnessed the Japanese attack. Two such memoirs

— one by Lieutenant General Alan Shapley and a second by Brigadier

General Samuel R. Shaw — vividly describe the events of that day as

they remembered it. General Shapley, a major in December 1941, had been

relieved as commander of Arizona's Marine detachment on the 6th.

He recalled:








I was just finishing my breakfast, and I was just about ready to go

to my room and get in my baseball uniform to play the Enterprise

for the baseball championship of the United States Fleet, and I heard

this terrible bang and crash. I thought it was a motor sailer that they

dropped on the fantail, and I ran up there to see what it was all about.

When I got up on deck there, the sailors were aligned on the railing

there, looking towards Pearl Harbor, and I heard two or three of them

say, 'This is the best damned drill the Army Air Corps has ever put on.'

Then we saw a destroyer being blown up in the dry dock across the

way.




The first thing I knew was when the fantail, which was wood, was

being splintered when we were being strafed by machine guns. And then

there was a little bit of confusion, and I can remember this because

they passed the word on ship that all unengaged personnel get below the

third deck. you see, in a battleship the third deck is the armored deck,

and so realizing what was going on, this attack and being strafed, the

unengaged personnel were ordered below the third deck.




That started some people going down the ladders. Then right after

that, the Pennsylvania, which was the flagship of the whole

fleet, put up these signals, "Go to general quarters." So that meant

that the people were going the other way too. Lt [Carleton E.] Simensen

did quite a job of turning some of the sailors around, and we went up in

the director. [On the way up the mainmast tripod, Lt Simensen was

killed.] He caught a burst through the heart and almost knocked me off

the tripod because I was behind him on the ladder, and I boosted him up

in the searchlight platform and went in to my director. And of course

when I got up there, there were only seven or eight men there, and I

thought we were all going to get cooked to death because I couldn't see

anything but fire below after a while. I stayed there and watched this

whole attack, because I had a grandstand seat for that, and then it got

pretty hot. Anyway, the wind was blowing from the stern to the stem and

I sent the men down and got those men off. Then I apparently got knocked

off or blown off.




I was pretty close to shore ... There was a dredging pipeline that

ran between the ship and Ford Island. And I guess that I was only about

25 yards from the pipeline and 10 yards from Ford Island, and managed to

get ashore. I wasn't so much covered with oil. I didn't have any clothes

on. [The burning fuel oil] burnt all my clothes off. I walked up to the

airfield which wasn't very bright of me, because this was still being

attacked at first. I wanted to get a machine gun in the administration

building but I couldn't do that. Then I was given a boat cloak from one

of my men. It was quite a sight to see 400 or 500 men walking around all

burnt, just like charred steak. you could just see their eyes and their

mouths. It was terrible. Later I sent over to he island and went to the

Marine barracks and got some clothes.









At the Marine Barracks, Captain Samuel R. Shaw, who commanded one of

the two barracks companies, vividly remembered that Sunday morning as

well:








The boat guards were in place, and the music was out there, and the

old and new officer of the day. And we had a music, and a hell of a fine

sergeant bugler who had been in Shanghai. He would stand beside the

officers of the day, and there came the airplanes, and he looked up and

he said, "Captain, those are Japanese war planes." And one of the two of

them said, "My God, they are, sound the call to arms." So the bugler

started sounding the call to arms before the first bomb hit.




Of course they had already started taking out the machine guns. They

didn't wait for the key in the OD's office, they just broke the door

down and hauled out the machine guns, put them in position. Everybody

that wasn't involved in that drill grabbed their rifles and ran out in

the parade ground, and started firing at the airplanes. They must have

had several hundred men out there with rifles. And every [Japanese]

plane that was recovered there, or pieces of it, had lots of .30-caliber

holes — somebody was hitting them, machine guns or rifles.




Then I remembered — here we had all these guys on the post who

had not been relieved, and they had been posted at 4 o'clock, and come 9

o'clock, 9:30 they not only had not been relieved but had no chow and no

water. So I got hold of the mess sergeant and told him to organize, to

go around to the posts.




They had a depot. At the beginning it was a supply depot. I told him

to send a party over there and draw a lot of canteens and make

sandwiches, and we'd send water and sandwiches around to he guys on

posts until we found out some way to relieve all these guys, and get

people back. Then he told me that it was fine except that he didn't have

nearly enough messmen, they were all out in the parade ground shooting.

I think the second phase of planes came in at that time and we had a

hell of an uproar.
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      Col Walter L. J. Bayler, reputedly “the last Marine off Wake” in December 1941, is the first to set foot on the island in 1945. (Department of Defense [USMC] Photo 133688)
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  It is Monday, 8 December 1941. On Wake Island, a tiny sprung paper-clip in the Pacific between Hawaii and Guam, Marines of the 1st Defense Battalion are starting another day of the backbreaking war preparations that have gone on for weeks. Out in the triangular lagoon formed by the islets of Peale, Wake, and Wilkes, the huge silver Pan American Airways Philippine Clipper flying boat roars off the water bound for Guam. The trans-Pacific flight will not be completed.




  Word of war comes around 0700. Captain Henry S. Wilson, Army Signal Corps, on the island to support the flight ferry of B-17 Flying Fortresses from Hawaii to the Philippines, half runs, half walks toward the tent of Major James P. S. Devereux, commander of the battalion’s Wake Detachment. Captain Wilson reports that Hickam Field in Hawaii has been raided.




  Devereux immediately orders a “Call to Arms.” He quickly assembles his officers, tells them that war has come, that the Japanese have attacked Oahu, and that Wake “could expect the same thing in a very short time.”




  Meanwhile, the senior officer on the atoll, Commander Winfred S. Cunningham, Officer in Charge, Naval Activities, Wake, learned of the Japanese surprise attack as he was leaving the mess hall at the contractors’ cantonment (Camp 2) on the northern leg of Wake. He ordered the defense battalion to battle stations, but allowed the civilians to go on with their work, figuring that their duties at sites around the atoll provided good dispersion. He then contacted John B. Cooke, PanAm’s airport manager and requested that he recall the Philippine Clipper. Cooke sent the prearranged code telling John H. Hamilton, the captain of the Martin 130 flying boat, of the outbreak of war.




  Marines from Camp 1, on the southern leg of Wake, were soon embarked in trucks and moving to their stations on Wake, Wilkes, and Peale islets. Marine Gunner Harold C. Borth and Sergeant James W. Hall climbed to the top of the camp’s water tower and manned the observation post there. In those early days radar was new and not even set up on Wake, so early warning was dependent on keen eyesight. Hearing might have contributed elsewhere, but on the atoll the thunder of nearby surf masked the sound of aircraft engines until they were nearly overhead. Marine Gunner John Hamas, the Wake Detachment’s munitions officer, unpacked Browning automatic rifles, Springfield ’03 rifles, and ammunition for issue to the civilians who had volunteered for combat duty. That task completed, Hamas and a working party picked up 75 cases of hand grenades for delivery around the islets. Soon thereafter, other civilians attached themselves to Marine Fighting Squadron (VMF) 211, which had been on Wake since 4 December.




  Offshore, neither Triton (SS 201) nor Tambor (SS 198), submarines that had been patrolling offshore since 25 November, knew of developments on Wake or Oahu. They both had been submerged when word was passed and thus out of radio communication with Pearl Harbor. The transport William Ward Burrows (AP 6), which had left Oahu bound for Wake on 27 November, learned of the Japanese attack on Pearl while she was still 425 miles from her destination. She was rerouted to Johnston Island.
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      National Archives Photo 80-G-451195






 

      A May 1941 photo taken from the northeast, from a Navy Catalina flying boat, reveals the Wake Island coral atoll in the mid-Pacific beneath broken clouds. Wishbone-shaped Wake proper lies at left, as yet unmarked by construction of the airfield there. The upper portion of the photo shows Wilkes; at right is Peale, joined to Wake by a causeway.


   




  Major Paul A. Putnam, VMF-211’s commanding officer, and Second Lieutenant Henry G. Webb had conducted the dawn aerial patrol and landed by the time the squadron’s radiomen, over at Wake’s airfield, had picked up word of an attack on Pearl Harbor. Putnam immediately sent a runner to tell his executive officer, Captain Henry T. Elrod, to disperse planes and men and keep all aircraft ready for flight.




  Meanwhile, work began on dugout plane shelters. Putnam placed VMF-211 on a war footing immediately; two two-plane sections then took off on patrol. Captain Elrod and Second Lieutenant Carl R. Davidson flew north, Second Lieutenant John F. Kinney and Technical Sergeant William J. Hamilton flew to the south-southwest at 13,000 feet. Both sections were to remain in the immediate vicinity of the island.




  

    [image: ]



      MAP I




      DEFENSE INSTALLATIONS ON WAKE




      8–23 DECEMBER 1941




  




  The Philippine Clipper, meanwhile, had wheeled about upon receipt of word of war and returned to the lagoon it had departed 20 minutes earlier. Cunningham immediately requested Captain Hamilton to carry out a scouting flight. The Clipper was unloaded and refueled with sufficient gasoline in addition to the standard reserve for both the patrol flight and a flight to Midway. Cunningham, an experienced aviator, laid out a plan, giving the flying boat a two-plane escort. Hamilton then telephoned Putnam and concluded the arrangements for the search. Take-off time was 1300.




  




  Shortly after receiving word of hostilities, Battery B’s First Lieutenant Woodrow W. Kessler and his men had loaded a truck with equipment and small arms ammunition and moved out to their 5-inch guns. At 0710, Kessler began distributing gear, and soon thereafter established a sentry post on Toki Point at the northernmost tip of Peale. Thirty 5-inch rounds went into the ready-use boxes near the guns. At 0800, he reported his battery ready for action.




  General quarters called Captain Bryghte D. “Dan” Godbold’s men of Battery D to their stations down the coast from Battery B at 0700, and they moved out to their position by truck, reporting “manned and ready” within a half hour. The lack of men, however, prevented Godbold from having more than three of his 3-inch guns in operation. Within another hour and a half, each gun had 50 rounds ready for firing. At 1000, Godbold received orders to keep one gun, the director, the heightfinder (the only one at Wake Island for the three batteries), and the power plant manned at all times. After making those arrangements, Godbold put the remainder of his men to work improving the battery position.




  While the atoll’s defenders prepared for war, Japanese bombers droned toward them. At 0710 on 8 December, 34 Mitsubishi G3M2 Type 96 land attack planes (Nells) of the Chitose Air Group had lifted off from the airstrip at Roi in the Marshalls. Shortly before noon, those 34 Nells came in on Wake at 13,000 feet. Clouds cloaked their approach and the pounding surf drowned out the noise of their engines as they dropped down to 1,500 feet and roared in from the sea. Lookouts sounded the alarms as they spotted the twin-engined, twin-tailed bombers a few hundred yards off the atoll’s south shore, emerging from a dense bank of clouds. At Battery E, First Lieutenant Lewis telephoned Major Devereux’s command post to inform him of the approaching planes.




  Although Putnam was rushing work on the six bunkers being built along the seaward side of the runway, he knew none of them would be ready before 1400. He also knew that moving the eight F4F Wildcats from their parking area would risk damage to the planes and obstruction of the runway if the planes were in fact damaged. Since any damage might have meant the loss of a plane—Wake possessed virtually no spare parts—Putnam decided to delay moving the Wildcats and the materiel until suitable places existed to protect them.




  No foxholes had been dug near the field, but the rough ground nearby offered natural cover to those who reached it. Putnam hoped that his men would obtain good cover if an attack came. The movement of gasoline, bombs, and ammunition; the installation of electrical lines and generators; and the relocation of radio facilities kept all hands busily engaged.




  The attack found Second Lieutenant Robert “J” Conderman and First Lieutenant George A. Graves in the ready tent, going over last minute instructions concerning their escort of the Philippine Clipper. When the alarm sounded, both pilots, already in flight gear, sprinted for their Wildcats. Graves managed to reach one F4F, but a direct hit demolished it in a ball of flame as he was climbing into the cockpit, killing him instantly. Strafers’ bullets cut down Conderman as he tried to reach his plane, and as he lay on the ground a bomb hit the waiting Wildcat and blew it up, pinning him beneath the wreckage. He called to Corporal Robert E. L. Page to help him, but stopped when he heard another man crying for help. He directed Page to help the other man first. Strafing attacks killed Second Lieutenant Frank J. Holden as he raced for cover. Bullets and fragments wounded Second Lieutenant Webb.




  Marine Gunner Hamas, who still had 50 cases of hand grenades in his truck, having just delivered 25 to Kuku Point, saw the red sun insignia on the planes as they roared low overhead. Immediately, he ordered the vehicle stopped and instructed his men to head for cover.




  Confident that his airborne planes would be able to provide sufficient warning of an incoming raid, Commander Cunningham was working in his office at Camp 2, when he heard the “crump” of bombs around 1155. The explosions rattled windows elsewhere in the camp, prompting many men to conclude that work crews were blasting coral heads in the lagoon.




  Guns 1 and 2 of Battery D opened up on the attackers, collectively firing 40 rounds during the raid. The low visibility and the altitude at which the Mitsubishis flew, however, prevented the 3-inch guns from firing effectively. No bombs fell near the battery, but the guns’ own concussions caved in the sandbag emplacements, Marine antiaircraft fire damaged eight Nells and killed a petty officer in one of them. Returning Japanese aircrews claimed to have set fire to all of the aircraft on the ground, and reported sighting only three airborne American planes.




  On Peacock Point, First Lieutenant Lewis’ Battery E had been standing-to, ready to fire. Like Godbold, Lewis did not have enough men for all four of his guns. Lewis manned two of the 3-inchers, along with the M-4 director, while the rest of his men busily completed sandbag emplacements. After telephoning Devereux’s command post when he saw the falling bombs, Lewis quickly estimated the altitude and ordered his gunners to open fire. Again, however, the height at which the attackers came rendered the fire ineffective.




  In about seven minutes, Japanese bombs and bullets totally wrecked PanAm’s facilities. Bombing and strafing set fire to a hotel—in which five Chamorro employees died—and also to a stock room, fuel tanks, and many other buildings, and demolished a radio transmitter. Nine of PanAm’s 66-man staff lay dead. Two of the Philippine Clipper’s crew were wounded.
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      TABLE OF DISTANCES FROM WAKE


      IN NAUTICAL MILES




      

        

          

            

              	Manda



              	2676

            




            

              	Guam



              	1302

            




            

              	Midway



              	1034

            




            

              	Honolulu



              	2004

            




            

              	Pokaakku Atoll



              	304

            




            

              	Kwajalein Atoll



              	660

            




            

              	Roi



              	670

            




            

              	Majuro



              	840

            




            

              	Wotje



              	600

            




            

              	Jaluit



              	814

            




            

              	Marcus



              	760

            




            

              	Saipan



              	1260

            




            

              	Truk



              	1120

            


          

        


      


    


  




  




  Almost miraculously, though, the 26-ton Clipper, empty of both passengers and cargo but full of fuel, rode easily at her moorings at the end of the dock. A bomb had splashed 100 feet ahead of her without damaging her, and she received 23 bullet holes from the strafing attack—none had hit her large fuel tanks. Captain Hamilton courageously proposed evacuating the passengers and PanAm staff and Commander Cunningham assented. Stripped of all superfluous equipment and having embarked all of the passengers and the Caucasian PanAm employees, save one (who had been driving the atoll’s only ambulance and thus had not heard the call to report for the plane’s departure), the flying boat took off for Midway at 1330.




  Although he had received a bullet wound in his left shoulder, Major Putnam immediately took over the terrible task of seeing to the many injured people at the field. His dedication to duty seemed to establish the precedent for many other instances of selflessness which occurred amidst the wreckage of the VMF-211 camp. Sadly, the attack left five pilots and 10 enlisted men of VMF-211 wounded and 18 more dead, including most of the mechanics assigned to the squadron. On the materiel side, the squadron’s tents were shot up and virtually no supplies—tools, spark plugs, tires, and sparse spare parts—escaped destruction. Both of the 25,000-gallon gasoline storage tanks had been demolished. Additionally, 25 civilian workmen had been killed.




  As the bombers departed, Gunner Hamas called his men back from the bush, and set out to resume delivery of hand grenades. As he neared the airfield, though, he stopped to help wounded men board a truck that had escaped destruction. Then, he continued his journey and finally returned to Camp 1, where he found more civilian employees arriving to join the military effort.




  Earlier, as they had returned to the vicinity of Wake at about noon, Kinney and Hamilton had been descending through the broken clouds about three miles from the atoll when the former spotted two formations of planes at an elevation of about 1,500 feet. He and Hamilton attempted unsuccessfully to catch the formations as they retired to the west through the overcast. Kinney and Hamilton remained aloft until after 1230, when they landed to find the destruction that defied description. Neither Elrod nor Davidson had seen the enemy.




  In the wake of the terrible devastation wreaked upon his squadron, Putnam deemed it critical to the squadron’s reorganization to keep the remaining planes operational. Since his engineering officer, Graves, had been killed, Putnam appointed Kinney to take his place. “We have four planes left,” Putnam told him, “If you can keep them flying I’ll see that you get a medal as big as a pie.” “Okay, sir,” Kinney responded, “if it is delivered in San Francisco.”




  Putnam established VMF-211’s command post near the operations area. His men dug foxholes amidst brush and all of the physically capable officers and men stayed at the field. Putnam ordered that pistols, Thompson submachine guns, gas masks, and steel helmets be issued, and also directed that machine gun posts be established near each end of the runway and the command post. Meanwhile, the ground crews dispersed the serviceable planes into revetments, a task not without its risks. That afternoon, Captain Frank C. Tharin accidentally taxied 211-F-9 into an oil drum and ruined the propeller, reducing the serviceable planes to three. Captains Elrod and Tharin (the latter wounded superficially in the attack) later supervised efforts to construct “protective works” and also the mining of the landing strip with dynamite connected up to electric generators. Contractors bulldozed portions of the land bordering the field, in hopes that the rough ground would wreck any enemy planes that attempted to land there.
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      1stLt John F. Kinney (seen here circa September 1941), became engineering officer for VMF-211 upon 1stLt Graves’ death on 8 December, and, along with TSgt William H. Hamilton and AMM1c James F. Hesson, USN, kept Wake’s dwindling number of battered Wildcats flying throughout the bitter 15-day siege.


    


  




  That afternoon, over at Battery D, Godbold’s men repaired damaged emplacements, improved the director position, and accepted delivery of gas masks, hand grenades, and ammunition. Later that afternoon, 18 civilians reported for military duty. Godbold assigned 16 of them to serve under Sergeant Walter A. Bowsher, Jr., to man the previously idle Gun 3, and assigned the remaining pair to the director crew as lookouts. Under Bowsher’s leadership, the men in Gun 3 were soon working their piece “in a manner comparable to the Marine-manned guns.”




  Gunner Hamas and his men, meanwhile, carted ammunition from the quartermaster shed and dispersed it into caches, each of about 20 to 25 boxes, west of Camp 1, near Wilkes Channel, and camouflaged them with coral sand. Next, they dispersed hundreds of boxes of .50- and .30-caliber ammunition in the bushes that lined the road that led to the airfield. Before nightfall, Hamas delivered .50-caliber ammunition and metal links to Captain Herbert C. Freuler and furnished him the keys to the bomb and ammunition magazines.




  About 25 civilians with trucks responded to First Lieutenant Lewis’ request for assistance in improving his battery’s defensive position. Then, Lewis ordered his men to lay a telephone line from the battery command post (CP) to the battery’s heightfinder so that he could obtain altitude readings for the incoming enemy bombers, and relay that information to the guns.




  Commander Campbell Keene, Commander, Wake Base Detachment, meanwhile, reassigned his men to more critical combat duties. He sent Ensigns George E. Henshaw and Bernard J. Lauff to Cunningham’s staff. Boatswain’s Mate First Class James E. Barnes and 12 enlisted men joined the ranks of the defense battalion to drive trucks, serve in galley details, and stand security watches. One of the three enlisted men whom Commander Keene sent to VMF-211 was Aviation Machinist’s Mate First Class James F. Hesson. Kinney and Technical Sergeant Hamilton soon found the Pennsylvanian with light brown hair, who had served in the Air Corps before he had joined the Navy and who had just turned 35 years of age, to be invaluable. VMF-211 also benefitted from the services of civilians Harry Yeager and “Doc” Stevenson, who reported to work as mechanics, and Pete Sorenson, who volunteered to drive a truck.




  For the remainder of the day and on into the night, in the contractor’s hospital in Camp 2, Naval Reserve Lieutenant Gustave M. Kahn, Medical Corps, and the contractors’ physician, Dr. Lawton E. Shank, worked diligently to save as many men as possible. Some, though, were beyond help, and despite their best efforts, four of VMF-211’s men—including Second Lieutenant Conderman—died that night.




  At Peacock Point, that afternoon, just down the coast from the airfield, “Barney” Barninger’s men had completed their foxholes—overhead cover, sandbags, and chunks of coral would come later. Later, at dusk, Barninger evidently sensed that the atoll might be in for a long siege. Thinking that they might not be in camp again for some time, he sent some of his men back to Camp 1 to obtain extra toilet gear and clothing. In the gathering darkness, he set his security watches and rotated beach patrols and observers. Those men not on watch slept fitfully in their foxholes.




  That night, Wake’s offshore guardians, Tambor to the north and Triton to the south, surfaced to recharge batteries, breathe fresh air, and listen to radio reports. From those reports the crews of the Tambor and Triton finally learned of the outbreak of war.




  The 9th of December dawned with a clear sky overhead. Over at the airfield, three planes took off on the early morning patrol, while Kinney had a fourth (though without its reserve gas tank) ready by 0900. A test flight proved the fourth F4F to be “o.k.,” since she withstood a 350 mph dive “without a quiver.” It was just in the nick of time, for at 1145 on the 9th, the Chitose Air Group struck again, as 27 Nells came in at 13,000 feet. Second Lieutenant David D. Kliewer and Technical Sergeant Hamilton attacked straggling bombers, and claimed one shot down. Battery D’s number 2 and 4 guns, meanwhile, collectively fired 100 3-inch rounds. The Marines damaged 12 planes, but the enemy suffered only very light casualties: one man dead and another slightly wounded.
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      Author’s Collection






    

      Sgt William J. Hamilton, (seen here on 20 January 1938) was one of two enlisted pilots serving in VMF-211 at Wake, and not only flew patrols but helped keep the squadron’s planes in the air.


    


  




  Once more, though, the Japanese wreaked considerable havoc on the defenders. Most of their bombs fell near the edge of the lagoon, north of the airfield, and on Camp 2, demolishing the hospital and heavily damaging a warehouse and a metal shop. One wounded VMF-211 enlisted man perished in the bombing of the hospital while the three-man crew of one of the dispersed gasoline trucks died instantly when a bomb exploded in the foxhole in which they had sought shelter.




  Doctors Kahn and Shank and their assistants evacuated the wounded and saved as much equipment as they could. Shank carried injured men from the burning hospital, courageous actions that so impressed Marine Gunner Hamas (who had been trapped by the raid while carrying a load of projectiles and powder to gun positions on Peale) that he later recommended that Shank be awarded a Medal of Honor for his heroism. The hard-pressed medical people soon moved the wounded and what medical equipment they could into magazines 10 and 13, near the unfinished airstrip, and established two 21-bed wards.




  Once the bombers had gone, the work of repairs and improving planes and positions resumed. That night, because the initial bombing had destroyed the mechanical loading machines, a crew of civilians helped load .50-caliber ammunition. That same evening, work crews dispersed food, medical supplies, water, and lumber to various points around the atoll, while the communications center and Wake’s command post were moved.




  Earlier that day from near the tip of Peacock Point, Marine Gunner Clarence B. McKinstry of Battery E had noted one bomber breaking off from the rest. Supposing that the plane had taken aerial photographs, he suggested that the battery be moved. That afternoon, First Lieutenant Lewis received orders to reposition his guns after dark; he was to leave two 3-inchers in place until the other two were emplaced, and then move the last two. Aided by about a hundred civilians with several trucks, Lewis and McKinstry succeeded in shifting the battery—guns, ammunition, and sandbags—to a new location some 1,500 yards to the northwest. Marines and workmen set up dummy guns in the old position.




  As the 10th dawned, Marine Gunner McKinstry found himself with new duties, having received orders to proceed to Wilkes and report to Captain Wesley McC. Platt, commander of the Wilkes strongpoint. Battery F comprised four 3-inch guns, but lacked crewmen, a heightfinder, or a director. Consequently, McKinstry could only fire the guns accurately at short or point-blank range, thus limiting them to beach protection. Assisted by one Marine and a crew of civilians, Gunner McKinstry moved his guns into battery just in time for the arrival of 26 Nells which flew over at 1020 and dropped their bombs on the airfield and those seacoast installations at the tip of Wilkes.




  While casualties were light—Battery L had one Marine killed and one wounded (one civilian suffered shell-shock)—the equipment and guns in the positions themselves received considerable damage. Further, 120 tons of dynamite which had been stored by the contractors near the site of the new channel exploded and stripped the 3-inch battery of its fresh camouflage. The gunners moved them closer to the shoreline and camouflaged them with burnt brush because they lacked sandbags with which to construct defensive shelters for the gun crews.




  In a new position, which was up the coast from the old one, Battery E’s 3-inchers managed to hurl 100 rounds skyward while bombs began hitting near Peacock Point. The old position there was “very heavily bombed,” and a direct hit set off a small ammunition dump, vindicating McKinstry’s hunch about the photo-reconnaissance plane. Battery D’s gunners, meanwhile, claimed hits on two bombers (one of which was seen to explode later). Although Captain Elrod, who single-handedly attacked the formation, claimed two of the raiders, only one Nell failed to return to its base.




  That night, the itinerant Battery E shifted to a position on the toe of the horseshoe on the lagoon side of Wake. Their daily defensive preparations complete, Wake’s defenders awaited what the next dawn would bring. They had endured three days of bombings. Some of Cunningham’s men may have wondered when it would be their turn to wreak destruction upon the enemy.
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      Major James P. S. Devereux, Commanding Officer of the Wake Detachment of the 1st Defense Battalion (seen here as a POW at Shanghai, circa January 1942), was born in Cuba and educated in the United States and in Switzerland. Devereux enlisted in the Marine Corps in 1923. He saw service at home (Norfolk, Philadelphia, Washington, D.C., and Quantico, among other places) and abroad (Cuba, Nicaragua, and China). He was awarded the Navy Cross for his leadership of the Marines at Wake. After his retirement, he served in the U.S. House of Representatives.
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      An unshaven Commander Winfield S. Cunningham, Officer in Charge, Naval Activities, Wake Island, and commander of the defense of Wake, was photographed as a POW on board the Japanese transport Nitta Maru, at Yokohama, Japan, about 18 January 1942. A member of the Naval Academy Class of 1921 and an excellent pilot, he had flown fighters and flying boats, and had been schooled in strategy and tactics. Contemporaries in the Navy regarded him as an intelligent, quick-witted officer who possessed moral courage. His long and varied experience in aviation duty had fitted him well for his independent duty at Wake. He would earn the Navy Cross for his leadership of the defense of Wake.
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      Major Paul A. Putnam, a “model of strong nerves and the will to fight,” is pictured at right in the autumn of 1941. One of his men, Second Lieutenant David Kliewer, praised Putnam’s “cool judgment, his courage, and his consideration for everyone [that] forged an aviation unit that fought behind him to the end.” Putnam had become commanding officer of VMF-211 on 17 November 1941 at Ewa, after having served as executive officer. Designated a naval aviator in 1929, he had flown almost every type of Marine plane from a Ford Tri-motor to a Grumman F4F-3. He had distinguished himself in Nicaragua in 1931. One officer who had flown with him there considered him “calm, quiet, soft-spoken ... a determined sort of fellow.” He was awarded a Navy Cross for his heroism at Wake.


    


  




  



    Defensive Mainstay: The M3 Antiaircraft Gun
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    At right, in the firing position, is an Army pattern M3 3-inch antiaircraft gun of the type that the 1st Defense Battalion had at Wake. Already obsolescent at the outbreak of World War II, this weapon was the mainstay of the defense battalions in the first months of the war. Twelve of these guns were emplaced at Wake.




    As early as 1915, the U.S. Army, recognizing the need for a high-angle firing antiaircraft gun and resolving to build one from existing stocks, chose the M1903 seacoast defense gun and redesignated it the M1917. Soon after America’s entry into World War I, however, the requirement for a mobile mount (one with less recoil) compelled the selection of the less powerful M1898 seacoast gun for conversion to the M1918. Development of both guns and mounts continued throughout the interwar years, leading ultimately to the standardization of the gun as the M3 on the M2 wheeled mount.




    On the eve of World War II, each of the seven Marine defense battalions then activated had 12 3-inch guns in three four-gun batteries. Each mount weighed a little over six tons. The normal crew of eight could fire 25 12.87-pound high-explosive shells per minute. The guns had an effective ceiling of nearly 30,000 feet and an effective horizontal range of 14,780 yards.
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        National Archives Photo 80-G-179013



      

    




    The Nells, Bettys, and Claudes of Japan




    A formation of Mitsubishi G3M1 and G3M2 Type 96 bombers (Nell), above, fly in formation in 1942. The first models flew in 1935, and more than 250 were still serving in the Japanese land-based naval air arm in December 1941. Nells, instrumental in the reduction of Wake’s defenses, served alongside the newer, more powerful Mitsubishi G4M1 Type 97 bombers (Betty)—earmarked to replace them in front-line service—in helping to sink the British capital ships HMS Prince of Wales and HMS Repulse off Malaya on 10 December 1941.




    Two 1,000-horsepower Kinsei 45 engines enabled the Nell to reach a speed of 238 miles per hour at 9,840 feet. Normally crewed by seven men, the G3M2 model carried a defensive armament of one 20-mm and two 7.7-mm machine guns, and a payload of either one 1,764-pound torpedo or 2,200 pounds of bombs.




   


      * * * * *

    






    Although Mitsubishi A5M4 Type 96 carrier fighters (Claude), also equipped the Chitose Air Group, none accompanied the group’s Nells because of the long distances involved. Marine antiaircraft or fighter aircraft gunfire at Wake destroyed at least four Nells during December 1941. Since the number of G3Ms engaged varied from raid to raid—no more than 34 or fewer than 17—so, too, did damage figures. On at least two occasions, though, as many as 12 returned to their base in the Marshalls damaged.
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  During the night of 10 December 1941, Wake’s lookouts vigilantly scanned the horizon. Those of her defenders who were not on watch grabbed what sleep they could. Shortly before midnight, the Triton was south of the atoll, charging her batteries and patrolling on the surface. At 2315, her bridge lookouts spied “two flashes” and then the silhouette of what seemed to be a destroyer, dimly visible against the backdrop of heavy clouds that lay behind her. The Triton submerged quickly and tracked the unidentifiable ship; ultimately, she fired a salvo of four torpedoes from her stern tubes at 0017 on 11 December 1941—the first torpedoes fired from a Pacific Fleet submarine in World War II. Although the submariners heard a dull explosion, indicating what they thought was at least one probable hit, and propeller noises appeared to cease shortly thereafter, the Triton’s apparent kill had not been confirmed. She resumed her patrol, submerged.




  

  

    The 3,587-ton light cruiser Yubari, seen here at Shanghai, China, in April 1937, was completed in July 1923. Armed with 5.5-inch guns, she served as Rear Admiral Sadamichi Kajioka’s flagship for the operations against Wake in December 1941.
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  The ship that Triton had encountered off Wake’s south coast was, most likely, the destroyer deployed as a picket 10 miles ahead of the invasion convoy steaming up from the south. Under Rear Admiral Sadamichi Kajioka, it had set out from Kwajalein, in the Marshalls, on 8 December. It consisted of the light cruiser Yubari (flagship), six destroyers—Mutsuki, Kisaragi, Yayoi, Mochizuki, Oite, and Hayate—along with Patrol Boat No. 32 and Patrol Boat No. 33 (two ex-destroyers, each reconfigured in 1941 to launch a landing craft over a stern ramp) and two armed merchantmen, Kongo Maru and Kinryu Maru. To provide additional gunfire support, the Commander, Fourth Fleet, had also assigned the light cruisers Tatsuta and Tenryu to Kajioka’s force.




  Admiral Kajioka faced less than favorable weather for the endeavor. Deeming the northeast coastline unsuitable for that purpose, invasion planners had called for the converted destroyers to put 150 men ashore on Wilkes and 300 on Wake. If those numbers proved insufficient, Kajioka’s supporting destroyers were to provide men to augment the landing force. If contrary winds threatened the assault, the troops would land on the northeastern and north coasts. Since the weather had moderated enough by the 11th, though, the force was standing toward the atoll’s south, or lee, shore in the pre-dawn hours, confident that two days of bombings had rendered the islands’ defenses impotent.




  Meanwhile, far to the east, at Pearl Harbor, the Pacific Fleet continued to pick up the pieces after the shattering blow that the Japanese had delivered on the 7th. The enemy onslaught had forced Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, the Commander in Chief, Pacific Fleet (CinCPac), to revise his strategy completely. Kimmel wanted to relieve Wake, but deploying what remained of his fleet to protect sea communications, defend outlying bases, and protect far-flung territory, as well as to defend Oahu, would have required a wide dispersal of the very limited naval forces. By 10 December (11 December on Wake), the scattered positions of his aircraft carriers, which were at sea patrolling the Oahu-Johnston-Palmyra triangle, militated against deploying them to support Wake. Cunningham’s garrison, however, in a most striking fashion, would soon provide inspiration to the Pacific Fleet and the nation as well.




  Wake’s lookouts, like Triton’s, had seen flickering lights in the distance. Gunner Hamas, on duty in the battalion command post, received the report of ships offshore from Captain Wesley McC. Platt, commander of the strongpoint on Wilkes, and notified Major Devereux, who, along with his executive officer, Major George H. Potter, stepped out into the moonlight and scanned the southern horizon. Hamas also telephoned Cunningham, who ordered the guns to hold fire until the ships closed on the island.




  Cunningham then turned to Commander Keene and Lieutenant Commander Elmer B. Greey, resident officer-in-charge of the construction programs at Wake, with whom he shared a cottage, and told them that lookouts had spotted ships, undoubtedly hostile ones, standing toward the atoll. He then directed the two officers to order an alert and immediately headed for the island’s communications center in his pickup truck.




  As the Japanese ships neared Wake, the Army radio unit on the atoll sent a message from Cunningham to Pearl Harbor at 0200 on the 11th, telling of the contractors’ casualties, and, because of the danger that lay at Wake’s doorstep, suggesting early evacuation of the civilians. Army communicators on Oahu who received the message noted that the Japanese had tried to jam the transmission.




  At 0400, Major Putnam put VMF-211 on the alert, and soon thereafter he and Captains Elrod, Tharin, and Freuler manned the four operational F4Fs. The Wildcats, a 100-pound bomb under each wing, then taxied into position for take-off. Shortly before 0500, Kajioka’s ships began their final run. At 0515, three Wildcats took off, followed after five minutes by the fourth. They rendezvoused at 12,000 feet above Toki Point. At 0522, the Japanese began shelling Wake.




  The Marines’ guns, however, remained silent as Kajioka’s ships “crept in, firing as they came.” The first enemy projectiles set the oil tanks on the southwest portion of Wake ablaze while the two converted destroyers prepared to land their Special Naval Landing Force troops. The column of warships advanced westward, still unchallenged. Nearing the western tip of Wake 20 minutes later, Kajioka’s flagship, the Yubari, closed to within 4,500 yards, seemingly “scouring the beach” with her 5.5-inch fire. At 0600, the light cruiser reversed course yet again, and closed the range still further.




  The Yubari’s maneuvering prompted the careful removal of the brush camouflage, and the Marines began to track the Japanese ships. As the distance decreased, and the reports came into Devereux’s command post with that information, the major again told Gunner Hamas to relay the word to Commander Cunningham, who, by that point, had reached his command post. Cunningham upon receiving Hamas’ report, responded, “What are we waiting for, open fire. Must be Jap ships all right.” Devereux quickly relayed the order to his anxious artillerymen. At 0610, they commenced firing.




  Barninger’s 5-inchers at Peacock Point, Wake’s “high ground” behind them, boomed and sent the first 50-pound projectiles beyond their target. Adjusting the range quickly, the gunners soon scored what seemed to be hits on the Yubari. Although Barninger’s guns had unavoidably revealed their location, the ships’ counterfire proved woefully inaccurate. Kajioka’s flagship managed to land only one shell in Battery B’s vicinity, a projectile that burst some 150 feet from Barninger’s command post. “The fire ... continued to be over and then short throughout her firing,” Barninger later reported. “She straddled continually, but none of the salvoes came into the position.” It was fortunate that the Japanese fire proved as poor as it was, for Barninger’s guns lay completely unprotected, open save for camouflage. No sandbag protection existed!




  Captain Platt, meanwhile, told Major Potter via phone that, since Battery L’s rangefinder had been damaged in the bombing the previous day, First Lieutenant McAlister was having trouble obtaining the range. After Platt passed along Potter’s order to McAlister to estimate it, Battery L opened fire and scored hits on one of the transports, prompting the escorting destroyers to stand toward the troublesome guns.




  Platt carefully scrutinized the Japanese ship movements offshore, and noted with satisfaction that McAlister’s 5-inchers sent three salvoes slamming into the Hayate. She exploded immediately, killing all of her 167-man crew. McAlister’s gunners cheered and then turned their attention to the Oite and the Mochizuki, which soon suffered hits from the same guns. The Oite sustained 14 wounded; the Mochizuki sustained an undetermined number of casualties.




  

  

    A portable coincidence range-finder is like those used at Wake Island in conjunction with the 5-inch/51 caliber guns of Batteries A, B, and L. It was believed that they had been removed from decommissioned and deactivated battleships in the 1920s.
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  First Lieutenant Kessler’s Battery B, at the tip of Peale, meanwhile, dueled with the destroyers Yayoi, Mutsuki, and Kisaragi, as well as the Tenryu and the Tatsuta, and drew heavy counterfire that disabled one gun. The crew of the inoperable mount shifted to that of a serviceable one, serving as ammunition passers, and after 10 rounds, Kessler’s remaining gun scored a hit on the Yayoi’s stern, killing one man, wounding 17, and starting a fire. His gunners then shifted their attention to the next destroyer in column. The enemy’s counterfire severed communications between Kessler’s command post and the gun, but Battery B—the muzzle blast temporarily disabling the rangefinder—continued with local fire control. As the Japanese warships stood to the south, Kessler’s gun hurled two parting shots toward a transport, which proved to have been out of range.
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      MAP 2




      SURFACE ACTION OF 11 DECEMBER 1941


    


  




  The Yubari’s action record reflects that although Wake had been pounded by land-based planes, the atoll’s defenders still possessed enough coastal guns to mount a ferocious defense, which forced Kajioka to retire. As if the seacoast guns and the weather were not enough to frustrate the admiral’s venture—the heavy seas had overturned landing boats almost as soon as they were launched—the Japanese soon encountered a new foe. While Cunningham’s cannoneers had been trading shells with Kajioka’s, Putnam’s four Wildcats had climbed to 20,000 feet and maintained that altitude until daylight, when the major had ascertained that no Japanese planes were airborne. As the destroyers that had dueled Battery B opened the range and stood away from Wake, the Wildcats roared in.




  




  Major Putnam saw at least one of Elrod’s bombs hit the Kisaragi. Trailing oil and smoke, the damaged destroyer slowed to a stop but then managed to get underway again, internally afire. While she limped away to the south, Elrod, antiaircraft fire having perforated his plane’s oil line, headed home. He managed to reach Wake and land on the rocky beach, but VMF 211’s ground crew wrote off his F4F as a total loss. Meanwhile, Tenryu came under attack by Putnam, Tharin, and Freuler, who strafed her forward, near the number 1 torpedo tube mount, wounding five men and disabling three torpedoes.




  The three serviceable Wildcats then shuttled back and forth to be rearmed and refueled. Putnam and Kinney later saw the Kisaragi—which had been carrying an extra supply of depth charges because of the American submarine threat—blow up and sink, killing her entire crew of 167 men. Freuler, Putnam, and Hamilton strafed the Kongo Maru, igniting barrels of gasoline stowed in one of her holds, killing three Japanese sailors, and wounding 19. Two more men were listed as missing. Freuler’s Wildcat took a bullet in the engine but managed to return to the field. Technical Sergeant Hamilton reached the field despite a perforated tail section.




  The Triton, which had not made contact with an enemy ship since firing at the unidentified ship during the pre-dawn hours, did not participate in the action that morning. Neither did her sistership, the Tambor. The latter attempted to approach the enemy ships she observed firing at the atoll, until they appeared to be standing away from Wake. Then, she reversed course and proceeded north, well away from the retiring Japanese, to avoid penetrating the Triton’s patrol area.




  Meanwhile, after Kinney witnessed the Kisaragi’s cataclysmic demise, he strafed another destroyer before returning to the field. Having been rearmed and refueled, he took off again at 0915, accompanied by Second Lieutenant Davidson, shortly before 17 Nells appeared to bomb Peale’s batteries.




  Davidson battled nine of the bombers, which had separated from the others and headed toward the southwest. Kinney tackled the other eight. Battery D, meanwhile, hurled 125 rounds at the bombers. Although some of the enemy’s bombs fell near the battery position on Peale, the Japanese again inflicted neither damage nor casualties, and lost two Nells in the process. Eleven other G3M2s had been damaged; casualties included 15 dead and one slightly wounded. Putnam later credited Kinney and Davidson with shooting down one plane apiece.




  Ordered to move Battery D’s 3-inch guns the length of Peale during the night, Godbold reconnoitered the new position selected by Major Devereux, and at 1745, after securing all battery positions, began the shift. For the next 11 hours, the Marines, assisted by nearly 250 civilians, constructed new emplacements. By 0445 on 12 December, Godbold could again report: “Manned and ready.” At Peacock Point, on the night of the 11th, Wally Lewis gave permission for all but two men at each gun, and at the director, to get some sleep—the first the men had had in three days.




  

  

    A pre-war view of the destroyer Kisaragi, sunk as the result of damage inflicted by two 100-pound bombs dropped by Capt Henry T. Elrod on the morning of 11 December 1941. Out of the crew of 167 men, not one sailor survived.
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      National Archives Photo 80-G-179006


    




    

      Wrecked Grumman F4F-3s from VMF-211 near the airstrip on Wake (photographed after the Japanese took the island). The Wildcat in the foreground, 211-F-ll, was flown on 11 December by Capt Elrod in the attack that sank the Japanese destroyer Kisaragi. Having suffered such damage as to make it unserviceable, 211-F-ll was ultimately cannibalized for spares.


    


  




  The Japanese force, meanwhile, “... humbled by sizeable casualties,” withdrew to the Marshalls, having requested aircraft carrier reinforcement. Hundreds of miles away, at Pearl Harbor, elements of the 4th Defense Battalion received orders to begin preparing for an operation, the destination of which was closely held. The Marines of the battalion fervently desired to assist their comrades on Wake Island and many of them probably concluded, “We’re headed for Wake!”
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    The Defense Battalion’s 5-Inch Guns




    In the photo above, a 5-inch/51 seacoast gun of Battery A, 1st Defense Battalion, rests at the Marine Corps Base, San Diego, on 21 October 1940, prior to its being deployed “beyond the seas.” Private Edward F. Eaton, standing beside it, serves as a yardstick to give the viewer an idea of the size of the gun that could hurl a 50-pound shell at 3,150 feet per second up to a range of 17,100 yards. These guns gave a good account of themselves at Wake Island, particularly in discouraging Admiral Kajioka’s attempted landing in December 1941.
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      Captain Henry T. Elrod (seen at right in the fall of 1941), VMF-211’s executive officer, distinguished himself both in the air and in the ground fighting at Wake, with deeds which earned him a posthumous Medal of Honor. Born in Georgia in 1905, Elrod attended the University of Georgia and Yale University. Enlisting in the Corps in 1927, he received his commission in 1931. Elrod is the only Marine hero from Wake who has had a warship—a guided missile frigate—named in his honor.
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  Well before dawn on 12 December, unsynchronized engines heralded the approach of a Japanese flying boat. Captains Freuler and Tharin scrambled their planes to intercept it. The enemy plane—a Kawanishi H6K Type 97 reconnaissance flying boat (Mavis) from the Yokohama Air Group dropped its bombs on the edge of the lagoon and then sought cover in the overcast and rain squalls. Tharin, although untrained in night aerial combat techniques, chased and “splashed” it. None of its nine-man crew survived.




  Later that same day, 26 Chitose Air Group Nells bombed Wake Island. Returning aircrewmen claimed damage to a warehouse and an antiaircraft gun in the “western sector.” Antiaircraft fire shot down one plane and damaged four; Japanese casualties included eight men killed. Once the bombers had departed, “Barney” Barninger’s men continued working on their foxholes, freshened the camouflage, cleaned the guns, and tried to catch some sleep. The daily bombings, he wrote later, “were becoming an old story, and it was a relief from waiting when the raid was over.”
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      Capt Frank C. Tharin (seen here as a first lieutenant, 8 August 1939) would earn a Silver Star Medal, a Distinguished Flying Cross, and two Air Medals for his per­formance of duty at Wake Island.


    




    

      Marine Corps Historical Collection



    


  




  Weathering bombing attacks, taking the enemy’s blows, was one thing, but striking at the Japanese was something else—something to boost morale. At about 1600 on the 12th, Second Lieutenant Kliewer, while patrolling, spotted a surfaced submarine 25 miles southwest of Wake. With the sun behind him, he dove from 10,000 feet. Convinced that the submarine was Japanese, Kliewer fired his four .50-calibers broadside into the submarine. Turning to the right, and seeking to increase his chances of scoring maximum damage on the enemy, he dove and dropped his two 100-pounders at such a low altitude that bomb fragments ripped large holes in his wings and tail surfaces. Emptying his guns into the submarine on his next pass, he looked behind him and saw her submerge. Major Putnam flew out to verify that the sub had been sunk and spotted an oil slick at the spot Kliewer indicated.
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      Marine Corps Historical Collection


    




    

      2dLt David D. Kliewer (seen here circa September 1941), a minister’s son, would be awarded a Bronze Star Medal and two Air Medals for his service at Wake.


    


  




  That night, a stateside radio report praised Wake’s Marines. It stated that for security reasons it could not mention the size of the garrison defending the atoll, but noted that “we know the number is very small.”




  “Nothing like letting the enemy know our status,” Kinney noted sardonically in his diary. “Still no help.”




  Although help was a subject very much on the minds of Admiral Kimmel and his staff back at Pearl Harbor, by 11 December plans to reinforce Wake had not yet “crystallized.” Nor could they, until the carriers around which any task forces could be formed could be marshalled for the task. As Captain Charles H. “Soc” McMorris, Kimmel’s war plans officer, had estimated, all of the nearly 1,500 people on Wake could be accommodated very rapidly on board the seaplane tender Tangier (AV-8) if they either destroyed or abandoned their personal belongings. Tangier would be crowded, but he believed it could be done. Protecting the tender, though, was key. “She should not go,” McMorris wrote, “until air protection is available.” If the evacuation of Wake was decided upon—and he recommended against it—the “promptest measure” would be to have Tangier assigned to a task force formed around the aircraft carrier Lexington (CV-2). Then, accompanied by destroyers, she could evacuate Wake’s garrison while Lexington’s planes provided cover. Even as the people at Pearl Harbor considered plans for her employment, however, “Lady Lex” and her consorts were encountering difficulty refueling in the heavy seas northwest of Oahu. Ultimately, Task Force 12 had to put into Pearl to complete the refueling.




  The following day, 13 December, found VMF-211 conducting its patrols as usual with three available aircraft. Meanwhile, ground crews dragged Captain Elrod’s old plane over from the beach and propped it up across the runway to serve as a decoy. The contractors promised Kinney that a light-proof hangar would be finished that night.




  Listening to the radio that evening provided little inspiration. As Kinney noted in his diary, Kay Kyser, the reknowned bandleader, had dedicated a song to the “Wake Marines,” while commentators noted that Wake’s defenders, when asked what they required, had said “Send us more Japs.”




  “We began to figure out,” Kinney wrote, “that the U.S. was not going to reinforce us.”




  At Pearl Harbor, however, efforts proceeded apace to disprove those who despaired of relief: the Tangier began discharging aviation gasoline to a barge alongside, as she prepared for her impending mission. Early the following morning, she began unloading warheads and torpedoes and commenced loading aviation stores earmarked for Wake. Later, she shifted to the Pearl Harbor Navy Yard, where she continued discharging gasoline and unloading torpedoes. “Wake Island,” Rear Admiral Claude Bloch, the Commandant of the 14th Naval District, wrote on 12 December (13 December on Wake) “is putting up a magnificent fight. Kimmel is doing his best to devise means for reinforcing it and getting out the civilians....” The Lexington and her consorts entered Pearl to fuel on 13 December, while Saratoga (CV-3) and her escorts (three old destroyers) steamed toward Oahu—also delayed by heavy weather.




  The enemy, meanwhile, maintained aerial pressure on the atoll. Three flying boats bombed the island at 0437 on Sunday, 14 December, but did not damage anything. The Marines, sailors, and contractors went about their daily business of improving their defensive positions. The artillerymen replaced the natural camouflage with fresh foliage.




  Wake had little need for “more Japs,” despite media claims. It did, however, need tools with which it could defend itself. Cunningham radioed to the Commandant of the 14th Naval District a lengthy list of supplies—including fire control radars—required by his 5- and 3-inch batteries, as well as by the machine gun and searchlight batteries.




  At the airfield, the 14th dawned with just two planes in service. Kinney determined, though, that one of those, an F4F “bought” from VF-6 (embarked on the USS Enterprise), required an engine replacement. They would scavenge the parts required from two irreparably damaged planes. As a work crew tackled that task, 30 Nells from the Chitose Air Group began sowing destruction across Wake. One bomb hit one of the aircraft shelters and set afire an F4F.
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      National Archives Photo 19-N-25360


    




    

      The seaplane tender Tangier (AV-8) (seen here off Mare Island, California, in August 1941), a converted freighter, had elements of the 4th Defense Battalion embarked as well as vitally needed ammunition and equipment, including radar.


    


  




  Scrambling over to that Wildcat after the raid had ended, Kinney saw that the enemy ordnance had hit close to the tail but had damaged only the oil tank and intercoolers. Since that was the squadron’s best engine, Kinney knew that it must be removed, mount and all. Kinney used an improvised hoist to lift the plane by its nose.




  With only the single makeshift hoist, Kinney and his crew removed one engine and attached the other mount by nightfall, fortified only by a gallon of ice cream which Pete Sorenson, one of the contractors, had thoughtfully brought them. Since the hangar was not complete, they had to work quickly to avoid the blackout.




  Kinney instructed the civilian foreman to call him as soon as the hangar was ready to receive the plane. He sent Hamilton to bed at 0800, and retired, himself, to be awakened an hour and a half later. With Hamilton in tow, he awoke the three civilians who had been helping them, and all went to the hangar. With a bit more effort, they were ready for the aircraft at 1130. Kinney and his civilian helpers completed installing the engine by 0330 on the 15th.




  The failure to have the hangars completed, meanwhile, proved to be a sore point for Major Putnam. Commander Cunningham differed with his Marine subordinate over just how much pressure to apply to the civilians, eschewing the use of armed force in favor of addressing the workers in small groups and appealing to them to lend a hand.




  Annoyed that Cunningham seemed to be using only “moral suasion” on the contractors, Putnam, on 14 December, personally persuaded the contractors to work on the underground shelters—no work having been done for the previous 24 hours—and the civilians turned out in force (“about 300 when only 50 could work,” Kinney noted).




  The enthusiastic turnout, however, had an unexpected effect. Curiosity moved many workmen to line the airstrip to watch the take-off of the evening patrol. The surging crowd caused Captain Freuler to ease his plane to the left to avoid hitting any men, and in so doing found that he had aimed the plane toward a crane which sat on the north side of the airfield. Continuing to the left, Freuler tried to miss the piece of heavy equipment but instead “ground-looped” his F4F into the “boondocks,” wrecking it. Hauled back to the runway, the damaged Wildcat served, thereafter, as a decoy.




  At Pearl Harbor, at 1231 on 14 December (0901 15 December, on Wake), Task Force 11 (formerly Task Force 12) stood out to sea. Its commander, Vice Admiral Wilson Brown, had been ordered to raid Jaluit to divert attention away from Task Force 14, which was to sortie the following day and proceed to Wake. Brown’s force was to conduct the raid on Jaluit—reckoned to be the center of Japanese operations in the Marshalls—and then to retire toward Pearl Harbor the day before Task Force 14, under Rear Admiral Frank Jack Fletcher, was to reach Wake.




  Fletcher’s task, meanwhile, was to see that the Tangier reached her objective. The Saratoga, with VMF-221 embarked, was to launch the Marine fighters to fly into Wake while the seaplane tender was to moor offshore to begin the process of putting ashore reinforcements, ammunition, provisions, and equipment—including an important radar set. The Tangier was then to embark approximately 650 civilians and all of the wounded men and return to Pearl Harbor. Kimmel and his staff had estimated that the process of unloading and debarkation would take at least two days; embarking all the people at Wake could be accomplished in less than one. Unfavorable weather, however, could lengthen the time considerably. At 1331 (at Pearl Harbor), on 15 December Kimmel informed the Chief of Naval Operations (Admiral Harold R. Stark) of the relief expedition he had just launched. He received Admiral Stark’s concurrence early the following morning.




  Meanwhile, during the day on the 15th, Dan Godbold’s men observed the usual routine, starting the day at full alert and replacing the natural camouflage before reducing the alert status at 0700. His men completed the shelters near the guns during the day and began work on a shelter at the heightfinder position. They stopped work at 1700 to return to full alert. A half hour later, however, battery lookouts reported a plane lurking amongst the low clouds to the east, and Godbold reported the presence of the intruder to the island command post. At 1800, four flying boats came in at 1,000 feet and dropped bombs on what their crews thought was the “barracks area (Camp 1) on the northern part of the island.” They also strafed the area near Batteries D and B. The Japanese reported their bombing as having been “effective,” but it inflicted no material damage. One civilian workman was killed. From his vantage point, Marine Gunner McKinstry, in Battery E, thought all of the bombs landed in the ocean.




  The next day, the 16th, 33 Nells raided Wake Island at 1340. The Marines, however, greeted the Japanese fliers with novel fire control methods. Kinney and Kliewer, aloft on patrol, spotted the incoming formations closing on the atoll at 18,000 feet, almost 10 minutes before they reached Wake’s airspace. The U.S. pilots radioed the enemy’s altitude to the gun batteries. The early warning permitted Lewis to enter the data into the M-4 director and pass the solution to Godbold. Battery D hurled 95 rounds skyward. Battery E’s first shots seemed to explode ahead of the formation, but Gunner McKinstry reported that the lead plane in one of the formations dropped, smoking, to the rear of the formation. He estimated that at least four other planes cleared the island trailing smoke. Godbold estimated that four planes had been damaged and one had crashed some distance from the island. Japanese accounts, however, provide no support for Godbold’s estimate, acknowledging neither losses nor damage to Japanese aircraft during the attack that day. Kliewer and Kinney each attacked the formations of planes, but with little effect, partly because only one of Kinney’s four machine guns functioned.




  That day, as half of Wake’s submarine support—the Tambor—retired toward Oahu because of an irreparable leak in her forward torpedo room, Kinney returned to the task of keeping the planes ready to fight with field expedient repairs and borrowed gear. Kinney and his helpers fashioned gun cleaning rods from welding rods. The pervasive, intrusive coral sand threatened to cause severe mechanical damage to the planes. Kinney borrowed a compressor from PanAm (two previous compressors had been “strafed out of commission”) to try to keep the planes clean by blasting a mixture of air and kerosene to blow out the accumulations of grit.
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      Marines from the 4th Defense Battalion embark in Tangier (AV-8) at Pearl Harbor, 15 December 1941, bound for Wake. Barely visible beyond the first Marine at the head of the gangway is a sobering reminder of the events of eight days before: the mainmast of the sunken Arizona (BB-39). Tank farm spared by the Japanese on that day lies at right background.


    


  




  To help Kinney and Hamilton and their small but dedicated band of civilians, Aviation Machinist’s Mate Hesson, who had been wounded on the 14th, violated doctor’s orders and returned to duty. He resumed work on the planes, carrying on as effectively as ever in spite of his injures. Putnam later recalled Hesson’s service as being “the very foundation of the entire aerial defense of Wake Island.”




  At Pearl Harbor, in the lengthening shadows of 15 December (16 December on Wake), the relief expedition made ready to sail. The Tangier, the oiler Neches (AO-5) and four destroyers sailed at 1730 on the 15th (On Wake, 1400 on 16 December.). The Saratoga and the remainder of the escort—delayed by the time it took to fuel the carrier—were to sail the following day. “The twilight sortie,” First Lieutenant Robert D. Heinl, Jr., as commander of Battery F, 3-Inch Antiaircraft Group, wrote of the Tangier’s sailing, “dramatized the adventure.” The ships steamed past somber reminders of 7 December—the beached battleship Nevada and a Douglas SBD Dauntless from the Enterprise that had been shot down by “friendly fire” off Fort Kamehameha. “The waters beyond sight of Oahu,” First Lieutenant Heinl noted, “seemed very lonely waters indeed.... Columbus’ men, sailing westward in hourly apprehension of toppling off the edge of a square earth, could not have felt the seas to be more inscrutable and less friendly.”




  Wake’s dogged defense caused Vice Admiral Shigeyoshi Inoue, Commander, South Seas Force (Fourth Fleet), to seek help. Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto, the Commander in Chief of the Combined Fleet, responded by assigning a force under the command of Rear Admiral Hiroaki Abe, Commander, 8th Cruiser Division, consisting of carriers Hiryu and Soryu and escorting ships, to reinforce Inoue. At 1630 on 16 December, the two carriers (with 118 aircraft), screened by the heavy cruisers Tone and Chikuma and the destroyers Tanikaze and Urakaze, detached from their Pearl Harbor Striking Force, and headed toward Wake.




  As Abe’s ships steamed toward Wake, U.S. Navy radio intelligence operators intercepted Japanese radio transmissions. The messages, when decoded, caused the intelligence analysts to suspect that connections existed among the Japanese Fourth Fleet operations “CruDiv 8” (the Tone and the Chikuma), “Cardiv 2” (the Soryu and the Hiryu), and “Airon 24” (24th Flotilla). Aerial reconnaissance flights from the Marshalls followed.




  The following afternoon Rear Admiral Bloch sent a message that must have seemed a trifle unrealistic to Cunningham, who was primarily concerned with defending the atoll and keeping his men alive. The message stated that it was “highly desirable” that the dredging of the channel across Wilkes continue and inquired about the feasibility “under present conditions” of finishing the work with equipment at hand. It requested an estimated date of completion.




  On 17 December, something occurred at Pearl Harbor which harbored ill portents for the Wake Island relief operation. Admiral Kimmel was relieved of command. In a perfunctory ceremony at the Submarine Base, Kimmel relinquished command to Vice Admiral William S. Pye, who would serve as the acting commander until Admiral Chester W. Nimitz arrived to assume command. Pye inherited an operation about which he would soon harbor many reservations. The next day (18 December), CinCPac’s radio intelligence men noted again that ... “Cardiv and Crudiv 8 continued to be associated with the Fourth Fleet in communications.”




  While the acting CinCPac digested that latest disquieting intelligence and sent it along to Fletcher and Brown, Wake’s defenders endured another air raid. On the 19th, 27 Nells came in from the northwest at 1135, and dropped bombs on the remainder of the PanAm facility on Peale and on Camp 1 on Wake. Battery D fired 70 rounds at the attacking planes, and both Godbold and Marine Gunner McKinstry reported seeing one plane leaving the sky over the atoll, trailing a plume of smoke behind it. An aviator, they said, drifted down in his parachute some distance from land. Wake’s gunners had actually done far better than they had thought. Of 27 planes engaged, 12 had been hit by antiaircraft fire.




  Cunningham responded to Bloch’s message of the previous day that up to that point he had been concerned only with defending the island and preserving lives. He addressed the completion of the channel by listing the difficulties associated with the task. He pointed out that blackout conditions militated working at night, and that Japanese air raids, which came without warning, reduced the amount of work which could be accomplished during the day. But working during the day was hazardous, he said, because noisy equipment prevented workmen from being alerted to the incoming planes in time for them to take cover. Furthermore, the amount of contractor’s equipment was being continually reduced by the bombings. Additionally, continuing the projects would require the immediate replenishment of diesel oil and dynamite. With morale of the civilian workmen generally low, Cunningham could not predict, under the prevailing conditions, when the construction projects would be completed. He further declared that “relief from raids would improve [the] outlook.” After recording, in a second message the damage inflicted by the Japanese on the base on Peale, the atoll commander noted that, since the outbreak of war, the efforts involved in assisting in the defense and salvage operations had fully occupied all of the contractors’ men. Cunningham continued by noting the additional numbers of dead or missing civilians since his earlier dispatch on the subject, and described the civilians’ morale as “extremely low.” He reiterated his request to consider evacuating the civilians, since the large number of them who were not contributing to the defensive efforts required sustenance, which drew on the stores required by those actively engaged in the defensive operations.




  In the meantime, Vice Admiral Pye had passed on to Brown information pointing toward Japan’s establishment of an air base in the Gilberts and the existence of a submarine force at Jaluit. Most disturbing of all was the news that CinCPac’s intelligence people knew of “no definite location of [the] force which attacked Oahu.” For all anyone knew, the Japanese carriers whose planes had bombed Pearl Harbor could be lurking almost anywhere!




  Considering the newly established enemy air bases that he would have to pass en route to Jaluit, Brown could see that Japanese air searches from those places might spot Task Force 11 before it reached its objective. He began fueling his ships on the 18th—the same day that Rear Admiral William F. Halsey, Jr.’s Task Force 8 sailed from Pearl to support Task Forces 11 and 14—and informed the task force of its objective. Brown completed the fueling operations on the 19th. That done, he detached his oiler, the Neosho (AO-23), to stand out of danger, and contemplated what lay ahead.




  Fletcher’s Task Force 14, meanwhile, pressed westward. At noon on the 19th, the Saratoga and her consorts were 1,020 miles east of Wake. D-Day had been set for the 24th.




  



    




    Admiral Frank Jack Fletcher, the commander of Task Force 14, is the subject of much historical “Monday morning quarterbacking.” All these commentators have the benefit of something neither Pye, the overall commander, nor Fletcher, on the scene, had—hindsight. As “Soc” McMorris (Admiral Kimmel’s war plans officer) put it, “We had no more idea’n a billygoat,” about what Japanese forces lay off Wake. The welter of message traffic linking CruDivs, CarDivs, and BatDivs with land-based air painted a formidable picture of what might be encountered by a single U.S. Navy carrier task force. While the Navy pilots may have been well trained, Saratoga’s embarked fighter squadron was understrength, having only 13 operational Wildcats.
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    Nor could the Marines of VMF-221 (bound for Wake) have been counted on as an effective adjunct to Saratoga’s squadron, since they had not operated from a carrier. An even more compelling argument for how VMF-221 would have performed in the emergency is that Major General Ross Rowell, commanding the 2d Marine Aircraft Wing, knowing of 221’s manpower and operational deficiencies, lamented having to send “[Major Verne] McCaul’s half-baked outfit into that mess.” Rowell knew that maintaining the temperamental Brewster F2A-3 Buffalo fighters at a stateside air base with all the conveniences had been a chore—let alone having to operate the F2A-3 at an advance base (especially one that had been so badly cut-up as Wake had been) or at sea on a carrier (where the F2A’s performance—especially with landing gear failures—was nearly infamous).




    And, too, the three carriers committed to the relief expedition were all there were in the Pacific. There were no reserves. Even though the Japanese harbored no ideas of conquest of Hawaii at that time—they were through with Oahu for the time being—Pye and his advisors had no way of knowing that. What intelligence existed pointed toward a potential disaster for an island where the issue was, as Cunningham correctly perceived, very much in doubt!




    When asked in 1970 if the relief expedition’s arrival would have made any difference in the outcome at Wake, retired Brigadier General Devereux answered: “I rather doubt that that particular task force, with its size and composition, could have been very effective.... I think it was wise ... to pull back.”
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  Shortly before 1600 on 20 December, scrutinized by Wake Island’s only serviceable F4F, a Consolidated PBY Catalina flying boat bearing mail landed in the lagoon. It arrived in the midst of a rain squall, but the defenders welcomed the precipitation because it worsened the flying weather and inhibited the Japanese bombing efforts. Commander Keene’s sailors moored the Catalina and fueled it for the next morning’s flight.




  As “Barney” Barninger observed, the flying boat’s arrival “set the island on end with scuttlebutt.” Most men surmised that the civilians would be evacuated. The scuttlebutt was partially correct. From the secret orders carried on board the PBY, Cunningham learned that he was to prepare all but 350 civilians (those to be selected “by specific trades to continue the more important of the projects,” one of which was the completion of the ship channel between Wake and Wilkes) for evacuation. He was also notified that fire control, radar, and other equipment was being sent, along with reinforcements of both men and machinery.




  That day, Commander Cunningham recounted the events which had occurred to date in a report to Rear Admiral Bloch. Although many air raids had occurred, he reported, that most had resulted in few casualties and little damage to installations. He attributed Wake’s escape from more serious damage to the effectiveness of the Marines’ antiaircraft fire—fire delivered despite the lack of fire control equipment. A former fighter pilot, he also lavished unstinting praise on VMF-211’s aviators, who had “never failed to push home attacks against heavy fire.” That none of the planes had been shot down, he marvelled, “is a miracle.”




  The representative of the Bureau of the Budget, Herman P. Hevenor, who had arrived on Wake via the Clipper on 7 December to check the progress of construction on the atoll and review the expenditures, wrote to the Bureau telling them of the siege to that point and praising those who led the defense. “The Commanding Officer [Cunningham] and his staff, including the Marine Officers, have done a big job and an efficient one. Their stand against the Japs has been marvelous and they deserve everything our Government can give them....”




  Major Putnam dashed off a report of VMF-211’s operations to Lieutenant Colonel Claude A. Larkin, commanding officer of Marine Aircraft Group (MAG) 21. After recounting the losses of both planes and men suffered by his squadron, and the damage he felt his men had inflicted upon the enemy, Putnam wrote that a large share of the squadron’s records had been destroyed on the first day, and since then, “parts and assemblies have been traded back and forth so that no airplane can be identified. Engines have been traded from plane to plane, have been junked, stripped, rebuilt, and all but created.” Practically all of 211’s gear had been destroyed. Quartermaster property lay scattered about, wholly unaccounted for.




  Nevertheless, he praised his men. “All hands have behaved splendidly and held up in a manner of which the Marine Corps may well tell.” He singled out the “indefatigable labor, the ingenuity, skill, and technical knowledge of Lieutenant Kinney and Technical Sergeant Hamilton,” since “it is solely due to their efforts that the squadron is still operating.”1




  



  The next morning the PBY crew and their only passenger, Major Walter L. J. Bayler, who had completed his temporary duty at Wake, clambered on board the Catalina. The PBY taxied into the lagoon and took off for Midway.




  As the PBY departed, a Japanese task force steamed toward Wake Island, intent upon attacking on the 22d. The arrival and departure of that PBY, however, influenced the Japanese plans. On 20 December, Rear Admiral Abe received a report (based upon the radio messages the PBY sent as it approached Wake) that planes from Patrol Squadron 23 had advanced to Wake from Midway the previous day. Consequently, the commander of the South Seas Force, hoping to catch and destroy those planes, pressed Abe to advance the attack one day. The Wake Island Reinforcement Force increased its speed to 30 knots.




  In the meantime, on the morning of 21 December, Rear Admiral Kajioka set out from the Marshalls for a second attempt at Wake. The attacking naval forces included the same ships that had participated in the first attack, the destroyers Asanagi and Yunagi (which replaced the Hayate and the Kisaragi, which had been sunk during the initial attack), and some reinforcements, four heavy cruisers (Kako, Aoba, Furutaka and Kinugasa) that had recently taken part in the occupation of Guam, and the seaplane carrier Kiyokawa Maru. Instead of 225 troops in each converted destroyer, 250 (some of whom had taken part in the seizure of Guam) had been embarked. Landing exercises had been conducted at Kwajalein.




  At 0700 on the 21st, beneath cloudy skies, Hiryu and Soryu turned into the northeasterly wind and began launching planes. The aircraft arrived over Wake at about 0900 to find a 200-meter ceiling and, seeing no U.S. patrol planes, circled at 50 to 200 meters and began attacking shore installations. Antiaircraft fire hardly seemed to hinder them as they “worked things over a bit” and gave embattled defenders their first taste of dive-bombing. Soryu’s and Hiryu’s aviators, having experienced the flak over Pearl Harbor, reported “very slight” resistance from antiaircraft fire. “The enemy,” Rear Admiral Abe reflected, “seemed to lose their fighting spirits.”




  The blow had fallen without warning. It caught Second Lieutenant Kliewer eating breakfast with the crews of the two .50-caliber machine guns at the west end of the field. He admired them for the way in which they stuck to their guns amidst the bombing and strafing, continuing to fire “when other guns on the island [had been] silenced.”




  The raid had caught Major Putnam returning from Camp 2 in a truck. He attempted to reach the only flyable F4F, but strafing Zeroes twice forced him away. Only after the Mitsubishis and Aichis left the vicinity, at about 1020, was he able to take off and attempt to follow them to their ships. Although he was not successful in that endeavor, his attempt typified the “highest order of courage and resolution” that he displayed throughout the siege. As Putnam searched for the Japanese fleet, Cunningham radioed word of the morning’s raid to CinCPac and the Commandant of the 14th Naval District.




  Later that day, 33 Nells paid Wake a visit. The antiaircraft fire, however, apparently forced them to bomb from a higher altitude than before (18,000 feet vice 13,000). Although Dan Godbold claimed to have seen one plane dropping from the skies over Wake, trailing smoke, all G3M2s returned safely to Roi. Their bombs, however, had fallen thickly about the battery, scoring a bullseye on the director emplacement, killing Platoon Sergeant Johnalson E. Wright, wounding three other men, and knocking unconscious the range officer, Second Lieutenant Robert W. Greeley. The M-4 director, although destroyed by the bomb, deflected the full force of the explosion from Greeley and saved his life.




  Wright, the firing battery officer, had been known for his cheerfulness and boundless vitality. Although during previous raids he had been told to take cover, he had remained at his post, calmly giving orders and disregarding the bombs. His seemingly tireless efforts to improve the efficiency of the battery earned him a Bronze Star posthumously.




  At Peacock Point, a bomb had fallen near the shelter belonging to Barninger’s no. 2 gun crew, causing the entrance to be blocked and blowing the sides in. Fortunately, no one was hurt. “The bomb hitting the shelter,” Barninger wrote later, “was the only one close to the guns.” He and his men spent the rest of the day repairing the damaged shelter. Most of the Marines, though, began feeling that foxholes were better. “Although we didn’t lose a man,” Barninger commented, “it was a close thing and with the heavy caliber bombs the shelter is too light. For that reason we are all back in the foxholes.”




  On the previous day, Major Devereux had ordered Marine Gunner McKinstry to keep the two guns of Battery F firing to divert the enemy’s attention from the only complete battery on the island, Battery E. On the 22d, McKinstry’s gunners put on a fine performance, despite having neither director nor heightfinder to help them. Firing by the expedient of “lead ’em a mile,” the two guns of Battery F kept the enemy guessing as to which group of guns was the greater threat.
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      2dLt Carl R. Davidson (seen circa September 1941), VMF-211’s assistant gunnery officer, was awarded a Navy Cross posthumously for courageously and unhesitatingly attacking an overwhelming number of Kates on 21 December.


    


  




  Nevertheless, all of the planes from Hiryu and Soryu returned undamaged to their decks. Then, Abe’s force steamed south to be in a position 200 miles from Wake the next day to provide an antisubmarine screen for Kajioka’s ships.




  At Pearl Harbor, Vice Admiral Pye read with concern Cunningham’s dispatch reporting the raid by carrier planes. The Japanese had inserted a dangerous new factor into the equation. Pye deemed it essential “to insure [the] defense of the [Hawaiian] islands.” With the Army’s Hawaiian defense in shambles, and the battleship strength significantly reduced by the Japanese attack on 7 December, he believed that the Pacific Fleet’s three carriers constituted the best protection for Oahu. After he considered the evidence of increased Japanese air activity in the Marshalls, with one, or perhaps two, carrier groups in that vicinity, as well as “evidence of extensive offshore lookout and patrol,” he decided that a surprise raid on Jaluit could not be conducted successfully. Thus, Pye reluctantly abandoned the proposed carrier raid on the Marshalls.




  While he allowed the efforts to relieve Wake to continue, Pye warned Fletcher not to get within 200 miles of the atoll, and directed Brown to move north with Task Force 11 to support Task Force 14. That decided, on the afternoon of 20 December, he radioed his decision to the Navy Department.




  With efforts to relieve Wake progressing, CinCPac radioed Cunningham on the morning of the 22d (21st at Pearl Harbor) and asked him to report the condition of the aircraft runways. He also requested to be informed immediately of any significant developments.




  At 0800 on 22 December, 39 planes from the Soryu and the Hiryu ascended and headed into the gray skies above the beleaguered atoll. Their pilots expected to meet American fighters.




  Second Lieutenant Davidson took off from Wake at 1000, cranked up his landing gear, and set out on the regular midday patrol. Engine trouble prevented Captain Freuler from getting aloft until 1030.




  Shortly before noon, Davidson, patrolling to the north of Wake, radioed Freuler, then flying to the south of the atoll, informing him of approaching enemy aircraft. In spite of the odds, both men gave battle.
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      Capt Herbert C. Freuler (seen circa September 1941), was VMF-211’s gunnery and ordnance officer. Freuler was commissioned a second lieutenant in July 1931. He was awarded a Navy Cross and a Bronze Star for heroism at Wake.


    


  




  Freuler engaged six carrier attack planes and dropped one, trailing smoke, out of formation on his first pass. As the group of Nakajimas broke up, he made an opposite approach and fired, flaming one Kate, which exploded in an expanding ball of fire about 50 feet beneath him. As his controls responded sluggishly, and his badly scorched F4F’s manifold pressure dropped, he glanced back toward Wake and saw Davidson engaging several enemy planes. An instant later, a Hiryu Zero got on Freuler’s tail and opened fire. Bullets penetrated Freuler’s fuselage, both sides of his vacuum tank, the bulkhead, seat, and parachute. After his plane was hit, Freuler threw his F4F into a steep dive—the Japanese pilot did not follow him—nursed it home, and landed with the canopy stuck in the closed position. Ground crews extricated him and took him to the hospital.




  Carl Davidson, unfortunately, did not return. The pilot who had knocked Freuler out of the fight went to the rescue of his shipmates and shot down Davidson. Rear Admiral Abe later paid homage to the two Marine pilots who had challenged his carrier planes, lauding them as having resisted fiercely and bravely.




  The Soryu lost two planes and their three-man crews. Damage suffered in the aerial action compelled a third to ditch, but one of the screening ships recovered its crew.




  That afternoon, at 1320, Cunningham radioed Pye that a “combined land- and carrier-based plane attack” had occurred and that his fighters had engaged the attackers. He reported Davidson’s loss and the wounding of Freuler, but noted that they had shot down “several” planes. The atoll had suffered “no further damage.” As “Barney” Barninger later recounted: “Dive bombers again—the carriers must still be in the vicinity.... Things are getting tense. Rumor continues to fly about relief, but the dive bombers [are] also present. Things go on in the same manner as before. All that can be done is being done, but there is so little to do [it] with.”




  Heavy seas bedevilled Frank Jack Fletcher’s Task Force 14 as it pressed westward. Having been ordered to fuel to capacity before fighting, Fletcher began fueling his ships from Neches in the turbulent seas. Rolling swells and gusty winds slowed that process considerably and permitted the fueling of only four of his destroyers. If Fletcher was expected to fight, his ships would require more fuel to be able to maneuver at high speed, if necessary. He resolved to top off the rest the following day (23 December).




  

  

    Wreckage of what is probably Capt Freuler’s plane, on the beach where he crash-landed it on 22 December, after he had destroyed a Kate in aerial combat. Bullets penetrated his fuselage, vacuum tank, bulkhead, seat, and parachute.
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  Meanwhile, at around 1900 on 21 December (1530, 22 December Wake), the PBY that had borne Major Bayler (the “last man off Wake Island”) from Wake to Midway arrived at Pearl Harbor. The plane’s commander dictated a report, which was transcribed by a CinCPac stenographer shortly after the pilot’s arrival, regarding Wake’s desperate plight. Pye, upon reading the report, was deeply moved. Members of Pye’s staff, many of whom had also faithfully served on Admiral Kimmel’s staff, pleaded with Pye’s Chief of Staff, Rear Admiral Milo F. Draemel, on behalf of the Wake relief efforts. Referring to the PBY commander’s report, Pye declared later, “the situation at Wake seemed to warrant taking a greater chance to effect its reinforcement even at the sacrifice of the Tangier and possible damage to some major ships of Task Force 14.” The admiral therefore removed the restrictions on Task Force 14’s operations. The Tangier was to be detached with two destroyers to run in to Wake to begin the evacuation of the civilians and to disembark the Marines.
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      The sound of the heavy surf surging ashore continuously in the defenders’ ears as it pounded the reef that ringed the atoll, militated against their hearing approaching enemy planes—a decided disadvantage in view of Wake’s lack of radar.


    


  




  Pye also rescinded the restrictions on the operating areas of Task Forces 8 and 11, allowing them to support Cunningham’s command more effectively. Those on the staff who had pleaded for the relief force to continue toward Wake felt vindicated by Pye’s decision that night.




  Meanwhile, at Wake, with Commander Cunningham’s prior approval, Paul Putnam, with no flyable planes left, reported his men to Major Devereux for service as infantrymen. Devereux ordered Putnam to keep his squadron where it was and await further orders.






  

    1 In a marginal note to this report by Putnam upon his return from a POW camp in Japan, in October 1945, he added AMM1c Hesson’s name to those of Kinney and Hamilton.
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  Shortly after midnight, First Lieutenant Barninger noted flashing lights “way off the windy side of the island.” Alerted to the odd display on the horizon in the darkness, Barninger telephoned Major Devereux, who replied that he also had seen it. Devereux directed Barninger to keep a watch out and cautioned the Peacock Point strongpoint commander to be mindful that the lee shore posed the most possibilities for danger. Lookouts continued to note irregular flashes of light in the black, gusty, rainy predawn of 23 December 1941. It may have been the Tenryu, the Tatsuta, and the Yubari firing blindly at what their spotters thought was Wake Island but which was, instead, only empty ocean.




  At 0145, however, a report came into the detachment commander’s command post, telling of an enemy landing in progress at Toki Point, at the tip of Peale. Devereux alerted the battalion. Kessler, in the meantime, dispatched a patrol up the lagoon beach toward the PanAm facility, which met a patrol from Battery D. Neither had anything to report. On Wilkes, Captain Platt directed Battery L to move the men of two 5-inch gun sections (equivalent to two rifle squads) to the shore of the lagoon, west of the area of the new channel being dredged across the island. The rest of the men of the battery—fire controlmen and headquarters men under McAlister, who had established his command post near the searchlight section of the battery—moved into positions they had readied along the south shore of Wilkes, between McKinstry’s Battery F and the new channel.




  Kessler, whom Devereux had requested to confirm or deny the accuracy of the information regarding the landing, reported that there was no landing in progress, but that he had seen the lights offshore. Cunningham, at 0145, radioed the Commandant, 14th Naval District, reporting “gunfire between ships to northeast of island.”




  Wake thus alerted, Second Lieutenant Arthur A. Poindexter, at Camp 1 with the mobile reserve (predominantly supply and administration Marines and 15 sailors under Boatswain’s Mate First Class James E. Barnes), believed Peale to be threatened. He exercised initiative and entrucked eight Marines and with four .30-caliber machine guns. Reporting his intention to the detachment commander, Poindexter and that portion of his mobile reserve sped past the airfield toward Peale. It was nearing Devereux’s command post when he ordered it intercepted. The major retained Poindexter’s little force where it was, pending clarification of the situation.




  The bad weather that prevented the Marines from seeing their foes likewise hindered the Japanese. Shortly before 0200, Special Naval Landing Force troops clambered down into the medium landing craft designated to land on Wilkes and Wake. Four landing craft were launched some 3,000 to 4,000 meters offshore, but in the squalls and long swells they experienced difficulty keeping up with Patrol Boat No. 32 and Patrol Boat No. 33 as they churned on a northeasterly course, headed for the beach. The landing craft designated to follow No. 32 lost sight of her in the murky, gusty darkness.




  At about 0230, Marines on Peacock Point detected the two patrol boats, which appeared to them only as dark shapes as they made for the reef by the airstrip. Then, the two ships ground gently ashore on the coral. The Japanese naval infantrymen slipped over the side into the surf, struggled ashore, and sprinted across the coral for cover.




  On Wilkes, Gunner McKinstry called to Captain Platt and informed him that he thought he heard the sound of engines over the boom of the surf, and at 0235 one of his .50-caliber guns (gun no. 10) opened fire in the darkness. Ten minutes later, McKinstry, having sought permission to use illumination, caused a searchlight to be turned on. Although the light was shut off as suddenly as it had been turned on, its momentary beam revealed a landing boat aground on Wilkes’ rocky shore and, beyond that, two destroyers, beached on Wake.
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      1stLt Arthur A. Poindexter (seen here in a post-war photograph), commander of the mobile reserve on Wake, provided such evidence of “exemplary conduct and ability to lead troops ... with utter disregard for his own safety” that he was ultimately awarded the Bronze Star.


    


  




  McAlister ordered Platoon Sergeant Henry A. Bedell to detail two men to hurl grenades into the enemy craft. The veteran non-commissioned officer, accompanied only by Private First Class William F. Buehler, gamely tackled the task, but Japanese gunfire killed Bedell and wounded Buehler before either had been able to work their way close enough to lob grenades into the boats.




  McKinstry’s men, meanwhile, manned the 3-inchers of Battery F, but the guns could not be depressed enough to fire onto the beach. The Marines held their position until the men from the Takano Unit of the Special Naval Landing Force approached closely enough to begin lobbing grenades. Marines and Japanese grappled in the darkness, hand-to-hand, before McKinstry’s men, after removing the firing locks from the guns, pulled back to take up infantry positions. Their concentrated fires kept most of the Japanese at bay near the 3-inch gun position.




  Other Special Naval Landing Force troops, however, probed westward, toward the 5-inch guns that had so humbled Kajioka’s force on the 11th. They ran into heavy fire from gun no. 9, a well-camouflaged .50-caliber Browning, handled skillfully by 20-year old Private First Class Sanford K. Ray and situated some 75 yards west of where the Takano Unit had first swarmed ashore. Ray’s fire prevented the enemy from advancing closer than 40 or 50 yards from his sand-bagged position, and his proximity to the beach allowed him not only to harass the enemy but also to report enemy movements. Although Japanese troops had severed most wire communication lines, Platt remained in touch with developments at the shoreline by reports from Ray.




  Reports from observers along the beach soon began to deluge Devereux’s command post, where he and his executive officer, Major Potter, attempted to keep abreast of events. Gunner Hamas relayed the information to Cunningham, at his command post. On the basis of those reports, the island commander, at 0250, radioed the Commandant of the 14th Naval District: “Island under gunfire. Enemy apparently landing.”




  At that point, Devereux directed Poindexter to move the mobile reserve into the area between Camp 1 and the west end of the airfield. Since the eight Marines had remained in the truck with the four machine guns, only 15 minutes elapsed before they set up both gun sections in a position commanding the road that ran along the south shore and also covering a critical section of beach. Within moments, Poindexter’s Brownings chattered and spat into the dim shape of the grounded Patrol Boat No. 32, most of the bullets striking the after part of the ship. Special Naval Landing Force troops who disclosed their positions by igniting flares soon came under fire. At Camp 1, just up the coast, men from Battery I and the sailors who had been serving as lookouts manned the four .30-caliber machine guns set up there. From Poindexter’s vantage point, the enemy troops appeared confused and disoriented, shouting and discharging a number of flares, perhaps for “control and coordination.”




  Having received a report of Japanese destroyers standing toward Wake’s south shore (and well inside the range of the 5-inch batteries that had so vexed the enemy on 11 December), Second Lieutenant Robert M. Hanna, who commanded the machine guns emplaced at the airstrip, clearly perceived the threat. Accompanied by Corporal Ralph J. Holewinski and three civilians, Paul Gay, Eric Lehtola, and Bob Bryan, Hanna set off at a dead run for the 3-inch gun that had been emplaced on the landward side of the beach road, on a slight rise between the beach road and the oiled tie-down area at the airstrip. Up to that point, Major Putnam’s grounded airmen, their ground support unit, and the volunteer civilians, had been awaiting further orders. As Hanna and his scratch 3-inch crew sprinted to the then-unmanned gun, Devereux ordered Putnam to support the lieutenant.




  Putnam assigned Second Lieutenant Kliewer to a post on the west end of the airfield, along with Staff Sergeant John F. Blandy, Sergeant Robert E. Bourquin, Jr., and Corporal Carroll E. Trego. They were to set off the mines on the field if the enemy attempted to use it. Two .50-caliber guns situated just north of the airstrip covered Kliewer’s position. At the eastern end of the strip lay the guns manned by Corporal Winford J. McAnally, along with six Marines and three civilians and supported by a small group of riflemen. The gunners enjoyed a perfect, unobstructed field of fire—the airstrip itself.




  About 0300, just at a time when events began to develop with startling rapidity as the Japanese pushed ashore on Wilkes and Wake, Major Devereux lost touch with Camp 1, Putnam’s platoon, Hanna’s command post near the airstrip, and Barninger’s Battery A. Advancing Japanese troops probably had found the communication lines—the exigencies of war had prevented them from being buried—and cut them. Devereux’s last situation reports from those units painted a bleak picture. If Cunningham received less-than-encouraging reports from the defense battalion commander, he received equally grim news from CinCPac when, at 0319 Wake time, Pearl Harbor radioed to Wake that the Triton and Tambor were returning to Hawaiian waters. “No friendly vessels should be in your vicinity today,” the message stated, “Keep me informed.”




  

  

    Painting by artist Albin Henning shows Marines firing a .30-caliber Browning machine gun as Japanese landing force sailors splash ashore. While inaccurate in details (barbed wire, for example, is an artist’s invention because no such obstruction existed at Wake Island, since the coral reef surrounding the atoll was bare of any holding ground for the stakes or anchors necessary to keep them in place), it does capture the desperate nature of the Marines’ final day’s fighting.
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  Hanna and his men, meanwhile, reached the 3-inch gun and set to work. Anxious hands fumbled in the darkness for ammunition while Hanna—since the gun lacked sights—peered down the bore to draw a bead on the beached and stationary Patrol Boat No. 33 that lay less than 500 yards away. The first round tore into the ship’s bridge, seriously wounding both the captain and navigator, killing two seamen, and wounding five. Hanna’s gun hurled 14 more rounds on target. Some of his projectiles evidently touched off a magazine, and the beached warship began to burn. The illumination provided by the burning ship revealed her sistership, which Hanna and his hard-working gunners bombarded, as well. A short time later three Special Naval Landing Force sailors attacked Hanna’s exposed position. In the ensuing fight, Hanna cooly shot and killed all three enemy sailors with his pistol and resumed the operation of his 3-incher.
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      MAP 3




      SITUATION ON WAKE ISLAND


      0400, 23 DECEMBER 1941


    

  




  Reinforcing Hanna’s cannoneers became the next order of business. Devereux felt compelled to keep Peale’s Battery B intact to deal with surface threats, and Battery E (which, by that point, had a full complement of guns and crews along with the only heightfinder and director) to deal with enemy planes. That left Godbold’s Battery D, which by that point possessed only two operational guns and no fire-control gear. Devereux directed Godbold to send one section (nine men) to the battalion command post to reinforce Hanna’s crew. Under Corporal Leon A. Graves, the squad clambered on board a contractor’s truck and reached the command post about 0315. They were to proceed along the road that paralleled the shoreline to a junction some 600 yards south of the airfield, where they were to leave the truck and proceed through the brush to Hanna’s position. Quickly, they set out into the night.




  The flames from the wrecked Patrol Boat No. 33 disclosed Japanese troops advancing past the west end of the airstrip into the thick undergrowth in front of the mobile reserve’s positions. Poindexter, after ordering one machine gun section to keep up a fire into the brush to interdict that movement and protect his own flank, heard machine gun fire from Camp 1, behind him. Wanting to see for himself if more Japanese landing craft were coming ashore to his rear, the lieutenant, accompanied by his runner, left the front in charge of Sergeant “QT” Wade, and hurried back to the camp.




  There, unable to see at what his neophyte sailor-gunners were expending their ammunition, Poindexter asked each to point out his target. Two could not—they’d opened fire only because the other two had done so—but a third pointed to the dim outline of what appeared to be a “large landing barge on the order of a self-propelled artillery lighter.” When another craft of the same type seemed to materialize out of the murk, Poindexter ordered firing resumed at what proved to be two large landing craft that were attempting to ground themselves 1,200 yards east of the entrance to Wilkes Channel.




  The enemy coxswains, however, appeared to be having difficulty coaxing the unwieldy landing craft onto the beach, backing off and trying again and again to land the Special Naval Landing Force men crouched behind the gunwales, which seemed to be deflecting the .30-caliber bullets peppering them. Seizing the moment, Poindexter called for volunteers to pick their way down the rocky beach to the water’s edge, there to lob grenades into the boats. Poindexter organized two teams—Mess Sergeant Gerald Carr and a civilian, Raymond R. “Cap” Rutledge (who had served in the Army in France in World War I), in one, Poindexter and Boatswain’s Mate First Class Barnes in the other. The grenadiers dashed to the water’s edge while the machine guns momentarily held their fire. Barnes, taking cover behind coral heads, remained hidden until the barges ground ashore again. Then, exposing himself to enemy fire, he hurled several grenades toward the Japanese craft, and managed to land at least one inside, killing or wounding many of the troops on board.




  The valiant efforts of Poindexter and his men, however, stopped the Japanese just momentarily, for soon they began swarming ashore and moving inland. Shortly before the wire communications to Devereux’s command post failed, Poindexter reported the result of his foray.




  Having seen flares streaking skyward in the murk, Captain Godbold on Peale, meanwhile, sent out two patrols, one to move westward toward the naval air base, and the other to go eastward along the lagoon’s shore. Neither patrol encountered any enemy troops. A half-hour later, Godbold established an outpost at the bridge connecting Peale and Wake.
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      MAP 4




      JAPANESE LANDING ON WILKES


      0300, 23 DECEMBER, 1941




  




  Meanwhile, after word of the enemy landing reached Pearl Harbor, Vice Admiral Pye convened a meeting of his staff. By 0700 (22 December, Hawaiian time), having received further word of developments at Wake, Pye estimated that a relief of the island looked impossible, given the prevailing situation, and directed that the Tangier should be diverted toward the east. With the relief mission abandoned, should his forces attack the enemy forces in the vicinity of Wake? Or should American forces be withdrawn to the east? He feared that the timing of the Japanese carrier strikes and the landing then in progress indicated that the enemy had “estimated closely the time at which our relief expedition might arrive and may, if the general location of our carrier groups is estimated, be waiting in force.” American forces could inflict extensive damage upon Japanese, Pye believed, if the enemy did not know of the presence of the U.S. carrier task forces. They had not yet seen action, though, and no one could overestimate the danger of having ships damaged 2,000 miles from the nearest repair facilities—“a damaged ship is a lost ship,” Brown had commented in Task Force 11’s war diary. Damage to the carriers could leave the Hawaiian Islands open to a major enemy thrust. “We cannot,” Pye declared, “afford such losses at present.”




  Two courses of action existed—to direct Task Force 14 to attack Japanese forces in the vicinity of Wake, with Task Forces 8 and 11 covering Task Force 14’s retirement, or to retire all forces without any attempt to attack the enemy. These choices weighed heavily on Pye’s mind. If American forces hit the Japanese ships at Wake and suffered the loss of a carrier air group in the process, Pye deemed the “offensive spirit” shown by the Navy as perhaps worth the sacrifice.




  However, in the midst of his deliberations, shortly after 0736, Pye received a message from the CNO which noted that recent developments had emphasized that Wake was a “liability” and authorized Pye to “evacuate Wake with appropriate demolition.” With Japanese forces on the island, though, Pye felt that capitulation was only a matter of time. “The real question at issue,” Pye thought, “is, shall we take the chance of the loss of a carrier group to attempt to attack the enemy forces in the vicinity of Wake?” Radio intelligence from the previous day linked “CruDiv 8 ... CarDiv 2” and, erroneously, “BatDiv 3” (consisting of two battleships) with the forces off of Wake. A pair of Kongo-class fast battleships, supported by carriers and heavy cruisers would easily have overmatched Fletcher’s Task Force 14.




  In the meantime, Japanese cruisers—probably the Yubari, Tenryu, and Tatsuta—had begun shelling Wake, further discomfitting the defenders. Despite Lewis’ Battery E firing “prearranged 3-inch air burst concentrations” over the Japanese beachhead, the enemy continued to press steadily toward VMF-211’s position around Hanna’s 3-inch gun. Major Putnam, already wounded in the jaw, with blood from his wound staining the backs of the snapshots of his little daughters, which he carried in his pocket, formed his final line. “This,” he said, “is as far as we go.”
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      Marine Corps Historical Collection




      Raymond R. “Cap” Rutledge, one of the contractors on Wake, (seen here as a POW at Shanghai in January 1942), had served in the U.S. Army during World War I and threw hand grenades into Japanese landing barges off Wake in the pre-dawn fighting of 23 December.


   

  




  Putnam had placed Captain Elrod in command of one flank of VMF-211’s defensive line, which was situated in dense undergrowth. In the impenetrable darkness, the squadron executive officer and his men—most of whom were unarmed civilians who acted as weapons and ammunition carriers (until weapons became available)—conducted a spirited defense which repeated attacks by Special Naval Landing Force troops could not dislodge. Each time he heard Japanese troops mounting a probe of 211’s position, Elrod interposed himself between the enemy and his own men and provided covering fire to enable his detachment to keep supplied with guns and ammunition. Shortly before dawn, a Japanese sailor who had hidden himself among the heaps of casualties surrounding Hanna’s gun shot and killed the gallant Captain Elrod.




  Captain Tharin, in charge of a group of Marines on the left flank of VMF-211’s line, delivered covering fire for the unarmed ammunition carriers attached to his unit, which repulsed several assaults on his position. At one point, Japanese sailors penetrated the defenses in Tharin’s sector, but in the counterattack, which drove the enemy from the position, Tharin captured an enemy automatic weapon and used it “successfully and effectively against its former owners.” The indomitable Aviation Machinist’s Mate First Class Hesson armed himself with a Thompson sub-machine gun and some grenades and although wounded by rifle fire and grenade fragments, single-handedly drove back two concerted attacks—killing several Japanese and preventing them from overrunning 211’s flank.




  Despite the heroic efforts of Putnam’s “platoon,” the Japanese managed to move into the roughly triangular area which was bounded by Peacock Point, on one side, the beach and the south side of the airstrip on the others. Corporal Graves’ squad from Battery D, meanwhile, detrucked somewhat north of their intended destination (200 yards south of the airstrip rather than 600), began walking toward VMF-211’s position, and quickly encountered a Japanese patrol. In the ensuing fire-fight, enemy machine gun and rifle fire killed one Marine and pinned down the remainder for a time, until Graves and his men managed to extricate themselves and retire northward toward the battalion command post. Graves’ encounter indicated that the Japanese had penetrated the U.S. defenses. Despite their extraordinary efforts, neither Kliewer and the .50-caliber guns at the airfield, nor the Hanna-VMF-211 group at the 3-inch gun near the shore, had been able to stop them.




  At the same time, Batteries A and E began to receive mortar, small arms, and machine gun fire, prompting Barninger to deploy his range section, armed with two .30-caliber Brownings, and deployed as infantrymen, facing northwest “across the high ground” to the rear of the 5-inchers at Peacock Point. Lewis, whose 3-inch fire had silenced an automatic weapons position in the thick undergrowth southwest of Battery E, dispatched a patrol to try to relieve the pressure on his position. That group, under Sergeant Raymond Gragg, progressed only 50 yards beyond the perimeter before it came under heavy fire. The Japanese, however, moved no further because of the resistance put up by Gragg’s squad.
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      MAP 5




      U. S. COUNTERATTACK ON WILKES


      DAYBREAK, 23 DECEMBER 1941


    


  




  Amidst the chaos, Devereux groped for information about the progress of the battle. At some point, he received word from one of the few positions which had retained wire contact with his command post, Corporal McAnally’s machine gun section, which was located at the eastern end of the airstrip. McAnally reported that the Japanese were advancing up the shore road, apparently intent upon launching a thrust up the other prong of Wake. With one unit besetting Putnam’s at the airstrip, another Japanese unit skirted Putnam and Hanna and was headed into the triangular end of Peacock Point.




  McAnally, establishing contact with the .50-caliber machine guns on the east shore of Wake, some 400 yards south, carried on a “resolute, well-coordinated defense” which stymied the enemy in the area. Perhaps more important, McAnally served as Devereux’s eyes and ears on that portion of the battlefield.




  On Wilkes, Private First Class Ray’s defense of his position equalled that of McAnally’s. Captain Platt, having lost communication with his own posts and also with the defense battalion command post, set out on a personal reconnaissance mission at about 0430. He crawled through the thick underbrush and picked his way across the rocky beach, until, at about 0500, he came to a place east of gun no. 10 where he could see Special Naval Landing Force men massed in and about Battery F’s guns. Soon thereafter, while clambering back to the gun, Platt met Sergeant Raymond L. Coulson and ordered him to gather two .30-caliber machine gun crews and their guns at Kuku Point (where they had been sent during the false alarm earlier that morning), along with the searchlight crew and everyone else he could find, and to return to gun no. 10.




  Devereux, still isolated from his units and literally in the dark about the actions on Wilkes and those in the vicinity of Camp 1, attempted as best he could to keep the island commander informed. Cunningham, consequently, also had scant comprehension of the way the fighting was progressing in those areas. At 0500, about the time Captain Platt was reconnoitering the Japanese position on Wilkes, Cunningham radioed Commandant 14th Naval District, “Enemy on island. Issue in doubt.”




  Poindexter, meanwhile, satisfied that Camp 1 was being defended as well as possible, proceeded to the mobile reserve gun positions on the west side of the airfield. Japanese machine gun and mortar fire, accompanied by “much shouting” and “numerous pyrotechnic flares,” began to fall around those positions, partially disabling one U.S. gun section. As the sky over Wake began to lighten with the dawn, Poindexter became concerned about the enemy fire that had begun to land near his men, and also that the enemy troops infiltrating the woods might outflank the mobile reserve. He ordered a retirement toward Camp 1. The sections alternated in covering each other throughout the movement, maintaining a steady volume of fire. Reaching Camp 1 after daylight, Poindexter established a north-south line astride the shore road, east of a prominent water tank.




  While Poindexter deliberated the situation facing his force, Japanese movement along the east shore road increasingly pressed Corporal McAnally’s group. McAnally communicated his difficult situation to Devereux’s command post. Japanese hand grenades and small arms fire made life difficult for McAnally’s band, which nevertheless held its ground and broke up several assaults.




  Around 0530, Devereux told Major Potter to form a final defensive line astride the north-south road, which was being threatened from the south by the advancing Japanese. Calling Godbold’s Battery D into the action soon thereafter, Devereux committed his last reserve troops into the action on the east side of Wake. Aware of Corporal McAnally’s predicament, Devereux ordered the corporal’s combat group to withdraw northward, toward the command post, to join Major Potter’s detachment.




  On Wilkes at about that time, Sergeant Coulson rejoined Captain Platt with the two machine gun crews and guns, and eight riflemen. The surf that had masked the sound made by the invaders now worked to the advantage of the hard-pressed defenders. Along with the sputter and crackle of gunfire along the south shore of Wake and on Wilkes, it prevented the Japanese from discovering Platt’s briefing of his Marines for the assault on the abandoned Battery F position. In the waning darkness, Platt and his men crept toward the enemy, reaching a point less than 50 yards away from the abandoned 3-inchers. On Platt’s signal, the two machine guns chattered and spat toward the enemy position. His skirmishers charged forward and soon began engaging the Japanese—who, with no security on the west, were taken completely by surprise, and whose only light machine guns had been emplaced facing eastward, toward the old channel.




  Almost simultaneously with Platt’s assault, but not at all coordinated with it, McAlister (who lost contact with the Wilkes strongpoint commander soon after the enemy landing) and his men encountered and engaged a small enemy patrol on the beach ahead of them, killing one man before the rest took cover behind some coral boulders. While flanking fire pinned down the enemy, Gunner McKinstry started forward to clean out that pocket of resistance. McAlister stopped him, but as he was telling the Gunner to detail one of the men to do it instead, Corporal William C. Halstead climbed atop the rocks and slew the remainder of the enemy.




  Platt’s and McAlister’s assaults cleaned out the Japanese in the 3-inch gun position. Platt and McAlister reorganized their units and searched for any enemy troops who might have escaped. They encountered no further resistance and took two prisoners, who had been wounded and had feigned death. The Marines counted at least 94 dead Japanese. American losses included nine Marines and two civilians killed; four Marines and one civilian wounded.




  Meanwhile (shortly before dawn) on Wake, Japanese troops surrounded Kliewer’s position. The four Marines, however, armed with only two Thompsons, three .45-caliber pistols, and two boxes of hand grenades, repelled multiple bayonet charges in the darkness. Dawn revealed a full-scale enemy attempt to carry the post, but Kliewer and his three shipmates, backed up by the two .50-caliber machine guns 150 yards behind them, killed many of the attacking Japanese and continued to hold their ground.




  On Peale, with the departure of Captain Godbold and the Marines of Battery D for the island’s command post on Wake, First Lieutenant Kessler became strongpoint commander. At dawn, he scanned the other islets. On Wilkes, he discerned Japanese flags whipping in the breeze—one particularly large one flying where Battery F had been (flags which Platt’s men would remove shortly thereafter). Kessler reported his observations to Devereux, who had not heard a word from Platt since around 0300. The report prompted Devereux to fear that Wilkes had fallen.




  As he scanned Wake at about 0600, however, Kessler observed the masts of what proved to be Patrol Boat No. 32, which was aground on the south shore of Wake. Kessler requested permission to fire at the ship. His request was approved, but he was admonished to avoid firing into friendly troops. Kessler ordered his 5-inchers to open fire. The first salvo clipped off the mainmast. Then Battery B’s gunners lowered their sights to hit the ship itself. They could see only the funnel tops over the intervening island. Twenty-five minutes later, at 0625, the command post ordered Battery B to cease fire, their target having been “demolished.”




  Twenty minutes later, Kessler observed four “battleships, or super heavy cruisers” (probably the heavy cruisers Aoba, Kinugasa, Furutaka, and Kako) off Heel Point, moving westward but remaining well out of range. Those ships lay 10 kilometers offshore and shelled the atoll, but achieved little success.




  Additional Japanese forces were headed for Wake. At 0612, off to the northwest, Soryu turned into the wind and launched 12 planes. The day’s air operations had begun. In less than an hour, the planes were over the island.




  Throughout the battle, Major Devereux had, as well as he could, kept the island commander informed of the progress of the assault. While the Marines, assisted by the sailors and civilians, had been attempting to stem the tide, most of the news which trickled into Cunningham’s command post boded ill. At 0652, he sent out a message reflecting the situation as he knew it: “Enemy on island. Several ships plus transport moving in. Two DD aground.” That was at 1032, 22 December 1941, on Pearl Harbor. It was to be the last message from the Wake Island defenders.




  At Pearl Harbor, at about the time that Cunningham was sending that last message, Vice Admiral Pye had reached making a decision. He concluded that if Task Force 14 encountered anything but a weaker Japanese force, the battle would be fought on Japanese terms while within range of shore-based planes and with American forces having only enough fuel for two days of high speed steaming. Like Brown, Pye believed that a damaged ship was a lost ship, especially 2,000 miles from Pearl Harbor. The risk, he believed, was too great. He ordered the recall of Task Forces 14 and 11, and directed Task Force 8 to cover the retirement.




  Frank Jack Fletcher’s Task Force 14, meanwhile, was right on schedule, and was in fact further west than Pye knew. His ships fully fueled and ready for battle, Fletcher planned to detach the Tangier and two destroyers for the final run-in to Wake, while the pilots on board the Saratoga prepared themselves for the fight ahead. Fletcher, not one to shirk a fight, received the news of the recall angrily. He ripped his hat from his head and disgustedly hurled it to the deck. Rear Admiral Aubrey W. Fitch, Fletcher’s air commander, similarly felt the fist-tightening frustration of the recall. He retired from the Saratoga’s flag bridge as the talk there reached “mutinous” proportions.




  As word of the recall circulated throughout Task Force 14, reactions were pretty much the same. Pye’s recall order left no latitude for discussion or disobedience; those who argued later that Fletcher should have used the Nelsonian “blind eye” obviously failed to recognize that, in the sea off Copenhagen, the British admiral could see his opponents. Fletcher and Fitch, then 430 miles east of Wake, could not see theirs. They had no idea what enemy forces they might encounter. The Japanese had beaten them to Wake.
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      SITUATION ON WAKE ISLAND AT TIME OF SURRENDER


      0900, 23 DECEMBER 1941
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  Even as deliberations proceeded to determine the fate of the relief efforts, the men on Wake, ignorant of what was transpiring at Pearl Harbor and on the bridges of Task Force 14’s ships, fought on. Shortly before 0700 on Wake (1040, 22 December, at Pearl Harbor), the two trucks bearing Battery D’s former antiaircraft gunners, under Second Lieutenant Greeley and Captain Godbold, respectively, reached Devereux’s command post. Major Potter deployed the new arrivals in an attempt to form a thin defensive line running across the island. The attempt was doomed because of the terrain they were being forced to defend, an area which had been partially cleared of brush as part of the airfield construction. It presented the Marines with 450 yards of ground without cover or concealment. Marine Gunner Borth established a defensive line near the battalion command post with two .30-caliber guns crewed by command post Marines and a few Marines from Battery D.




  At about the time Greeley and Godbold reached Devereux’s command post with Battery D’s Marines, Second Lieutenant Kessler, at Battery B, shifted his attention to a column of three destroyers off Kuku Point. Four U.S. salvos appeared to inflict heavy damage on the lead ship, so he shifted his attention to the second ship in column. After about 15 minutes, dive bombers directed bombs and strafing toward the position, the battery’s firing having called attention to its existence. Fortunately, their accuracy was poor, and Kessler’s men escaped without casualty.




  By that time, the situation seemed to be grim. Enemy planes were attacking every visible target. Major Potter’s final defense line was receiving increasingly heavy enemy rifle and machine gun fire. Japanese troops near the airstrip continued probing and besetting VMF-211’s encircled remnant. Wilkes had apparently fallen to the enemy. Major Devereux saw little left to be done. Still having no communication with the stubborn defenders of Wilkes and of Camp 1, Devereux had no way of knowing which of his units were still fighting.




  About an hour after daylight (0630), Commander Keene picked up the telephone in the contractors’ headquarters and found Commander Cunningham and Major Devereux engaged in conversation on the line. The latter reported being hard-pressed at his command post. He did not believe, he said, that the battalion could hold out much longer. Cunningham told Devereux that if he did not feel he was able to continue fighting, he should surrender. A discussion between the two men then ensued. “You know, Wilkes has fallen,” Devereux stated. Cunningham answered that he did. Devereux then stated that he did not feel he should make the decision to surrender, that Cunningham, the commander of the island, should decide. Pausing for a moment, Cunningham then told Devereux that he authorized surrender, and to take the necessary steps to carry it out. Uncertain of his ability to contact the Japanese commander, Devereux asked Cunningham to attempt to make contact with the enemy, as well. Cunningham responded: “I’ll see what I can do.”




  Surrendering, however, would take time, and the “word” did not reach everyone right away. On Wilkes, having reorganized his men, Platt attempted at about 0800 to phone the battalion command post on Wake. He managed to reach someone at the Camp 1 motor pool, but got no farther, because the motor pool was not in communication with the command post.




  At about 0800, Devereux notified the units he could still reach of the surrender decision. On Peale, Kessler received orders to cease firing the 5-inch guns. At Battery E, Lewis’ men removed and smashed the firing locks. When stuffing blankets into the muzzles and firing a round did not do sufficient damage to the guns, the men rolled grenades down the barrels. Other Marines smashed equipment and chopped up electrical cables. Lewis himself destroyed the optics and electromechanical parts of the heightfinder and director by firing 20 rounds into them from his .45. Satisfied with that work of destruction, he marched his men as a unit to Devereux’s command post. At Peacock Point, First Lieutenant Barninger ordered that the 5-inch firing locks be broken and buried, the telescopes smashed, and the rangekeeper destroyed. Then, running up a white flag, he ordered all hands, including the civilians who had stood faithfully with the battery, to eat as much as they could. No one knew how much the enemy would allow their captives to eat.




  As surrender preparations proceeded apace on one side of Wake and in the positions that Devereux had been able to reach by telephone, Poindexter’s men, meanwhile, established themselves along a line at the edge of the clearing east of Camp 1. They emplaced 10 .30-caliber machine guns to cover their entire front with interlocking fields of fire. Occasional low-flying planes strafed their positions. Japanese gunfire from their front, though, proved ineffective. Poindexter sent back word to Camp 1 for all “special duty personnel” to join the reserve as riflemen.




  When, by 0900, the enemy at the front having shown no inclination to attack his position, Poindexter ordered a counterattack toward the airstrip. Dividing his men into three 10-man squads with a non-commissioned officer in charge of each, the commander of the mobile reserve decided to launch his attack along a front which extended from the beach into the brush on the north side of the road. Poindexter’s counterattack regained the terrain between Camp 1 and the road junction west of the airstrip.




  Meanwhile Devereux, accompanied by Sergeant Donald Malleck, who held aloft a white rag attached to a swab handle, set out down the north-south road along the eastern shore of Wake to contact the Japanese. As he passed Marines still in action he ordered them to cease firing.
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      Civilian contractors are marched off to captivity after the Japanese captured Wake. Some, deemed important by the Japanese to finish construction projects, were retained there. Fearing a fifth column rising, the Japanese executed 98 contractors in October 1943, an atrocity for which atoll commander, RAdm Shigematsu Sakaibara, was hanged after the war.


    


  




  A Special Naval Landing Force sailor soon emerged from the brush along the road and halted Devereux’s progress, covering the major and Sergeant Malleck as they took off their helmets and laid down their weapons. Unable to speak any English, the Japanese motioned them toward the hospital bunker, where Devereux found an enemy officer who spoke some English. The enemy had already captured the hospital, killing one patient and wounding another when they fired into the entrance. Soon thereafter, Commander Cunningham, who had changed into his blue uniform for the occasion, arrived to arrange the details of the surrender. Devereux and Malleck, accompanied by a Japanese officer, then began the sad journey toward those Marines who still stubbornly held out ahead of them.




  Meanwhile, the resistance put up by Hanna and the remnant of VMF-211 had prompted the Japanese to call for more close air support. One plane overflew the embattled 3-inch gun and carried out low-level attacks that allowed the observer to fire on the position with his flexible-mount 7.7mm gun. The strafing killed two civilians, Paul Gay and Eric Bryan, and wounded Major Putnam, Second Lieutenant Hanna, and Corporal Holewinski.




  Having finally reached the airfield at around 0930, Devereux found that the Japanese had taken cover behind the revetments and had pinned down Hanna’s men and what remained of VMF-211’s force. The major ordered Captain Tharin, the only officer who had not been seriously wounded, to cease fire. Of the 10 men in that position, all—including the gallant Aviation Machinist’s Mate First Class Hesson—had been wounded in the last-ditch fighting.




  Even as elements on Wake still held out, Vice Admiral Pye was informing the CNO that Wake could not be evacuated. Japanese forces had landed, supported by cruisers and destroyers and, probably, by a covering force nearby. The “gallant defense of Wake,” Pye stated, “has been of utmost value, but hereafter Wake is a liability.” In view of the “extensive operations” then underway, the situation had forced Pye to conclude that risking one carrier task force to attack enemy forces in the vicinity of Wake was “not justifiable.” Pye had ordered the two westernmost task forces (14 and 11) to retire toward Pearl Harbor. The third (Task Force 8) he sent on an unrelated mission.




   On Wake, Second Lieutenant Kliewer, seeing the Japanese flags all along the beach, decided to set off the mines, blowing up the airfield, and then to fall back in the confusion generated by the explosions. Unfortunately, the rain had drowned the generator motor, which disabled the electric detonator.




  At 1015 Kliewer saw men carrying a white flag coming down the beach. Major Devereux was among them, with a group of what appeared to be Japanese officers. They stopped about 50 feet from Kliewer’s trench and ordered him to surrender. Kliewer’s men counseled against giving up: “Don’t surrender, lieutenant. The Marines never surrender. It’s a hoax.”




  “It was a difficult thing to do,” Kliewer wrote later, “but we tore down our guns and turned ourselves over.”




  About one hour later, Devereux’s melancholy procession arrived at the lines facing the mobile reserve, which still fought stoutly. A rifleman shouted back to Poindexter that a “large group of Japs are coming down the road toward us with a white flag.” As they trudged closer, Poindexter could see no Americans in the group, and after ordering his men to hold their fire, he stepped out into the road, Springfield at the ready. Cautioning his men not to fire unless the enemy fired at him, he walked toward the group. Soon, he discerned Major Devereux amidst them, shouting to him, telling him that Wake had been surrendered.




  Dropping his rifle and grenades in the road, Poindexter joined Devereux, who then told him to return to his unit and order his men to drop their weapons and stand up. At that, Japanese troops, bayonets fixed, began to rush the positions they had been engaging, but were stopped by a Japanese officer who interposed himself between the two sides. As Poindexter and his men trudged toward the airstrip, he saw large numbers of enemy troops emerging from the brush and falling in along the road, confirming his suspicions that the enemy had established itself in force in the region.




  

  

    In a photo copied from a Japanese pictorial history, Special Naval Landing Force troops pay homage to the memory of Lt Kinichi Uchida, whose unit lost two other officers and 29 enlisted men killed and 34 wounded at Wake Island.


  




  

    Department of Defense Photo (USMC) 315175



  


[image: ]





   Devereux then progressed to Camp 1, which was still held by the machine gun sections of Poindexter’s group. There, a Japanese sailor climbed to the top of the water tower observation post and cut down the stars and stripes that had been flying throughout the battle. Elsewhere at Camp 1, in what could be regarded as one of the last measures of defiance to the now-victorious foe, Gunnery Sergeant John Cemeris, the Wake detachment’s machine gun maintenance sergeant, unaware of the surrender, fired briefly at a low-flying floatplane.




  Cemeris was not alone in his defiance. Marines on Wilkes, ignorant that their shipmates on Wake and Peale had laid down their arms, still sought to carry on the fight as best they could. Platt, sighting ships to the southwest of Wilkes, ordered Battery L to engage them. McAlister and his men hurried back to the 5-inchers, only to find the ships out of range. Enduring bombing and strafing attacks from Japanese planes, around noon the Marines at Battery L spotted small boats standing toward the channel between Wilkes and Wake, and observed several transports and warships lying about 4,000 yards out. Manning the 5-inchers, the Marines discovered one would not move and that one of the dive-bombing attacks had damaged the recoil cylinders of the other. Platt then ordered McAlister’s Marines to take up a position along the old channel and fire on the small boats. An exploding bomb killed 20-year-old Private First Class Robert L. Stevens while the men were en route to their new positions. He was the last combat casualty suffered by the Marines on Wake Island.
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